

Province of Alberta

SECURITIES ACT

Revised Statutes of Alberta 2000 Chapter S-4

Current as of April 29, 2011

Office Consolidation

© Published by Alberta Queen's Printer

Alberta Queen's Printer 5th Floor, Park Plaza 10611 - 98 Avenue Edmonton, AB T5K 2P7 Phone: 780-427-4952 Fax: 780-452-0668

E-mail: qp@gov.ab.ca Shop on-line at www.qp.alberta.ca

Copyright and Permission Statement

Alberta Queen's Printer holds copyright on behalf of the Government of Alberta in right of Her Majesty the Queen for all Government of Alberta legislation. Alberta Queen's Printer permits any person to reproduce Alberta's statutes and regulations without seeking permission and without charge, provided due diligence is exercised to ensure the accuracy of the materials produced, and Crown copyright is acknowledged in the following format:

© Alberta Queen's Printer, 20 .*

*The year of first publication of the legal materials is to be completed.

Note

All persons making use of this consolidation are reminded that it has no legislative sanction, that amendments have been embodied for convenience of reference only. The official Statutes and Regulations should be consulted for all purposes of interpreting and applying the law.

Amendments Not in Force

This consolidation incorporates only those amendments in force on the consolidation date shown on the cover. It does not include the following amendments:

Amended by 2006 c30 s27 (2011 c7 s15 - effective April 29, 2011) repeals s129, s28 (2011 c7 s15 - effective April 29, 2011) repeals and substitutes s130, s37 repeals s181, s40 repeals s183, s49(a) (2011 c7 s15 - effective April 29, 2011) amends s206.

2009 cA-31.5 s70 repeals and substitutes s14.

2010 c10 s2(a) (2011 c7 s18 - effective April 29, 2011) and (c) amends s1, s3 (2011 c7 s18 - effective April 29, 2011) amends s10(1), s7 amends s40(1), s10(b) amends s58(1), s12 repeals and substitutes s60.1(1), s13 repeals and substitutes s60.2, s15 amends the heading to Part 4, s16 (2011 c7 s18 - effective April 29, 2011) adds s67.1 and 67.2, s18(a) amends s198, s21(b) (2011 c7 s18 - effective April 29, 2011) amends s223.

2011 c7 s2(a) amends s1, s6 repeals and substitutes s67, s11 amends s211.01(d), s13 amends s223.

Regulations

The following is a list of the regulations made under the *Securities Act* that are filed as Alberta Regulations under the Regulations Act

Alta. Reg. Amendments

Securities Act

 10/97, 204/2003,
236/2005, 204/2006,
66/2008, 240/2009
115/95

SECURITIES ACT

Chapter S-4

Table of Contents

- 1 Definitions
- 2 Affiliation
- 3 Control
- 4 Subsidiary
- 5 Beneficial ownership
- 6 Deemed beneficial ownership
- 7 Deemed insiders of a mutual fund
- 9 Special relationships
- **10** Designation orders

Part 1 Alberta Securities Commission

- **11** The Alberta Securities Commission
- 12 Bylaws
- 13 Chair and Vice-chair
- 14 Remuneration
- **14.1** Continuation in office
- 15 Acting members of Commission
- 16 Staff
- 17 Duties of the Executive Director
- 18 Duties of the Secretary
- 19 Financial matters re Commission
- 20 Annual report
- 21 Agent of the Crown
- 22 Delegation of power
- 23 Sitting in panels
- 24 Extra-provincial power of Commission
- 25 Extra-provincial commissions
- 26 Evidence taken outside Alberta
- 27 Evidence taken in Alberta by other securities regulatory agencies

SECURITIES ACT

RSA 2000 Chapter S-4

- 28 Engaging experts
- 29 Conduct of hearings
- 30 Referral by Executive Director
- 31 Jurisdiction
- 32 Decision made without a hearing
- 33 Interim orders
- **33.1** Failure to comply with filing requirements
- 34 Orders subject to terms or conditions
- 35 Appeal from decision
- 36 Appeals to the Commission
- 37 Notice of review
- **38** Appeal to Court of Appeal
- 39 Policy Advisory Committee

Part 2 Investigations

- 40 Production of records, etc. to the Executive Director
- 41 Investigation order
- 42 Powers of investigators
- 43 Appointment of experts
- 44 Report to Executive Director
- 45 Investigation to be confidential
- 46 Information
- **46.1** Prevalence over FOIP
- 47 Order to freeze property
- 48 Appointment of receivers, managers, trustees or liquidators
- 49 Income and liabilities of person or company
- 50 Powers of a receiver and manager
- 51 Court order
- 52 Term of office
- 53 Fees
- **54** Directions from the Court
- 55 Appointment of successor
- 56 Funds expended by Executive Director
- 57 Solicitor-client privilege

Part 3

Record Keeping and Compliance Review

- 58 Review and examination
- 59 Recognized exchanges and self-regulatory organizations
- **60** Requirements to provide information
- 60.1 Record-keeping
- 60.2 Continuous disclosure reviews

60.3 Confidential documents

Part 4 Exchanges, Self-regulatory Organizations and Clearing Agencies

- 61 Members of exchanges, etc.
- 62 Recognition of exchange
- 63 Operation of recognized exchange
- 64 Recognized self-regulatory organization
- 65 Councils, committees, etc.
- 66 Assignment of duties of the Commission or Executive Director
- 67 Recognized clearing agency
- 68 Recognized quotation and trade reporting systems
- 68.1 Personal information
- 69 Powers re hearings, etc.
- 70 Appointment of receivers, managers, trustees or liquidators
- 71 Acting as an exchange when not so recognized
- 72 Voluntary surrender of recognition
- 73 Review

Part 5 Registration

- **75** Requirement to be registered
- 75.1 Responsible person
- 75.2 Duty of care
- 76 Registration by Executive Director
- 76.1 Suspension of termination of registration
 - 78 Surrender of registration
 - 82 Further information

Part 7 Trading in Securities and Exchange Contracts Generally

- **90** Requirements for confirmation of trade
- **91** Attendance on or calls to residences
- 92 Prohibitions respecting representations
- 93 Prohibited transaction
- **93.1** Duty to comply with Commission decisions
- **93.2** Duty to comply with undertaking
- 93.3 Front running
- 93.4 Obstruction of justice
- 94 Dealer as principal
- 97 Disclosure by registered dealer

- 98 Provision of risk disclosure statement
- 99 Use of name
- **100** Representation or holding out of registration
- 101 Representations
- 102 Margin contracts
- 103 Declaration of short position
- 104 Rights of beneficial owners

Part 8 Trading in Exchange Contracts

- **106** Trading on recognized exchange, etc.
- **107** Form of exchange contract
- **108** Trading on recognized exchange
- **109** Recognition of exchange

Part 9 Distribution by Prospectuses

- 110 Filing prospectus
- **111** Preliminary prospectus
- 112 Receipt for preliminary prospectus
- **113** Prospectus and supplemental material
- 119 Other forms of prospectus
- 120 Receipt for prospectus
- 122 Distribution of previously issued securities

Part 10 Distribution Generally

- **123** Distribution of material
- **126** Defective preliminary prospectus
- 127 Material given on distribution
- 128 Order to cease trading
- 129 Obligation to deliver prospectus
- 130 Revocation of purchase

Part 11 Exemptions from Prospectus Requirements

- 141 Reporting issuer default
- **144** Discretionary exemptions
- 145 Reporting issuer by declaration

Part 12 Continuous Disclosure

146 Disclosure generally

- 147 Disclosure of material fact or change
- 153 Deemed not to be a reporting issuer

Part 13

Proxies and Proxy Solicitations

- 157 Voting proxies
- 157.1 Proxies and information circular

Part 14 Take-over Bids and Issuer Bids

- 158 Interpretation
- 159 Making a bid
- **160** Directors' or director's or officer's recommendation
- **179** Applications to the Commission
- **180** Applications to the Court

Part 15 Insider Trading and Self-dealing

- 181 Interpretation
- **182** Reports of insider
- 182.1 Early warning
- 183 Report of a legal owner
- 184 Interpretation
- 185 Loans and investments of mutual funds
- 186 Indirect investment
- 188 Permitted investment mutual fund
- 189 Fees on investment
- **191** Filing by management companies
- **193** Trades by mutual fund insiders
- **193.1** Authorized exceptions to prohibitions
- **193.2** Oversight, etc., of investment funds

Part 16 Enforcement

- 194 General offences and penalties
- 195 Interpretation
- 196 Extra-provincial warrant
- 197 Declaration of non-compliance
- **198** Cease trading order, etc.
- **199** Administrative penalty
- **200** Filing decision with Court
- 201 Limitation period
- 202 Payments of costs

SECURITIES ACT

Part 17 Civil Liability

- 203 Civil liability prospectus
- 204 Civil liability offering memorandum
- 205 Civil liability circular
- **205.1** Defence to liability for misrepresentation
- 206 Liability of dealer, offeror or issuer
- 207 Liability material fact or change
- 208 Action by the Executive Director
- 209 Rescission of contract
- **209.1** Rescission re offering memorandum
- 210 Rescission by purchaser mutual fund
- 211 Limitation period

Part 17.01 Civil Liability for Secondary Market Disclosure

- 211.01 Definitions
- 211.02 Application
- 211.03 Liability for secondary market disclosure

Burden of Proof and Defences

211.04 Non-core documents and public oral statements

Damages

- 211.05 Assessment of damages
- 211.06 Proportionate liability
- 211.07 Limits on damages

Procedural Matters

- 211.08 Leave to proceed
- 211.09 Notice
- 211.091 Restriction on discontinuation, etc. of action
- 211.092 Costs
- 211.093 Power of the Commission
- 211.094 No derogation from other rights
- 211.095 Limitation period

Part 17.1 Interjurisdictional Co-operation

- 211.1 Definitions
- 211.2 Delegation and acceptance of authority

Section 1		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
211.3	Subdelegation		

- **211.4** Adoption or incorporation of extra-provincial securities laws
- 211.41 Exemptions
- 211.5 Exercise of discretion, interprovincial reliance
- 211.6 Regulations
- 211.7 Immunity re Alberta authority
- 211.8 Immunity re extra-provincial authority
- 211.9 Appeal re extra-provincial decision
- 211.91 Appeal re decision of the Commission

Part 18 General Provisions

- 213 General exemption
- 214 Revoke or vary decisions
- 215 Self-incrimination
- 216 Requirement to disclose personal information
- 217 Sending of documents
- 218 Admissibility of certified statements
- 219 Applications to a court
- 220 Service on Commission
- 221 Filing and confidentiality
- **221.1** Misleading information
- 222 Immunities
- 223 Lieutenant Governor in Council regulations
- 224 Commission rules
- 224.1 Changes to unpublished rules
 - 225 Publication of rules
- 226 Evidence re rule
- 227 Application of regulations and rules
- **228** Incorporation by reference
- 229 Exemption from a regulation or rule
- 231 Transitional provision

HER MAJESTY, by and with the advice and consent of the Legislative Assembly of Alberta, enacts as follows:

Definitions

- **1** In this Act,
 - (a) "adviser" means a person or company engaging in or holding itself out as engaging in the business of advising in securities or exchange contracts;

Section 1	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
(a.1)	"advising in securities or exchange co giving, offering or agreeing to give ad person or company about investing in securities or exchange contracts;	vice to another
(b)	"Alberta securities laws" means this A and any decisions made by the Comm Executive Director and any extra-prov laws adopted or incorporated by refere 211.4;	ission or the vincial securities
(c)	"associate", when used to indicate a reperson or company, means	elationship with a
	 (i) an issuer of which the person or or beneficially owns or controls, dir voting securities entitling the person more than 10% of the voting right outstanding securities of the issues 	ectly or indirectly, son or company to its attached to
	(ii) any partner of the person or comp	pany,
	 (iii) any trust or estate in which the perhaps a substantial beneficial intere which a person or company server similar capacity, 	est or in respect of
	(iv) in the case of a person, a relative including	of that person,
	(A) the spouse or adult interdeperturbed that person, or	endent partner of
	(B) a relative of the person's spo interdependent partner	ouse or adult
	if the relative has the same home	as that person;
(d)	repealed 2006 c30 s2;	
(e)	"Chair" means the Chair of the Comm	nission;
(f)	"clearing agency" means a person or c	company that,
	 (i) with respect to trades in securities intermediary in paying funds or d or both, 	
	(ii) provides centralized facilities thro in securities or exchange contract	

Section 1		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(iii)	provides centralized facilities as a deposecurities,	ository of
		does not include an exchange, a quotation or a registered dealer;	on and trade
(g)	"Co	mmission" means the Alberta Securities	Commission;
(h)	"co	mmodity" means	
	(i)	any good, article, service, right or inter any unit is, from its nature or by merca treated as the equivalent of any other u	ntile custom,
	(ii)	the currency of any jurisdiction;	
	(iii)	any gem, gemstone or other precious st	tone;
	(iv)	any other good, article, service, right or class of any of these, designated as a co pursuant to an order made under sectio	ommodity
(i)	asso	mpany" means any corporation, incorporation, incorporated syndicate or other anization;	
(j)		ntract" includes a trust agreement, declar ther similar instrument;	ration of trust
(k)	arra	ntractual plan" means any contract or oth ngement for the purchase of shares or us ual fund	
	(i)	by payments over a specified period, or	r
	(ii)	by a specified number of payments,	
	sale bee ded	the amount deducted from any one of the s charges is larger than the amount that in deducted from the payment for sales cluction been made from each payment at the duration of the plan;	would have harges had the
(1)	"co	ntrol person" means	
	(i)	a person or company who holds a suffi of the voting rights attached to all outst securities of an issuer to affect materia of the issuer, and if a person or compan than 20% of the voting rights attached outstanding voting securities of an issu or company is deemed, in the absence of	tanding voting lly the control ny holds more to all er, the person

Section 1	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	the contrary, to hold a sufficient voting rights to affect materially issuer, or	
	(ii) each person or company in a com or companies acting in concert b agreement, arrangement, commi- understanding, who holds in tota of the voting rights attached to a securities of an issuer to affect m of the issuer, and if a combinatio companies holds more than 20% attached to all outstanding voting issuer, the combination of person deemed, in the absence of evider to hold a sufficient number of the affect materially the control of the sufficient of the sufficient of t	y virtue of an tment or l a sufficient number ll outstanding voting naterially the control on of persons or of the voting rights g securities of an ns or companies is nee to the contrary, e voting rights to
(m)	"dealer" means a person or company holding itself out as engaging in the b	
	(i) trading in securities or exchange principal or agent, or	contracts as
	(ii) acting as an underwriter;	
(m.1)	repealed 2010 c10 s2;	
(n)	"decision", when used in relation to the Executive Director, means a direct ruling or other requirement made by the Executive Director, as the case may or right conferred by this Act or the redelegation or other transfer of an extra authority under section 211.2;	tion, decision, order, he Commission or ay be, under a power egulations or under a
(0)	"director" means a director of a comp performing a similar function or occu position for a company or for any oth	pying a similar
(p)	"distribution", when used in relation t securities, means	to trading in
	(i) a trade in securities of an issuer to previously issued,	hat have not been
	(ii) a trade by or on behalf of an issu issued securities of that issuer the redeemed or purchased by or do	at have been

Section 1		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(iii)	a trade in previously issued securi from the holdings of a control per	
	(iv)	a trade by or on behalf of an unde that were acquired by that underw underwriter, prior to February 1, securities continue on February 1, by or for that underwriter, so actin	rriter, acting as 1982 if those , 1982 to be owned
	(v)	a distribution referred to under the	e regulations,
	(vi)	a trade or an intended trade deemed distribution under section 144(2),	
	(vii)	a transaction or series of transaction purchase and sale or a repurchase course of or incidental to a distrib subclauses (i) to (v);	and resale in the
		stribution company" means a person tributing securities under a distribut	
	fun per	stribution contract" means a contract d or its trustees or other legal repression or company under which the period nted the right to	sentative and a
	(i)	purchase the shares or units of the distribution, or	e mutual fund for
	(ii)	distribute the shares or units of the behalf of the mutual fund;	e mutual fund on
	(s) "ex wh	change contract" means a futures co	ontract or an option
	(i)	its performance is guaranteed by a and	a clearing agency,
	(ii)	it is traded on an exchange pursua terms and conditions set out in the regulations of that exchange at a p when the futures contract or optio the exchange,	e bylaws, rules or price agreed on
	and	l includes any instrument or class of	f instruments that
	(iii)	meets the requirements referred to and (ii), and) in subclauses (i)
	(iv)	is designated as an exchange cont the Commission;	ract by an order of
		11	

Section 1			SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4	
	(t)	"Executive Director" means the Executive Director of the Commission;			
	(u)	"extra-provincial commission" means a board, commission or other agency established by another jurisdiction that performs a similar function in that jurisdiction that the Alberta Securities Commission performs in Alberta;			
	(v)		"financial institution" means a bank, loan corporation, trust corporation, treasury branch or credit union;		
	(w)	completi	"form of proxy" means a written or printed form that, on completion and execution by or on behalf of a security holder, becomes a proxy;		
(1	w.1)	regarding performa economi future-or prospect	l-looking information" means dis g possible events, conditions or fin ince that is based on assumptions c conditions and courses of action riented financial information with ive financial performance, financ vs that is presented either as a for n;	inancial about future n, and includes respect to ial position or	
	(x)		contract" means any obligation to	make or take	
		(i) a co	ommodity,		
		(ii) a se	curity, or		
			n if the amount of cash is derived rence to, a variable, including	from, or by	
		(A)	a price or quote for a commodit	y or security,	
		(B)	an interest rate,		
		(C)	a currency exchange rate, or		
		(D)	an index or benchmark,		
		that is de	not include an obligation or a cla esignated not to be a futures contr made under section 10;		
	(y)	Commistee be, and i	" means a hearing of a matter bef sion or the Executive Director, as ncludes a review of a matter by th secutive Director, as the case may	the case may he Commission	

Section 1		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
(z)	"indi	vidual" means a natural person, bu	t does not include
		a partnership, unincorporated asso- unincorporated syndicate, unincorporganization or a trust, or	
		a natural person in the person's cap executor, administrator or other leg	
(aa)	"insi	ler" means	
	(i)	a director or officer of an issuer,	
		a director or officer of a person or tself an insider or subsidiary of an	
	(iii)	a person or company that has	
	(A) beneficial ownership of, or co over, directly or indirectly, or	
	(B) a combination of beneficial or control or direction over, direction	
		securities of an issuer carrying mot voting rights attached to all the issuer voting securities, excluding, for the calculation of the percentage held, by the person or company as under course of a distribution,	uer's outstanding e purpose of the any securities held
		an issuer that has purchased, redee acquired a security of its own issue continues to hold that security,	
		a person designated as an insider in under section 10, or	n an order made
	(vi)	a person that is in a prescribed clas	s of persons;
(bb)	ʻʻinsu Insur	rance company" means an insurer <i>ance Act</i> that is licensed under tha	as defined in the t Act;
(bb.1)		stment fund" means a mutual fund edeemable investment fund;	l or a
(bb.2)	who	stment fund manager" means a per has the power to direct and exercis nsibility of directing the affairs of	es the
(cc)	"issu	er" means a person or company that	at

Section 1		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(i) has	outstanding securities,	
	(ii) is is	ssuing securities, or	
	(iii) pro	poses to issue securities;	
(dd)		ement company" means a pers investment advice under a m	
(ee)	valuable investme	ement contract" means a contract consideration, a mutual fund ent advice, alone or together w gement services;	is provided with
(ff)	"materia	l change" means,	
		sed in relation to an issuer oth estment fund,	ner than an
	(A)	a change in the business, op the issuer that would reason have a significant effect on value of a security of the iss	ably be expected to the market price or
	(B)	a decision to implement a cl paragraph (A) made by the issuer, or by senior manager who believe that confirmation the directors is probable,	directors of the ment of the issuer
	and		
	(ii) if u fun	sed in relation to an issuer tha	at is an investment
	(A)	a change in the business, op the issuer that would be con a reasonable investor in dete purchase or to continue to h issuer, or	sidered important by ermining whether to
	(B)	a decision to implement a cl paragraph (A) made	hange referred to in
		(I) by the directors of the idirectors of the investm of the issuer,	

 (II) by senior management of the issuer who believe that confirmation of the decision by the directors is probable, or

SECURITIES ACT			Chapter S-4	
		(III)	by senior management of the fund manager of the issuer w that confirmation of the deci directors of the investment f of the issuer is probable;	who believe ision by the
(gg)	or p reas	roposed to onably be	", when used in relation to see be issued, means a fact that expected to have a significant or value of the securities;	would
(hh)	16 0	of the Gov	eans the Minister determined ernment Organization Act as or this Act;	
(ii)	"mi	srepresent	ation" means	
	(i)	an untrue	e statement of a material fact,	or
	(ii)	an omiss be stated	ion to state a material fact tha , or	t is required to
	(iii)	an omiss to be stat misleadin	ion to state a material fact tha red in order for a statement no ng;	t is necessary t to be
(jj)	"mu	ıtual fund'	' means	
	(i)	provided entitle th specified by refere in the wh	whose primary purpose is to by its security holders and w e holder to receive on demand period after demand, an amo nce to the value of a proporti- nole or in part of the net assets fund or trust account, of the in	hose securities d, or within a punt computed onate interest s, including a
	(ii)		that is designated as a mutua 0 or in accordance with the re	
			nclude an issuer, or class of is der section 10 not to be a mut	
(jj.1)	"no	n-redeema	ble investment fund" means	
	(i)	an issuer		

Section 1

- (A) whose primary purpose is to invest money provided by its security holders,
- (B) that does not invest

Section 1	SE	CURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(I)	for the purpose of exe exercise control of an issuer that is a mutua non-redeemable invest	issuer, other than an l fund or a
	(II)	invests, other than an	ing actively involved f any issuer in which it issuer that is a mutual hable investment fund,
	and		
	(C) that	is not a mutual fund,	
	or		
	investme	that is designated as a ent fund under section regulations,	
		nclude an issuer, or cla der section 10 not to b nd;	
(kk)	"offering mer	norandum" means	
		ng memorandum that i l under Alberta securit	
		ent designated as an of to an order made unde	
(11)	"officer", with	h respect to an issuer o	r registrant, means
	executiv financial assistant	r vice-chair of the boar e officer, chief operatin officer, president, vice secretary, treasurer, as nanager,	ng officer, chief e-president, secretary,
		dual who is designated similar authority of th	
	company	dual who performs fur similar to those norm al referred to in subclau	ally performed by an
(mm)	association, u	nincorporated syndicat trust, trustee, executor	

Section 1	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
(nn)	repealed 2008 c26 s2;	
(00)	-	held or proposed to
(pp)	repealed 2003 c32 s2;	
(qq)	repealed 2006 c30 s2;	
(rr)	"promoter" means	
	 (i) a person or company, acting along with one or more other persons or combination of them, that, directly takes the initiative in founding, or substantially reorganizing the bus or 	y or indirectly, ganizing or
	 (ii) a person or company that, directly receives in consideration of servic both, 	
	(A) 10% or more of any class of issuer, or	securities of the
	(B) 10% or more of the proceeds any class of securities of a pa	
	in connection with the founding, or substantial reorganizing of the bu but does not include a person or c receives securities or proceeds so	siness of the issuer, ompany that
	(C) as underwriting commissions	s, or
	(D) in consideration of property issuer,	transferred to the
	if that person or company does no part in founding, organizing or su reorganizing the business;	
(ss)	repealed 2008 c26 s2;	
(tt)	"proxy" means a completed and execu by which a security holder has appoint company as the security holder's nomi act on the security holder's behalf at a holders;	ed a person or nee to attend and
(1111)	"auotation and trade reporting system"	manne a parson or

(uu) "quotation and trade reporting system" means a person or company that operates facilities that permit the

Section 1	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	dissemination of price quotations for the sale of securities and reports of comple- securities for the exclusive use of regise does not include an exchange or a regised	he purchase and eted transactions in stered dealers, but
(vv)	"recognized clearing agency" means a recognized by the Commission under s	
(ww)	"recognized exchange" means an exch the Commission under section 62;	ange recognized by
(xx)	"recognized quotation and trade report a quotation and trade reporting system Commission under section 68(1);	
(yy)	"recognized self-regulatory organization self-regulatory organization recognize Commission under section 64;	
(zz)	"records" include	
	 (i) an account, book, return, statement document or other memorandum non-financial information whethe electronic form or represented or other means, and 	of financial or er in writing or in
	 (ii) the results of the recording of deta data processing systems and prog what the systems and programs do operate; 	rams to illustrate
(aaa)	"registrant" means a person or compar required to be registered under this Ac	
(bbb)	"regulations" means the regulations m and, unless the context otherwise indic rules;	
(ccc)	"reporting issuer" means an issuer	
	 (i) that has issued voting securities of 1, 1967 in respect of which a prosonand a receipt for it obtained under this Act or in respect of which a stake-over bid circular was filed up of this Act, 	spectus was filed r a predecessor of securities exchange
	(ii) that has	

(A) filed a prospectus for which the Executive Director has issued a receipt under this Act, or

Section 1				SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
			(B)	filed a securities exchange t under this Act on or before	
		(iii)	Feb exc Co	of whose securities have bee bruary 1, 1982 listed and poste change recognized under secti mmission regardless of when sting for trading commenced,	ed for trading on an on 62 by the
		(iv)	or v issu reo one reo was am	t has exchanged its securities with the holders of the securit aer in connection with an ama rganization, arrangement or s of the parties to the amalgan rganization, arrangement or s s a reporting issuer at the time algamation, merger, reorganiz similar transaction;	ies of that other Ilgamation, merger, imilar transaction if nation, merger, imilar transaction e of the
		(v)		t the Commission has declare uer under section 145;	d to be a reporting
		(vi)		t is designated as a reporting i er made under section 10;	ssuer pursuant to an
	(ddd)			means the rules made by the C 224 or under section 211.6(2)	
	(eee)	repe	aled	l 2007 c10 s2;	
	(fff)	incl	udes	ary" means the Secretary of the any person appointed by the ace of the Secretary;	
	(ggg)	"sec	urit	y" includes	
		(i)		document, instrument or wri own as a security;	ting commonly
		(ii)	inte	v document constituting evide erest in the capital, assets, pro- nings or royalties of any perso	perty, profits,
		(iii)		v document constituting evide association of legatees or heir	
		(iv)		document constituting evide oscription or other interest in c	
		(v)	ind	v bond, debenture, note or othe ebtedness, share, stock, unit, v ticipation certificate, certifica	unit certificate,
19					

Section 1		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
		interest, preorganization certificat other than	e or subscription
		(A) a contract of insurance issued company, or	d by an insurance
		(B) an evidence of deposit issued institution;	l by a financial
	(vi)	any agreement under which the in purchaser is valued for purposes of surrender by reference to the valu interest in a specified portfolio of contract issued by an insurance co provides for payment at maturity less than 3/4 of the premiums paid for a benefit payable at maturity;	of conversion or e of a proportionate assets other than a ompany that of an amount of not
	(vii)	any agreement under which mone repaid or treated as a subscription units or interests at the option of t any person or company;	to shares, stock,
	(viii)	any certificate of share or interest association;	in a trust, estate or
	(ix)	any profit-sharing agreement or co	ertificate;
	(x)	any certificate of interest in an oil mining lease, claim or royalty vot	
	(xi)	any oil or natural gas royalties or or other interest in them;	leases or fractional
	(xii)	any collateral trust certificate;	
	(xiii)	any income or annuity contract no insurance company;	ot issued by an
	(xiv)	any investment contract;	
	(xv)	any document constituting eviden a scholarship or educational plan	
	(xvi)	any item or thing that is a futures option,	contract or an
		ether or not any of them relate to an ier, but does not include an exchang	
		If-regulatory organization" means a t is organized for the purpose of reg	

		ations and the standards of practice and business luct of its members;
(iii)	repe	aled 2006 c30 s2;
(jjj)	"trac	de" includes
	(i)	any sale or disposition of a security for valuable consideration, whether the terms of payment are on margin, instalment or otherwise, but does not include
		(A) a purchase of a security, or
		 (B) except as provided in subclause (v), a transfer, pledge or encumbrance of securities for the purpose of giving collateral for a bona fide debt;
	(ii)	any entering into a futures contract or an option that is an exchange contract;
	(iii)	any participation as a trader in any transaction in a security or an exchange contract through the facilities of an exchange or a quotation and trade reporting system;
	(iv)	any receipt by a registrant of an order to buy or sell a security or an exchange contract;
	(v)	any transfer, pledge or encumbrancing of securities of an issuer from the holdings of a control person for the purpose of giving collateral for a bona fide debt;
	(vi)	any act, advertisement, solicitation, conduct or negotiation made directly or indirectly in furtherance of anything referred to in subclauses (i) to (v);
(kkk)	"unc	lerwriter" means a person or company that,
	(i)	as principal, agrees to purchase securities with a view to distribution, or
	(ii)	as agent, offers for sale or sells securities in connection with a distribution,
		includes a person or company that has a direct or rect participation in the distribution, but does not ude,
	(iii)	a person or company whose interest in the transaction is limited to receiving the usual and customary distributor's or seller's commission payable by an underwriter or issuer,

SECURITIES ACT

Section 1

RSA 2000

Chapter S-4

Section 2		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(iv)	a mutual fund that, under the laws of t to which it is subject, accepts its share surrender and resells them,	
	(v)	a company that, under the laws of the which it is subject, purchases its share them, or	
	(vi)	a bank listed in Schedule I, II or III of (Canada) with respect to the securities the regulations and to those banking tr designated by the regulations;	described in
(11)	secu circ	ting security" means any security other urity of an issuer carrying a voting right umstances or under some circumstances urred and are continuing. RSA 2000 cS-4 s1;RSA 2000 cI-3 s86 2003 c32 s2;2004 cI-1.5 s5;2005 c 2007 c10 s2;2008 c26 s2;2010	under all s that have 9;2002 cA-4.5 s73; c18 s2;2006 c30 s2;

Affiliation

2 An issuer is affiliated with another issuer if one of them is the subsidiary of the other or if each of them is controlled by the same person or company.

1981 cS-6.1 s2

RSA 2000

Control

3 A person or company is considered to control another person or company if the person or company, directly or indirectly, has the power to direct the management and policies of the other person or company by virtue of

- (a) the ownership or direction of voting securities of the other person or company,
- (b) a written agreement or trust instrument,
- (c) being the general partner or controlling the general partner of the other person or company, or
- (d) being the trustee of the other person or company. RSA 2000 cS-4 s3;2004 cI-1.5 s5

Subsidiary

4 A subsidiary is an issuer that is controlled by another issuer. 1981 cS-6.1 s4

Beneficial ownership

5 A person is deemed to beneficially own securities that are beneficially owned

- (a) by an issuer controlled by that person or by an affiliate of that issuer,
- (b) by an affiliate of that person, or
- (c) through a trustee, legal representative, agent or other intermediary of that person.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s5;2005 c18 s3

Deemed beneficial ownership

6 An issuer is deemed to beneficially own securities that are beneficially owned by its affiliates.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s6;2005 c18 s4

Deemed insiders of a mutual fund

- 7 The following are deemed to be an insider of a mutual fund:
 - (a) every management company of a mutual fund that is a reporting issuer;
 - (b) every distribution company of a mutual fund that is a reporting issuer;
 - (c) every insider of a management company or distribution company referred to in clauses (a) and (b).

1981 cS-6.1 s7

- **7.1** Repealed 2006 c30 s3.
- **8** Repealed 2006 c30 s4.

Special relationships

9 A person or company is in a special relationship with a reporting issuer if

- (a) the person or company is an insider, affiliate or associate of
 - (i) the reporting issuer,

Section 10		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(ii)	a person or company that is pr take-over bid, as defined in Pa of the reporting issuer, or	
	(iii)	a person or company that is pr	roposing
		 (A) to become a party to a realized amalgamation, merger or similar business combinations issuer, or 	arrangement or a
		(B) to acquire a substantial poor of the reporting issuer;	ortion of the property
(pro	person or company has engaged poses to engage in any business ivity with or on behalf of	
	(i)	the reporting issuer, or	
	(ii)	a person or company described (iii);	d in clause (a)(ii) or
((c) the	person is a director, officer or e	employee of
	(i)	the reporting issuer, or	
	(ii)	a person or company describer (iii) or (b);	d in clause (a)(ii) or
(ma the	person or company learned of a terial change with respect to the person or company was a perso scribed in clause (a), (b) or (c);	reporting issuer while
((e) the	person or company	
	(i)	learns of a material fact or ma respect to the reporting issuer or company described in this s person or company described	from any other person section, including a
	(ii)	knows or ought reasonably to person or company is a persor special relationship with the re	n or company in a
Design	ation o	rdare	
10(1 woul) The	Commission may, if the Commis e prejudicial to the public interes	

Section 11	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
(a)	a good, article, service, right or interest, or those, as a commodity,	a class of
(a.1)	a document or class of documents to be, or offering memorandum,	not to be, an
(b)	a futures contract, or a class of futures contract, a futures contract,	tracts, not to be
(c)	a person or company as an insider,	
(d)	an issuer or a class of issuers to be, or not t fund,	to be, a mutual
(e)	an issuer or a class of issuers to be, or not t non-redeemable investment fund, and	to be, a
(f)	an issuer or a class of issuers to be, or not t reporting issuer.	to be, a
Commis	order made under subsection (1) may be ma ssion on its own motion or on the application ed person or company. RSA 2000 cS-4 s10;2004 cI-1.5 s5;200	n of an
	Dout 4	

Part 1 Alberta Securities Commission

The Alberta Securities Commission

11(1) The Alberta Securities Commission is continued and is responsible for the administration of Alberta securities laws.

(2) The Commission is a corporation consisting of the members of the Commission appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

(3) The Commission has, for the purposes of carrying out its functions and duties under this or any other enactment, the capacity and the rights, powers and privileges of a natural person. RSA 2000 cS-4 s11;2008 c26 s19

Bylaws

12(1) The Commission may make bylaws governing the administration and management of the business and affairs of the Commission.

(2) The *Regulations Act* does not apply to a bylaw made under this section.

1995 c28 s4

Chair and Vice-chair

13(1) The Lieutenant Governor in Council

- (a) shall designate one of the members of the Commission as the Chair of the Commission,
- (b) may designate one or more members of the Commission as a Vice-chair of the Commission, and
- (c) may designate one of the members of the Commission as the lead independent member, with the powers, duties and functions prescribed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

(1.1) The lead independent member may not be the Chair or a Vice-chair of the Commission.

(2) The Chair is the chief executive officer of the Commission.

(3) If the office of the Chair is vacant or if the Chair is absent or unable to act for any reason, a Vice-chair shall serve as Chair. RSA 2000 cS-4 s13;2003 c32 s3;2005 c18 s6

Remuneration

14 The remuneration payable to the Chair, Vice-chair and members of the Commission shall be set by the Commission, subject to the approval of the Minister.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s14;2005 c18 s7

Continuation in office

14.1(1) If a member of the Commission resigns or a member's appointment expires, the Chair may authorize that individual to continue to exercise powers as a member of the Commission in any proceeding over which that member had jurisdiction immediately before the end of that member's term.

(2) An authorization under subsection (1) continues until a final decision in that proceeding is made.

(3) Section 14 applies to a person who performs duties under subsection (1).

2005 c18 s8

Acting members of Commission

15(1) The Lieutenant Governor in Council may from time to time nominate one or more persons from among whom acting members of the Commission may be selected.

		RSA 2000
Section 16	SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4

(2) When in the Chair's opinion it is necessary or desirable for the proper and expeditious performance of the Commission's duties, the Chair may name a person nominated under subsection (1) as an acting member of the Commission for a period of time, during any circumstance or for the purpose of any matter before the Commission.

(3) An acting member has, during the period, under the circumstances or for the purpose for which the person is named an acting member, all the powers, and may perform all duties, of a member of the Commission.

1988 c7 s1(4);1995 c28 s6

Staff

16 The Commission may

- (a) appoint
 - (i) an Executive Director of the Commission,
 - (ii) a Secretary of the Commission, and
 - (iii) any other employees that it considers necessary,

and

(b) obtain the services of persons having technical or professional knowledge required by the Commission in connection with its business.

1988 c7 s1(4);1995 c28 s7

Duties of the Executive Director

17(1) The Executive Director is the chief administrative officer of the Commission.

(2) The Executive Director may authorize an employee of the Commission to do any act or thing required or permitted to be done by the Executive Director under this Act, the regulations or any other Act.

- (3) An authorization under subsection (2) may be
 - (a) general or applicable to a particular case, and
 - (b) conditional or unconditional.

(4) Notwithstanding that the Executive Director has given an authorization under this section, the Executive Director may do the act or thing in respect of which the authorization was given.

1995 c28 s7

Duties of the Secretary

18(1) The Secretary is responsible for carrying out the duties imposed on the Secretary by this Act, the regulations, any other Act or the Commission.

- (2) The Secretary may
 - (a) accept service of all notices and other documents on behalf of the Commission,
 - (b) when required, provide to the Court of Appeal the record of proceedings held before the Commission, and
 - (c) certify any decision made by the Commission or the Executive Director or any document, record or thing used in connection with a hearing or other proceeding.

(3) A certificate purporting to be signed by the Secretary is, without proof of the office or signature, admissible in evidence, so far as it is relevant, for all purposes in any action, hearing, prosecution or other proceeding.

1995 c28 s7

RSA 2000

Chapter S-4

Financial matters re Commission

19(1) All fees, costs, administrative penalties under section 199, settlement money and other revenue arising with respect to the administration of Alberta securities laws or any other enactments administered by the Commission are the revenues of the Commission.

(2) All money from any source that is received by and all money that is payable to the Commission belongs to the Commission.

(3) Any income earned from the money of the Commission accrues to and belongs to the Commission.

(4) The Commission

- (a) shall open and operate bank accounts in its own name and shall deposit all money received by the Commission into those bank accounts;
- (b) shall from the money received by the Commission make disbursements and pay all of the expenditures and liabilities incurred by the Commission;
- (c) may borrow money for the purposes of carrying out its business;

Section 20

- (d) may invest money for the purposes of carrying out its business;
- (e) may be a participant under section 40 of the *Financial Administration Act.*

(5) Notwithstanding subsections (1) and (2), money that is received by the Commission from administrative penalties under section 199 may be expended only for the purposes of educating investors and promoting or otherwise enhancing knowledge and information of persons regarding the operation of the securities and financial markets.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s19;2003 c32 s4;2004 c7 s19;2008 c26 s19; 2010 c10 s4

Annual report

20(1) The Commission shall, after the end of the Commission's fiscal year, prepare and deliver to the Minister a report consisting of

- (a) a summary of the nature and number of
 - (i) filings under this Act and the regulations,
 - (ii) registrations under this Act and the regulations, and
 - (iii) enforcement proceedings taken under this Act and the regulations,
- (b) a general commentary on the law concerning securities and exchange contracts and on the practice and development of that law,
- (c) information similar to that required under clause (a) in respect of other statutes administered by the Commission,
- (d) audited financial statements, and
- (e) other information as requested by the Minister or Lieutenant Governor in Council.

(2) On receiving a report delivered to the Minister under subsection (1), the Minister shall,

- (a) if the Legislative Assembly is sitting when the report is received by the Minister, lay the report before the Assembly, or
- (b) if the Legislative Assembly is not sitting when the report is received by the Minister, lay the report before the

Assembly within 15 days after the commencement of the sitting next following the receipt of the report. 1995 c28 s7;2000 c17 s4

Agent of the Crown

21(1) The Commission is for the purposes of this Act and the regulations an agent of the Crown in right of Alberta, and the powers of the Commission provided for under this Act and the regulations may be exercised by the Commission only as an agent of the Crown.

SECURITIES ACT

(2) An action or other legal proceedings in respect of a right or obligation acquired or incurred by the Commission on behalf of the Crown in right of Alberta, whether in the name of the Commission or in the name of the Crown in right of Alberta, may be brought by or taken against the Commission in the name of the Commission in any court that would have jurisdiction if the Commission were not an agent of the Crown.

1995 c28 s7;2000 c17 s5

Delegation of power

22(1) The Commission may authorize in writing any member of the Commission, including the Chair or a Vice-chair, to do any act or thing required or permitted to be done by the Commission under this Act, the regulations or any other Act.

(2) Where a member of the Commission is authorized to do any act or thing under subsection (1), any decision made by that member in respect of that act or thing has the same force and effect as if the decision were made by the Commission.

(3) For the purposes of sections 144, 145, 153 and 212(2) of this Act, sections 1(7), 229(2) and 244(2) of the *Cooperatives Act* and sections 3(3), 156(2) and 171(3) of the *Business Corporations Act*, the Chair, a Vice-chair or any member of the Commission may, unless otherwise requested by the applicant, act alone in exercising and performing the powers and duties of the Commission.

(4) The Commission may authorize in writing the Executive Director or any other individual employed by the Commission to do any act or thing required or permitted to be done by the Commission under this Act, the regulations or any other Act.

(5) A written authorization made under subsection (1) or (4) may be

- (a) general or applicable to a particular case, and
- (b) conditional or unconditional.

(6) Notwithstanding that the Commission has given an authorization under this section, the Commission may do the act or thing in respect of which the authorization was given.

(7) Notwithstanding anything in this section, the Commission shall not make an authorization under this section authorizing one or more members of the Commission or the Executive Director to make rules.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s22;2001 cC-28.1 s469;2006 c30 s5;2008 c26 s3

Sitting in panels

23(1) The Chair may designate 2 or more members of the Commission to sit as a panel of the Commission and may direct the panel to conduct any hearing, review, inquiry or other proceeding that the Commission itself could conduct under this Act or the regulations or any other enactments.

(2) Two members constitute a quorum at a sitting of a panel of the Commission.

(3) A decision or other action made or taken at a sitting of a panel of the Commission at which a quorum is present is the decision or action of the Commission and binds all members of the Commission.

(4) A panel of the Commission has, with respect to its duties, the same jurisdiction as that of the Commission and may exercise and perform all the powers of the Commission under this or any other Act with respect to a hearing, review, inquiry or other proceeding that it is directed to conduct and for that purpose any reference in this or any other Act to the Commission is deemed to be a reference to a panel of the Commission.

(5) The Chair may designate a member of a panel of the Commission to preside at any sitting of the panel at which the Chair is not present.

(6) A panel of the Commission shall conduct its sittings separately from those of another panel of the Commission being conducted at the same time.

(7) Where a hearing, inquiry or other proceeding is conducted by a panel of the Commission and one or more members of the panel do not for any reason attend on any day or part of a day, the remaining members present may, if they constitute a quorum of the panel, continue with the hearing, inquiry or proceeding.

1981 cS-6.1 s15;1988 c7 s1(41);1995 c28 s8;2000 c17 s6

Extra-provincial power of Commission

24(1) Where permitted to do so by another jurisdiction,

- (a) the Commission is, with respect to any matter coming under the purview of the Commission by virtue of this Act, empowered to exercise and perform those powers and duties in that other jurisdiction that the Commission can exercise and perform in Alberta, and
- (b) the Executive Director is, with respect to any matter coming under the purview of the Executive Director by virtue of this Act, empowered to exercise and perform those powers and duties in that other jurisdiction that the Executive Director can exercise and perform in Alberta.

(2) The Commission, in conjunction with an extra-provincial commission or an official of an extra-provincial commission, may hold hearings outside Alberta with respect to any matter that would be within the jurisdiction of the Commission if the hearing were held in Alberta.

(3) The Executive Director, in conjunction with an extra-provincial commission or an official of an extra-provincial commission, may hold hearings outside Alberta with respect to any matter that would be within the jurisdiction of the Executive Director if the hearing were held in Alberta.

1981 cS-6.1 s16;1988 c7 s1(5);1995 c28 s62

Extra-provincial commissions

25(1) An extra-provincial commission or an official of an extra-provincial commission may hold hearings together with

- (a) the Commission with respect to any matter coming within the jurisdiction of the Commission, or
- (b) the Executive Director with respect to any matter coming within the jurisdiction of the Executive Director.
- (2) For the purpose of holding a hearing under this section,
 - (a) any powers to be exercised
 - (i) in respect of a hearing held with the Commission shall be exercised by the Commission, and
 - (ii) in respect of a hearing held with the Executive Director shall be exercised by the Executive Director,

and

(b) section 29 applies as if the matter being heard were being heard solely by the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be.

(3) When a hearing is held under this section, only those decisions made by the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, shall be implemented within Alberta. 1981 cS-6.1 s17;1988 c7 s1(5);1995 c28 s62

Evidence taken outside Alberta

26(1) The Commission or the Executive Director may apply to the Court of Queen's Bench for an order

- (a) appointing a person to take the evidence of a witness outside Alberta for use in an investigation or hearing before the Commission, and
- (b) providing for the issuance of a written request directed to the judicial authorities of the jurisdiction in which the witness is to be found for the issuance of any process as is necessary
 - (i) to compel the person to attend to give testimony on oath or otherwise before the person appointed under clause (a), and
 - (ii) to produce documents, records and things relevant to the subject-matter of the investigation or hearing.
- (2) The practice and procedure in connection with
 - (a) an appointment under this section,
 - (b) the taking of evidence, and
 - (c) the certifying and return of the appointment

shall, to the extent possible, be the same as those that govern similar matters in civil proceedings in the Court of Queen's Bench in Alberta.

(3) Unless the Court otherwise provides, the making of an order under subsection (1) does not determine whether evidence obtained pursuant to the order is admissible in a hearing before the Commission.

(4) Nothing in this section shall be construed so as to limit any power that the Commission may have to obtain evidence outside Alberta by any other means including under any other enactment or by the operation of law.

1995 c28 s9

SECURITIES ACT

- (a) a securities commission or other body is empowered by statute to administer or regulate securities in a jurisdiction outside Alberta, and
- (b) the Court of Queen's Bench in Alberta is satisfied that a court or tribunal of competent jurisdiction in a jurisdiction outside Alberta has properly authorized that securities commission or other body to obtain testimony and evidence in Alberta from a witness located in Alberta,

the Court of Queen's Bench in Alberta may

- (c) order the attendance of the witness for the purpose of being questioned,
- (d) order the production of any record, document or thing mentioned in the order, and
- (e) give directions as to the time and place of the questioning and all other matters with respect to the questioning as the Court of Queen's Bench considers appropriate.

(2) In making an order under subsection (1), the Court of Queen's Bench may, insofar as the Court considers appropriate, order that the questioning of the witness

- (a) be before a person appointed in accordance with the directions of, and
- (b) be carried out in the manner provided for by,

the court or tribunal of the jurisdiction outside Alberta that authorized the obtaining of the testimony and evidence in Alberta. RSA 2000 cS-4 s27;2009 c53 s169

Engaging experts

28(1) The Commission or the Executive Director may engage persons to provide services and to advise, or to inquire into and report back on matters referred to that person by, the Commission or the Executive Director.

- (2) The Commission or the Executive Director
 - (a) may submit any documents, records or things to one or more persons engaged under subsection (1) for examination, and

(b) may

- (i) summon and enforce the attendance of witnesses before, and
- (ii) compel witnesses to produce documents, records and things to

a person engaged under subsection (1) in the same manner as if the Commission or the Executive Director were conducting a hearing.

(3) A person engaged under this section may be paid remuneration and living and travelling expenses in amounts determined by the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be. 1981 cS-6.1 s18;1988 c7 s1(41);1991 c33 s3;1995 c28 s62

Conduct of hearings

29 For the purpose of a hearing before the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, the following applies:

- (a) except where otherwise provided for in this Act or the regulations, notice in writing of the time, place and purpose of the hearing shall be sent to the person or company that is the subject of the hearing;
- (b) except where otherwise provided for in this Act or the regulations, in addition to any other person or company to whom notice is required to be sent under clause (a), notice in writing of the time, place and purpose of the hearing shall be sent to any person or company that, in the opinion of the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, is substantially affected by the hearing;
- (c) the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, has the same power as is vested in the Court of Queen's Bench for the trial of civil actions
 - (i) to summon and enforce the attendance of witnesses,
 - (ii) to compel witnesses to give evidence on oath or otherwise, and
 - (iii) to compel witnesses to produce documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts and things;
- (d) the failure or refusal of a person summoned as a witness under clause (c) to attend the hearing, to answer questions or to produce documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts and things that are in that person's

Section 29	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	custody or possession makes that person the Court of Queen's Bench by the Com Executive Director, as the case may be, committed for contempt by the Court of the same manner as if that person were is order or judgment of that Court;	imission or the liable to be 'Queen's Bench in
(e)	the Commission or the Executive Direct may be, shall receive that evidence that matter being heard;	
(f)	the laws of evidence applicable to judici not apply;	al proceedings do
(g)	all oral evidence received shall be taken or recorded by electronic means;	down in writing
(h)	the originating document, all evidence ta writing or recorded by electronic means and things received in evidence at a hear addition, in the case of a hearing before Director, all orders and decisions togeth associated statement of reasons, form th proceeding;	, all documents ring and in the Executive er with any
(i)	if, in the opinion of the Commission or to Director, as the case may be, the decision hearing adversely affects the right of a p to trade in securities or exchange contra- reasons for the decision shall be issued;	n made after a person or company
(j)	notice of every decision together with a written reasons for it, if any, shall be pro-	
	(i) the persons or companies to whom hearing was sent, and	notice of the
	 (ii) any person or company that, in the Commission or the Executive Direc may be, is substantially affected by 	ctor, as the case
(k)	a person or company appearing at a hear represented by legal counsel;	ring may be
(1)	a hearing is open to the public unless the over the hearing considers that it is in th order otherwise;	
(m)	the provisions of the <i>Alberta Rules of Co</i> attendance of witnesses, including provi	

the payment of fees, expenses and allowances, apply to matters heard under this Act. RSA 2000 cS-4 s29:2009 c53 s169:2010 c10 s5

Referral by Executive Director

30(1) The Executive Director may at any time refer any matter to the Commission for its consideration.

SECURITIES ACT

(2) On the referral of a matter to the Commission under subsection (1), the Commission may conduct a hearing into the matter and may make an order in respect of the matter or by order or otherwise give any advice and direction to the Executive Director in respect of the matter that the Commission considers appropriate in the circumstances.

1991 c33 s4;1995 c28 s62

Jurisdiction

31 The Commission has the jurisdiction to determine all questions of fact or law that arise in any matter before it.

1999 c15 s7

Decision made without a hearing

32 If, under this Act,

- (a) a person or company
 - (i) was given an opportunity to have a hearing, and
 - (ii) declined to have a hearing,
 - and
- (b) the Commission or the Executive Director makes a decision in respect of the matter for which the person or company was given the opportunity to have a hearing,

the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, shall send a copy of the decision to that person or company and to any other person or company, that in the opinion of the Commission or the Executive Director making the decision, will likely be affected by the decision.

1981 cS-6.1 s20;1988 c7 s1(41)(43);1995 c28 s11

Interim orders

33(1) Notwithstanding anything in this Act, where

(a) this Act permits the Commission or the Executive Director to conduct a hearing or to make a decision after

Section 33.1		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4		
		conducting a hearing or after giving a perso an opportunity to have a hearing, and	n or company		
	(b)	the Commission or the Executive Director b the hearing is to be held considers that the la required to conduct a hearing and render a c be prejudicial to the public interest,	ength of time		
		mission or the Executive Director, as the cas in interim order at any time without conducting			
	(2) An	interim order,			
	(a)	unless the order otherwise provides, takes e immediately on being made, and	ffect		
	(b)	expires 15 days from the day that it is made			
		Commission or the Executive Director may f time that an interim order remains in effect			
	(a)	for such period as the Commission or the Ex Director considers necessary, or	xecutive		
	(b)	for such period until the hearing is conclude decision is rendered.	ed and a		
i	(4) Where the Commission or the Executive Director makes an interim order, the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, shall send				
	(a)	a copy of the interim order, and			
	(b)	an accompanying notice of hearing,			
		erson or company that, in the opinion of the ocurive Director, is directly affected by the ord 1981 cS-6.1 s21;1984 c64 s5;1 1991 c33 s5;1995 c2	ler. 988 c7 s1(41)(43);		
F	33.1(1)	comply with filing requirements Notwithstanding section 198(3), for the reas on (2), the Commission or the Executive Dire			

RSA 2000

33.1(1) Notwithstanding section 198(3), for the reasons set out in subsection (2), the Commission or the Executive Director may, without providing an opportunity to be heard, order one or more of the following:

- (a) that trading or purchasing cease in respect of any security or exchange contract as specified in the order;
- (b) that a person or company cease trading in or purchasing securities, exchange contracts, specified securities or a

class of securities or exchange contracts as specified in the order.

(2) The Commission or the Executive Director may make an order under subsection (1) if the issuer of the security, the exchange on which the exchange contract is traded or the person or company in respect of which the order is made

- (a) fails to file a document required to be filed under Alberta securities laws, or
- (b) files a document required to be filed under Alberta securities laws that has not been completed in accordance with Alberta securities laws.

(3) The Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, shall send to any person or company directly affected by an order under subsection (1)

- (a) written notice of the order, and
- (b) written notice of a revocation of the order, if any. 2006 c30 s6;2010 c10 s6

Orders subject to terms or conditions

34(1) A decision made by the Commission may be made subject to those terms and conditions or either of them that the Commission considers necessary.

(2) A decision made by the Executive Director may be made subject to those terms and conditions or either of them that the Executive Director considers necessary. 1981 cS-6.1 s22;1988 c7 s1(41)(43);1995 c28 s62

Appeal from decision

35(1) A person or company directly affected by a decision of the Executive Director may appeal that decision to the Commission.

(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), the Commission may, on its own motion, within 30 days from the day that the Executive Director made a decision, review that decision.

(3) Notwithstanding section 36(4), the Executive Director may be present and make representations at an appeal of the Executive Director's decision.

> 1981 cS-6.1 s24;1988 c7 s1(41)(43);1995 c28 ss13,62; 1999 c15 s9

Appeals to the Commission

36(1) To commence an appeal to the Commission, the appellant shall, within 30 days from the day on which the written notice of the decision is served on the appellant, serve a written notice of appeal on the Secretary either personally or by registered mail.

(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), the Commission may, on application by the appellant during the appeal period prescribed in subsection (1), extend the appeal period if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so.

(3) On conducting an appeal, the Commission may, by order,

- (a) make any decision that the person who heard the matter in the first instance could have made and substitute the Commission's decision for the decision of that person;
- (b) confirm, vary or reject the decision;
- (c) direct the person whose decision is being appealed to re-hear the matter.

(4) The Commission may, if the Commission considers that it is in the public interest to do so, permit the person whose decision is being appealed to be present and make representations at the appeal.

(5) Notwithstanding that a person or company requests an appeal, the decision under appeal takes effect immediately unless the Commission grants a stay until disposition of the appeal. 1981 cS-6.1 s25;1984 c64 s6;1988 c7 s1(41);1995 c28 s14

Notice of review

37 Prior to conducting a review referred to in section 35(2), the Commission shall notify

- (a) the Executive Director, and
- (b) any person or company that, in the opinion of the Commission, is directly affected by the decision of the Executive Director,

of the Commission's intention to conduct the review.

1999 c15 s10

Appeal to Court of Appeal

38(1) A person or company directly affected by a decision of the Commission may appeal the decision to the Court of Appeal unless the decision of the Commission is an order

- (a) granting an exemption from prospectus or registration requirements pursuant to section 144 or 213 or a regulation,
- (b) deeming a trade, an intended trade, a type of trade or a class of trades or intended trades to be a distribution pursuant to section 144 or a regulation, or
- (c) declaring whether a distribution has been concluded or is still in progress pursuant to section 144.

(2) An appeal under this section shall be commenced by a notice of appeal filed with the Court of Appeal within 30 days from the day that the Commission sends the notice of its decision to the person or company appealing the decision.

(3) A copy of the notice of appeal and supporting documents shall be served on the Secretary within the 30-day period referred to in subsection (2).

(4) The Secretary shall certify to the registrar of the Court of Appeal

- (a) the decision that has been reviewed by the Commission,
- (b) the order of the Commission, together with any statement of reasons for it,
- (c) the record of the proceedings before the Commission, and
- (d) all written submissions to the Commission and other material, if any, that is relevant to the appeal.

(5) The practice and procedure in the Court of Appeal in respect of an appeal shall be the same as on an appeal from a judgment of the Court of Queen's Bench in an action.

- (6) The Court of Appeal may
 - (a) confirm, vary or reject the decision of the Commission,
 - (b) direct the Commission to re-hear the matter, or
 - (c) make any decision that the Commission could have made and substitute its decision for that of the Commission.

(7) The Commission is the respondent to an appeal under this section.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s38;2011 c7 s4

Policy Advisory Committee

39 The Minister may appoint a committee to be known as the "Policy Advisory Committee" to advise the Minister and the Commission on matters referred to the Committee by the Minister. 1981 cS-6.1 s27;1984 c64 s7;1988 c7 s1(7);1995 c28 s62

Part 2 Investigations

Production of records, etc. to the Executive Director

40(1) In this section, "party" means

- (a) a registrant;
- (b) a person or company that is exempted by an order made under section 144 from the requirement to be registered under section 75;
- (c) a reporting issuer;
- (d) a manager or custodian of assets, shares or units of an investment fund;
- (e) a general partner of a person or company referred to in clause (a), (b), (c), (f) or (i);
- (f) a person or company purporting to distribute securities in reliance on an exemption
 - (i) for which the regulations provide that a prospectus is not required, or
 - (ii) in an order issued under section 144;
- (g) a transfer agent or registrar for securities of a reporting issuer;
- (h) a director or officer of a reporting issuer;
- (i) a promoter or control person of a reporting issuer;
- (j) the Canadian Investor Protection Fund;
- (k) a clearing agency.

(2) For any purposes related to the administration of Alberta securities laws, the Executive Director may, by an order that is applicable generally or that is directed to one or more parties, require a party to provide to the Executive Director the information, documents or records as set out in the order within the time prescribed in the order.

(3) The Executive Director may require verification by affidavit that the party has produced to the Executive Director all of the information, documents and records required pursuant to an order made under subsection (2).

RSA 2000 cS-4 s40;2005 c18 s9;2006 c30 s7;2008 c26 s19

Investigation order

41(1) The Executive Director may, by order, appoint a person to make any investigation that the Executive Director considers necessary

- (a) for the administration of Alberta securities laws,
- (b) to assist in the administration of the securities or exchange contract laws of another jurisdiction,
- (c) in respect of matters relating to trading in securities or exchange contracts in Alberta, or
- (d) in respect of matters in Alberta relating to trading in securities or exchange contracts in another jurisdiction.

(2) If an individual alleges under oath that a person or company has contravened Alberta securities laws, the Executive Director may, by order, appoint a person to make an investigation in respect of the allegation.

(3) In an order made under subsection (1) or (2), the Executive Director shall prescribe the scope of the investigation that is to be carried out under the order.

(4) For the purposes of an investigation ordered under this section, the person appointed to make the investigation may with respect to the person or company that is the subject of the investigation, investigate, inquire into and examine

- (a) the affairs of that person or company,
- (b) documents, records, correspondence, communications, negotiations, trades, transactions, investigations, loans, borrowings and payments to, by, on behalf of or in relation to or connected with that person or company,

Section 42	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4		
ali by fo (d) th an ot	 (c) the property, assets or things owned, acquired or alienated in whole or in part by that person or company or by any person or company acting on behalf of or as agen for that person or company, (d) the assets at any time held by, the liabilities, undertaking and obligations at any time existing and the financial or other conditions at any time prevailing in respect of that person or company, and (e) the relationship that may at any time exist or have existence between that person or company and any other person or company by reason of 			
(e) th be				
(i) investments,			
(ii) commissions promised, secured of	or paid,		
(iii) interests held or acquired,			
(iv) the loaning or borrowing of monother property,	ey, securities or		
(v) the transfer, negotiation or holdir exchange contracts,	ng of securities or		
(vi) interlocking directorates,			
(vii) common control,			
(viii) undue influence or control, or			
(ix) any other matter not referred to in	n clauses (i) to (viii).		
(5) For the purposes of an investigation under this section, a person appointed to make the investigation may examine any documents, records or other things, whether they are in the possession or control of the person or company in respect of which the investigation is ordered or of any other person or company. RSA 2000 cS-4 s41;2007 c10 s4;2008 c26 s19;2010 c10 s8				
41 has the s	restigators person appointed to make an invest same power as is vested in the Court of civil actions	gation under section of Queen's Bench		

- (a) to summon and enforce the attendance of witnesses,
- (b) to compel witnesses to give evidence on oath or otherwise, and

(c) to compel witnesses to produce documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts and things.

(2) A person appointed to make an investigation under section 41 may make copies or cause copies to be made of any documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things produced pursuant to subsection (1).

(3) The failure or refusal of a person summoned as a witness under subsection (1) to attend, to answer questions or to produce documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things that are in that person's custody or possession makes that person, on application to the Court of Queen's Bench by the person making the investigation, liable to be committed for contempt by the Court of Queen's Bench in the same manner as if that person were in breach of an order or judgment of that Court.

(4) Notwithstanding the *Alberta Evidence Act*, a bank or any officer or employee of the bank is not exempt from the operation of this section.

(5) A person giving evidence at an investigation under section 41 may be represented by legal counsel.

(6) If authorized to do so by an order of the Court of Queen's Bench, a person conducting an investigation under section 41 may

- (a) enter into and search premises, and
- (b) seize and take possession of any documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things,

of the person or company whose affairs are being investigated.

(7) An application for an order under subsection (6) may be made ex parte unless the Court of Queen's Bench otherwise directs.

(8) Documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things seized under subsection (6) shall, at a time and place mutually convenient to the person or company from whom they were seized and the person making the investigation, be made available for inspection and copying by that person or company if a request for an opportunity to inspect or copy is made by that person or company to the person making the investigation.

- (9) Where
 - (a) documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things are seized under subsection (6)(b), and

(b) the matter for which the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things were seized is concluded,

the Executive Director shall return those documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things to the person from whom they were seized within 60 days from the day that the matter is concluded.

(10) If

- (a) documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things are seized under subsection (6)(b), and
- (b) the person from whom the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things are seized, alleges that the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things are not relevant in respect of the matter for which they were seized,

that person may apply to the Court of Queen's Bench for the return of the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things.

(11) On hearing an application under subsection (10), the Court of Queen's Bench shall order the return of any documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things that it determines are not relevant to the matter for which they were seized. RSA 2000 cs-4 s42;2009 c53 s169

Appointment of experts

43(1) If an investigation is ordered under section 41, the Executive Director may appoint persons having special technical or other knowledge or skills to assist and be responsible to the person appointed under section 41.

(2) A person appointed under subsection (1) shall

- (a) examine documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts and things of the person or company whose affairs are being investigated, and
- (b) perform other duties,

as required by the person carrying out the investigation. 1981 cS-6.1 s30;1982 c32 s6;1988 c7 s1(42); 1991 c33 s40;1995 c28 s62

Report to Executive Director

44(1) Every person appointed under section 41(1) or (2) shall provide the Executive Director with

- (a) a full and complete report of the investigation including all transcripts of evidence and material in the person's possession relating to the investigation, and
- (b) interim reports as requested by the Executive Director.

(2) A report that is provided to the Executive Director under subsection (1) is absolutely privileged and is not admissible in evidence in any action, proceeding or prosecution.

(3) None of the following persons are compellable to give evidence in any court or in a proceeding of a judicial nature concerning any information that comes to the knowledge of that person in the exercise of the powers, the performance of the duties or the carrying out of the functions of that person pursuant to this Part:

- (a) a person appointed to make an investigation under section 41;
- (b) the Commission;
- (c) a member of the Commission;
- (d) the Executive Director;
- (e) the Secretary;
- (f) an employee of the Commission;
- (g) a person referred to in section 16(b).

(4) Notwithstanding subsections (2) and (3), where the Executive Director considers that it is in the public interest to do so, the Executive Director may by order at any time authorize the disclosure of any information, testimony, record, document, report or thing obtained pursuant to this Part subject to those terms and conditions that the Executive Director may impose. 1981 cS-6.1 s31;1988 c7 s1(42);1995 c28 s19

Investigation to be confidential

45 Anything acquired and all information or evidence obtained pursuant to an investigation is confidential and shall not be divulged except

- (a) by a person or company to the person's or company's counsel,
- (b) where authorized by the Executive Director, or
- (c) as otherwise permitted by Alberta securities laws. RSA 2000 cS-4 s45;2008 c26 s19

Information

46(1) If the Executive Director considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so, the Executive Director may, subject to subsections (2) and (3), provide information to and receive information from

- (a) other securities or financial regulatory authorities, exchanges, self-regulatory bodies or organizations, law enforcement agencies and other governmental or regulatory authorities in Canada and elsewhere, and
- (b) any person or company acting on behalf of or providing services to the Commission or the Executive Director.

(2) The Commission or the Executive Director, or either of them, may, with respect to any personal information referred to in, dealt with or governed under section 33(a), 34(1)(a)(ii) or 40(1)(e) of the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*, collect that information, whether directly from the individual or by some other method, and disclose that information for the purposes of carrying out any duties and exercising any powers of the Commission or the Executive Director under this or any other Act.

(3) The Commission or the Executive Director may enter into an arrangement or agreement for the purposes of subsection (2).

(4) Any information received by the Commission or the Executive Director under this section is confidential and shall not be disclosed except where authorized by the Executive Director.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s46;2003 c32 s5

Prevalence over FOIP

46.1(1) Subject to subsection (2), if anything in sections 44, 45, 46(4), 60.3, 146 or 221(4), (5), (6) and (7) is inconsistent or in conflict with the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*, those provisions prevail notwithstanding the *Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act*.

(2) Where information is collected or received pursuant to section 44, 45, 46(4), 60.3, 146 or 221(4), (5), (6) or (7), subsection (1) ceases to apply in respect of that information after 50 years has

elapsed from the end of the year in which the information was collected or received.

2003 c32 s5;2010 c10 s9

Order to freeze property

47(1) The Executive Director may make an order as provided in subsection (2),

- (a) if the Executive Director is about to order an investigation in respect of a person or company under section 41,
- (b) at any time during or after the carrying out of an investigation under section 41 in respect of a person or company,
- (c) if
 - (i) the Commission has made, or
 - the Executive Director has reasonable grounds to believe that the Commission is about to make,

an order under section 198 in respect of a person or company that trading in securities of an issuer or trading in exchange contracts shall cease,

- (d) if the Commission has made, or the Executive Director has reasonable grounds to believe that the Commission is about to make, a decision
 - (i) suspending or cancelling the registration of any person or company, or
 - (ii) affecting the right of any person or company to trade in securities or exchange contracts,

or

- (e) if there is evidence of a contravention by a person or company of
 - (i) Alberta securities laws, or
 - (ii) of the provision of any statute, other than this Act, that relates to the trading of securities or exchange contracts.

(2) If subsection (1) applies, the Executive Director may make an order doing one or more of the following:

Section 47		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4			
(a)	con con refe	cting a person or company having on trol or for safekeeping any funds, sect tracts or other property of the person rred to in subsection (1)(a) to (e) to h irities, exchange contracts or other pr	urities, exchange or company old the funds,			
(b)	(1)(secu	cting a person or company referred to a) to (e) to refrain from withdrawing s irities, exchange contracts or other pr er person or company having any of th er control or for safekeeping;	its funds, operty from any			
(b.1)	(1)(con of, t dim	cting a person or company referred to a) to (e) to maintain its funds, securiti tracts or other property, and to refrain ransferring, dissipating or otherwise of inishing the value of those funds, sec tracts or other property;	ies, exchange from disposing dealing with or			
(c)	(1)(con pers any and <i>and</i> <i>Con</i>	cting a person or company referred to a) to (e) to hold all funds, securities, e tracts or other property of clients or o son's or company's possession or con interim receiver, custodian, trustee, r manager or liquidator appointed unde <i>Insolvency Act</i> (Canada), the <i>Judicat</i> <i>mpanies Act</i> , the <i>Business Corporation</i> <i>peratives Act</i> , the <i>Winding-up and Re</i> mada) or section 48 of this Act.	exchange thers in the trol in trust for eceiver, receiver er the <i>Bankruptcy</i> <i>ure Act</i> , the <i>ns Act</i> , the			
(3) An order made under subsection (2) does not take effect until it is served on the person or company to whom the order is directed.						
(4) An order under subsection (2)						
(a)	offi	is directed to a financial institution a ces, branches or agencies of the finan the order, and				
(b)	doe	s not apply to				
	(i)	funds, securities or exchange contra- agency, or	cts in a clearing			
	(ii)	securities in process of transfer by a	transfer agent,			
	unle	ess the order expressly so states.				
	(5) A person or company in receipt of an order given under subsection (2) that is in doubt as to					

RSA 2000

Section 48		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
		e application of the order to any fur change contracts or other property	
		claim being made to that person or erson or company not named in the	
di		to the Executive Director for direct of the funds, securities, exchange of claim.	
a (c di ex	lirection), the Exerction or change c	application of a person or company given in an order made under subsecutive Director may make an order consenting to the release of any fu ontracts or other property in respect inder subsection (2)(a), (b) or (c).	ection (2)(a), (b) or r revoking that inds, securities,
(e) or to	the Exe mining r be taken	of the circumstances mentioned in cutive Director may send to the Re ecorder a notice that proceedings a that may affect land or mining clai ompany referred to in the notice an	gistrar of Land Titles re being or are about ims belonging to the
		e registered or recorded against the entioned in it, and	lands or claims
		we the same effect as the registration of the registration of the same effect as the registration of the reg	
		n under subsection (7). RSA 2000 cs	voke or modify a 8-4 s47;2001 cC-28.1 s469 2008 c26 s19;2011 c7 s:
48 Be	(1) The ench for t	of receivers, managers, trustees Executive Director may apply to the he appointment of a receiver, receive	ne Court of Queen's ver and manager,
		the Executive Director is about to or respect of the person or company	
		uring or after an investigation in res ompany under section 41,	spect of the person or
	(c) if		
	(i) the Commission has made, or	
			11 1 (

Section 48			SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
			order under section 198 that trading in er or trading in exchange contracts s	
	(d)	if		
		(i)	the Commission has made, or	
		(ii)	the Executive Director has reasonal believe that the Commission is about	
		pers	excision suspending or cancelling the re- son or company or affecting the right apany to trade in securities or exchan	of the person or
	(e)	the rest	the person or company fails or neglect minimum net asset requirements, inv rictions, ownership restrictions or ca scribed by the regulations for that per	vestment pital requirements
	(f)		here is evidence of a contravention by npany of	the person or
		(i)	Alberta securities laws, or	
		(ii)	of the provisions of any statute, oth that relates to the trading of securiti contracts.	
	may app of all or	oint any	pplication being made under this sect a receiver, receiver and manager, tru part of the property of a person or co fied that it is in the best interests of	stee or liquidator
	(a)	the	creditors of that person or company,	
	(b)		se persons or companies whose prope session or under the control of that p	
	(c)		security holders of or subscribers to pany.	that person or
			cation under subsection (1) may be n nsiders it proper to do so in the circum	
	may ma	ke ar	lication under this section is made ex order appointing a receiver, receive uidator for a period not exceeding 15	r and manager,

RSA 2000

(5) A receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator of the property of a person or company appointed under this section shall

be the receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator of all or part of the property

- (a) owned by the person or company, or
- (b) held by the person or company on behalf of or in trust for any other person or company.

(6) The receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator shall, if so directed by the Court,

- (a) have authority to wind up or manage the business and affairs of the person or company, and
- (b) exercise those powers that are necessary or incidental to the winding-up or management of the business and affairs of the person or company.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s48;2008 c26 s19

Income and liabilities of person or company

49 A receiver of the property of a person or company appointed under section 48 may, subject to the rights of secured creditors,

- (a) receive income from that property and pay liabilities in respect of that property, and
- (b) realize the security of the person or company on whose behalf the receiver is appointed.

1981 cS-6.1 s39

Powers of a receiver and manager

50(1) A receiver and manager of the property of a person or company appointed under section 48 may carry on the business and affairs of the person or company and

- (a) is vested with all the powers
 - (i) in the case of a person, of that person with respect to the operation of that person's business and affairs, and
 - (ii) in the case of a company, of the shareholders and directors of the company,
 - and
- (b) has, in addition to those powers provided under clause (a), those powers prescribed in the order appointing the receiver and manager.

(2) On an order being made under section 48 appointing a receiver and manager of the property of a person or company,

- (a) in the case of a person, the person shall not exercise any powers in respect of the operation of the person's business and affairs, and
- (b) in the case of a company, the shareholders and the directors of the company shall not exercise any powers in respect of the company,

except as directed by the receiver and manager.

1981 cS-6.1 s40

Court order

51 The Court of Queen's Bench in making an order under section 48 appointing a receiver or a receiver and manager may provide for any matter or thing relating to the business and affairs of the person or company, as the case may be, during the appointment of the receiver or the receiver and manager.

1981 cS-6.1 s41

Term of office

52 A receiver or a receiver and manager appointed under section 48 remains in office until the receiver or receiver and manager is removed from office or until

- (a) the receiver or receiver and manager winds up the business and affairs of the person or company pursuant to authority given under section 48, or
- (b) a liquidator is appointed to wind up the business and affairs of the person or company.

1981 cS-6.1 s42

Fees

53 The fees payable to a receiver or a receiver and manager for his or her services, expenses and disbursements in connection with the discharge of the duties of the receiver or receiver and manager

- (a) shall be fixed by the Court of Queen's Bench from time to time,
- (b) shall be paid,
 - (i) out of the assets of the person or company in respect of which the receiver or receiver and manager was appointed, or

Section 54		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(ii	 (ii) if the assets of the person or company in resp which the receiver or receiver and manager v appointed are insufficient for the purpose, as by the Court from the assets of those persons companies that benefitted from the appointment the receiver or receiver and manager, 	
	and		
	or	the case of the winding-up of the co the estate equally with the remuner quidator.	

1981 cS-6.1 s43

RSA 2000

Directions from the Court

54(1) A receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator may apply to the Court of Queen's Bench for directions on any matter arising with respect to the carrying out of the duties of the receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator.

(2) On an application under subsection (1), the Court may give direction, declare the rights of parties before the Court and make any further order as it considers necessary.

1981 cS-6.1 s44

Appointment of a successor

55 The Court of Queen's Bench may at any time revoke the appointment made under section 48 of a receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator and appoint another in place of the receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator.

1981 cS-6.1 s45

Funds expended by Executive Director

56 If the Executive Director expends funds in respect of the appointment under this Act of a receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator that directly relate to a person or company, the amount expended

- (a) is a debt owing by that person or company to the Government, as the case may be, and
- (b) may be recovered by the Government in the same manner as any other debt owing to the Crown in right of Alberta. 1981 cS-6.1 s46;1988 c7 s1(12);1995 c28 s62

Solicitor-client privilege

57(1) Nothing in this Part shall be interpreted so as to affect the privilege that exists between a solicitor and the solicitor's client.

(2) If a person is about to examine or seize under this Act any documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things in the possession of a lawyer and the lawyer with respect to those documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things claims that a privilege might exist between the lawyer and the lawyer's client, the person who was about to examine or seize the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things shall, without examining or copying them,

- (a) seize the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things,
- (b) seal the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things in a marked package so that the package can be identified, and
- (c) place the package in the custody of
 - (i) the clerk of the Court of Queen's Bench, or
 - (ii) a person that the parties agree on.

(3) On an application being brought by the lawyer, client or the person seizing the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things, the Court of Queen's Bench shall hear the matter in camera and determine whether the claim of the privilege is proper.

- (4) If the Court of Queen's Bench determines
 - (a) that the claim of privilege is proper, it shall order that the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things seized be delivered to the lawyer, or
 - (b) that the claim is not proper, it shall order that the documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts or things be delivered to the person who seized them.

(5) The notice of the application referred to in subsection (3) and the supporting documents shall be served on the Executive Director, the person having custody of the package and the parties to the application other than the one making the application not less than 3 days before the application is to be heard.

(6) On being served with the notice of the application and the supporting documents, the person having custody of the package

Section 58

shall promptly deliver the package to the custody of the clerk of the Court of Queen's Bench.

(7) In determining the matter before it, the Court may open the package and inspect its contents.

(8) Following its inspection of the package and its contents under subsection (7), the Court shall reseal the contents in the package. 1981 cS-6.1 s47;1982 c32 s9;1988 c7 s1(42);1991 c33 s40;1995 c28 s62

Part 3 Record Keeping and Compliance Review

Review and examination

58(1) Notwithstanding anything in section 59, 60, 60.1 or 60.2, the Executive Director may in writing appoint a person to examine the financial affairs, books, records and other documents of the following for the purpose of determining if that person or company is complying with Alberta securities laws:

- (a) a registrant;
- (b) a reporting issuer;
- (c) a director, officer or promoter of a reporting issuer;
- (d) a transfer agent of a reporting issuer;
- (e) a recognized exchange;
- (f) a recognized self-regulatory organization;
- (g) a recognized clearing agency;
- (h) a recognized quotation and trade reporting system;
- (i) a manager or a custodian of assets, shares or units of an investment fund.

(2) Where a person carries out an examination under subsection (1), that person shall prepare those financial or other statements and reports as may be required by the Executive Director.

- (3) A person carrying out an examination under this section may
 - (a) enter into business premises during business hours,
 - (b) inquire into and examine all records, securities, exchange contracts, cash, documents, bank accounts, vouchers and

correspondence of the person or company whose financial affairs are being examined, and

(c) make copies of any item referred to in clause (b).

(4) No person or company that is the subject of an examination under this section shall withhold, destroy, conceal or refuse to give any information or thing reasonably required for the purpose of the examination.

(5) A person or company that is the subject of an examination under this section shall pay those fees as may be prescribed by regulation.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s58;2005 c18 s11;2006 c30 s8; 2010 c10 s10

Recognized exchanges, and self-regulatory organizations

59(1) Every recognized exchange shall appoint an auditor for the exchange.

(2) Where the Executive Director considers it appropriate, a recognized self-regulatory organization shall appoint an auditor for the self-regulatory organization.

(3) Every recognized exchange and every recognized self-regulatory organization shall select a panel of auditing firms for their members.

(4) Every recognized exchange and every recognized self-regulatory organization shall require each of its members to appoint an auditor chosen from the panel of auditing firms selected under subsection (3).

(5) The auditor of a member shall

- (a) in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, make an examination of the annual financial statements and regulatory filings of the member as provided for by the bylaws, rules, regulations, policies, procedures, interpretations or practices, as the case may be, that are applicable to the member, and
- (b) report on the financial affairs of the member to the recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization, as the case may be, in accordance with professional reporting standards.

1995 c28 s24

Requirement to provide information

60 A registrant shall file with the Executive Director any information the Executive Director may require in a form that is acceptable to the Executive Director.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s60;2010 c10 s11

Record-keeping

60.1(1) This section applies to every recognized exchange, recognized self-regulatory organization, recognized clearing agency, recognized quotation and trade reporting system and reporting issuer, and every officer, director, promoter and transfer agent of a reporting issuer.

- (2) Every person or company to which this section applies shall
 - (a) maintain
 - (i) the books and records that are necessary to record properly its business transactions and financial affairs and the transactions that it executes on behalf of others, and
 - (ii) any other books and records that may be required under Alberta securities laws,

and

(b) deliver to the Commission or the Executive Director any books and records or other information that the Commission or the Executive Director may require. 2005 c18 s12:2008 c26 s19

Continuous disclosure reviews

60.2(1) The Executive Director may conduct a review of the disclosures that have been made or ought to have been made by a reporting issuer or investment fund.

(2) A reporting issuer or investment fund that is subject to a review under this section shall, as required by the Executive Director, deliver to the Executive Director any information and documents reasonably relevant to the review.

(3) A reporting issuer or investment fund, or any person or company acting on behalf of a reporting issuer or investment fund, shall not make any representation that the Commission has in any way expressed an opinion or passed judgment on the merits of the disclosure record of the reporting issuer or investment fund.

2005 c18 s12

Confidential documents

60.3(1) The Executive Director may hold in confidence any materials delivered or obtained under section 58, 60, 60.1 or 60.2 if the Executive Director considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so.

(2) On the application of an interested person or company or the Executive Director and on giving the interested person and the Executive Director an opportunity to be heard, the Commission may make an order directing that any materials or class of materials delivered or obtained under section 58, 60, 60.1 or 60.2 be held in confidence if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to grant the order.

(3) Where the Executive Director decides to hold materials in confidence or not to hold materials in confidence, an interested person or company may appeal the decision to the Commission.

(4) An order of the Commission made pursuant to subsection (2) or (3) is final and there is no appeal from that order.

2010 c10 s14

Part 4 Exchanges, Self-regulatory Organizations and Clearing Agencies

Members of exchanges, etc.

61 Any reference in this Part

- (a) to a member of an exchange includes
 - (i) any holder of a security in an organization that carries on business as an exchange, and
 - (ii) any person or company that agrees to comply with the bylaws, rules, regulations, policies, procedures, interpretations and practices of the exchange and is granted trading access on or through the facilities of the exchange;
- (b) to a member of a self-regulatory organization includes any person or company that agrees to be regulated by that self-regulatory organization;
- (c) to a representative of a member of an exchange includes
 - (i) any person or company approved by the exchange as a partner, officer, director, trader or assistant trader of the member, and

- (ii) any employee of the member not otherwise referred to in subclause (i);
- (d) to a representative of a member of a self-regulatory organization includes
 - (i) any person or company approved by the self-regulatory organization as a partner, officer, director, branch manager, assistant branch manager or co-branch manager of the member, and
 - (ii) any employee of the member not otherwise referred to in subclause (i).

RSA 2000 cS-4 s61;2007 c10 s5;2008 c26 s4

Recognition of exchange

Section 62

62(1) No person or company shall carry on business as an exchange in Alberta unless the person or company is recognized by the Commission as an exchange.

(2) The Commission may, on the application of a person or company proposing to carry on business as an exchange in Alberta, recognize the person or company as an exchange if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so.

(3) The recognition of an exchange under this section is to be made in writing and is subject to any terms and conditions that the Commission may impose.

1981 cS-6.1 s52;1984 c64 s11;1988 c7 s1(41); 1991 c33 s12;1995 c28 s25

Operation of recognized exchange

63(1) The Commission, after giving a recognized exchange an opportunity to be heard, may

- (a) suspend or cancel its recognition as a recognized exchange, or
- (b) remove, vary or replace any terms or conditions that were previously imposed on its recognition as a recognized exchange,

if the Commission considers that it is in the public interest to do so.

(2) A recognized exchange shall regulate the operations and the standards of practice and business conduct of its members and their representatives in accordance with the bylaws, rules, regulations, policies, procedures, interpretations and practices of the exchange.

Section 63

(3) The authority of an exchange to regulate the operations and the standards of practice and business conduct of its members and their representatives under subsection (2) extends to

- (a) any former member,
- (b) any former representative of a member, and
- (c) any former representative of a former member,

with respect to that person's operations and conduct while a member of the exchange or a representative of a member of the exchange.

(4) The Commission may, if the Commission considers that it is in the public interest to do so, make any decision

- (a) that the Commission considers is necessary to ensure that issuers whose securities are listed and posted for trading on a recognized exchange comply with Alberta securities laws;
- (b) respecting the manner in which a recognized exchange carries on business;
- (c) respecting any bylaw, rule, regulation, policy, procedure, interpretation or practice of a recognized exchange;
- (d) respecting trading on or through the facilities of a recognized exchange;
- (e) respecting any security that is listed and posted for trading on a recognized exchange;
- (f) respecting any exchange contract that is trading on a recognized exchange.
- (5) Every recognized exchange shall
 - (a) keep a record showing the time at which each transaction on the exchange took place, and
 - (b) supply to any customer of any member of the exchange, on production of a written confirmation of any transaction with the member, particulars of the time at which the transaction took place and verification or otherwise of the matters set out in the confirmation.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s63;2008 c26 s19

Recognized self-regulatory organization

64(1) The Commission may, on the application of a self-regulatory organization, recognize the self-regulatory organization if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so.

(2) The recognition of a self-regulatory organization under this section shall be made in writing and is subject to any terms and conditions that the Commission may impose.

(3) The Commission, after giving a recognized self-regulatory organization an opportunity to be heard, may

- (a) suspend or cancel its recognition as a recognized self-regulatory organization, or
- (b) remove, vary or replace any terms or conditions that were previously imposed on its recognition as a recognized self-regulatory organization,

if the Commission considers that it is in the public interest to do so.

(4) A recognized self-regulatory organization shall regulate the operations and the standards of practice and business conduct of its members and their representatives in accordance with the bylaws, rules, regulations, policies, procedures, interpretations and practices of the self-regulatory organization.

(5) The authority of a self-regulatory organization to regulate the operations and the standards of practice and business conduct of its members and their representatives under subsection (4) extends to

- (a) any former member,
- (b) any former representative of a member, and
- (c) any former representative of a former member,

with respect to that person's operations and conduct while a member of the self-regulatory organization or a representative of a member of the self-regulatory organization.

(6) The Commission may, if the Commission considers that it is in the public interest to do so, make any decision with respect to any bylaw, rule, regulation, policy, procedure, interpretation or practice of a recognized self-regulatory organization.

1995 c28 s25;2000 c17 s10

Councils, committees, etc.

65(1) A recognized exchange or a recognized self-regulatory organization may,

- (a) with the prior approval of the Commission, and
- (b) subject to any terms and conditions that the Commission may determine to be necessary or appropriate in the public interest,

establish a council, committee or other ancillary body.

(2) A recognized exchange or a recognized self-regulatory organization may authorize the council, committee or other ancillary body to administer regulatory or self-regulatory powers or responsibilities or both.

(3) Where an exchange or self-regulatory organization establishes a council, committee or other ancillary body to administer regulatory or self-regulatory powers or responsibilities,

- (a) that council, committee or ancillary body
 - (i) is included in the recognition of the recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization, and
 - (ii) is subject to the same terms or conditions, if any, that are imposed by the Commission on the recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization,

and

(b) the recognition of that council, committee or ancillary body is, unless otherwise directed by the Commission, suspended, restricted or cancelled, as the case may be, when the recognition of the recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization is suspended, restricted or cancelled.

(4) The provisions of Alberta securities laws that apply to a recognized exchange or a recognized self-regulatory organization also apply with any necessary modifications to a council, committee or ancillary body established under this section by that recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization. RSA 2000 cS-4 s65;2008 c26 s19

Assignment of duties of the Commission or Executive Director

66(1) The Commission may by order, subject to any terms and conditions that the Commission may impose, authorize a

recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization to do any act or thing required or permitted to be done by the Commission under Part 5 or the regulations made in respect of that Part.

(2) The Executive Director, with the approval of the Commission, may, subject to any terms or conditions that the Executive Director may impose, by order authorize a recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization to do any act or thing required or permitted to be done by the Executive Director under Part 5 or the regulations made in respect of that Part.

(3) Notwithstanding that the Commission or the Executive Director has given an authorization under this section, the Commission or the Executive Director may do the act or thing in respect of which the authorization was given.

(4) The Commission or, with the approval of the Commission, the Executive Director may at any time revoke or vary, in whole or in part, an authorization made under this section.

(5) Neither the Commission nor the Executive Director shall revoke or vary an authorization made under this section without giving the recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization an opportunity to have a hearing before the Commission.

1995 c28 s25

Recognized clearing agency

67(1) The Commission may, on the application of a clearing agency, recognize the clearing agency if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so.

(2) The recognition of a clearing agency under this section is to be made in writing and is subject to any terms and conditions that the Commission may impose.

(3) The Commission, after giving a recognized clearing agency an opportunity to be heard, may

- (a) suspend or cancel its recognition as a recognized clearing agency, or
- (b) remove, vary or replace any terms or conditions that were previously imposed on its recognition as a recognized clearing agency,

where the Commission considers that it is in the public interest to do so.

(4) The Commission may, if the Commission considers that it is in the public interest to do so, make any decision with respect to any bylaw, rule, regulation, policy, procedure, interpretation or practice of a recognized clearing agency.

1995 c28 s25

Recognized quotation and trade reporting systems

68(1) The Commission may, on the application of a quotation and trade reporting system, recognize the quotation and trade reporting system if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so.

(2) The recognition of a quotation and trade reporting system under this section shall be made in writing and is subject to any terms and conditions that the Commission may impose.

(3) The Commission, after giving a quotation and trade reporting system the opportunity to be heard, may

- (a) suspend or cancel its recognition as a recognized quotation and trade reporting system, or
- (b) remove, vary or replace any terms or conditions that were previously imposed on its recognition as a recognized quotation and trade reporting system,

where the Commission considers that it is in the public interest to do so.

(4) No person or company shall carry on business as a quotation and trade reporting system or facilitate transactions of securities or exchange contracts by means of an operation similar in nature to a quotation and trade reporting system unless the person or company is recognized under this section as a quotation and trade reporting system.

1999 c15 s13;2000 c17 s12

Personal information

68.1(1) In this section, "personal information" means personal information as defined in the *Personal Information Protection Act* other than business contact information to which that Act does not apply by virtue of section 4(3)(d) of that Act.

(2) A recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization may, without the consent of an individual,

(a) collect personal information about that individual, whether directly from the individual or from or through a registrant or by any other method, and (b) use and disclose that information

for the purposes of an investigation or the suppression or prevention of fraud, market manipulation or unfair trading practices or for breaches of rules, regulations, policies or bylaws of the recognized exchange or of the recognized self-regulatory organization or of any decisions of the Commission or the Executive Director relating to either or both of the following:

- (c) the integrity of securities trading on exchanges, quotation and trade reporting systems or alternative trading systems;
- (d) the business conduct and activities of the members of the recognized exchange or of the recognized self-regulatory organization and their representatives.

2003 cP-6.5 s72

Powers re hearings, etc.

69(1) Where a recognized exchange, a recognized self-regulatory organization or a recognized quotation and trade reporting system is empowered under the bylaws or rules of the exchange, self-regulatory organization or quotation and trade reporting system, as the case may be, to conduct hearings, the following applies for the purposes of a hearing:

- (a) a person conducting a hearing has the same power as is vested in the Court of Queen's Bench for the trial of civil actions
 - (i) to summon and enforce the attendance of witnesses,
 - (ii) to compel witnesses to give evidence on oath or otherwise, and
 - (iii) to compel witnesses to produce documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts and things;
- (b) the failure or refusal of a person summoned as a witness under clause (a) to attend a hearing, to answer questions or to produce documents, records, securities, exchange contracts, contracts and things that are in that person's custody or possession makes that person, on application to the Court of Queen's Bench by the person conducting the hearing, liable to be committed for contempt by the Court of Queen's Bench in the same manner as if that person were in breach of an order or judgment of that Court;
- (c) a person conducting a hearing may take evidence under oath;

- (d) a person conducting a hearing or a person authorized by a person conducting a hearing may administer oaths for the purpose of taking evidence;
- (e) the exchange, self-regulatory organization or quotation and trade reporting system may, on behalf of a person conducting a hearing,
 - (i) summon and enforce the attendance of witnesses, and
 - (ii) make applications to the Court of Queen's Bench under clause (b);
- (f) the provisions of the *Alberta Rules of Court* compelling the attendance of witnesses, including provisions relating to the payment of fees, expenses and allowances, apply in respect of the conduct of hearings referred to in this section.

(2) Where an exchange, a self-regulatory organization or a quotation and trade reporting system referred to in subsection (1) has made a decision after conducting a hearing, the exchange, self-regulatory organization or quotation and trade reporting system, as the case may be, may at any time file a certified copy of that decision with the clerk of the Court of Queen's Bench, and on being filed with the clerk of the Court of Queen's Bench that decision has the same force and effect as if it were a judgment of the Court of Queen's Bench.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s69;2009 c53 s169

Appointment of receivers, managers, trustees or liquidators

70(1) A recognized exchange or a recognized self-regulatory organization may apply to the Court of Queen's Bench for the appointment of a receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator for all or part of the undertaking and affairs of a member of that exchange or self-regulatory organization.

(2) On an application being made under this section, the Court may appoint a receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator of all or any part of the property of the member if the Court is satisfied that it is in the best interests of

- (a) the recognized exchange or recognized self-regulatory organization,
- (b) the public,
- (c) those persons or companies whose property is in the possession or under the control of the member,

- (d) the security holders or partners of the member, or
- (e) the creditors of the member.

(3) An application under subsection (1) may be made ex parte if the Court considers it proper to do so in the circumstances.

(4) If an application under this section is made ex parte, the Court may make an order appointing a receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator for a period not exceeding 15 days.

(5) A receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator of the property of a member appointed under this section shall be the receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator of all or part of the property

- (a) owned by the member, or
- (b) held by the member on behalf of or in trust for any other person or company.

(6) The receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator shall, if so directed by the Court,

- (a) have authority to wind up or manage the business and affairs of the member, and
- (b) exercise those powers that are necessary or incidental to the winding-up or management of the business and affairs of the member.

(7) Sections 49 to 55, with any necessary modifications, apply in respect of a receiver, receiver and manager, trustee or liquidator, as the case may be, appointed under this section.

2000 c17 s13

Acting as an exchange when not so recognized

71(1) If a person or company is not carrying on business as an exchange but is carrying on business as a quotation and trade reporting system or is otherwise facilitating transactions of securities or exchange contracts, the Commission may, if it considers it to be in the public interest to do so, make an order

- (a) declaring that the person or company is carrying on the business of an exchange, and
- (b) directing the person or company, as the case may be,
 - to cease carrying on business as a quotation and trade reporting system or otherwise facilitating transactions of securities or exchange contracts,

Section 72		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(ii)	not to carry on business as a quota reporting system unless the person recognized under section 68 as a q reporting system, and	or company is
	(iii)	not to carry on business as an exch person or company is recognized u an exchange.	
		mmission may make an order under this section on its or on the application of an interested person or	
	subsection (1	person or company is subject to an object to	
	(a) con	travenes that order, or	
	(b) is n	ot in compliance with that order.	2000 c17 s13
v	oluntary surro	ender of recognition	
	72 On appliself-regulator recognized q may accept, a Commission recognition c agency or qu considers that	ication by a recognized exchange, a ry organization, a recognized clearin uotation and trade reporting system subject to any terms and conditions may impose, the voluntary surrende of the exchange, self-regulatory orga- otation and trade reporting system i t it would not be prejudicial to the p rrender of the recognition.	ng agency or a , the Commission that the er of the anization, clearing f the Commission
F	administration a bylaw, rule practice of a organization,	son or company directly affected by n of, a direction, decision, order or , regulation, policy, procedure, inte recognized exchange, recognized so recognized clearing agency or reco orting system may appeal that direc	ruling made under rpretation or elf-regulatory ognized quotation

(2) Section 36 applies to an appeal made under this section.

order or ruling to the Commission.

(2.1) A person or company not required to be served with written notice of a direction, decision, order or ruling but entitled to appeal under subsection (1) may, notwithstanding section 36(1), commence an appeal by serving a written notice of appeal on the

Secretary either personally or by registered mail within 30 days from the day on which, in the opinion of the Commission, the person or company knew or reasonably ought to have known of the direction, decision, order or ruling.

(3) Notwithstanding section 36(4), where there is an appeal to the Commission of a direction, decision, order or ruling made by a recognized exchange, recognized self-regulatory organization or recognized quotation and trade reporting system, that exchange, self-regulatory organization or quotation and trade reporting system may be present and make representations at the appeal. RSA 2000 cS-4 s73;2011 c7 s7

74 Repealed 2005 c18 s13.

Part 5 Registration

Requirement to be registered

75(1) Unless registered in accordance with Alberta securities laws, a person or company shall not act as

- (a) a dealer,
- (b) an adviser, or
- (c) an investment fund manager.

(2) Unless registered in accordance with Alberta securities laws, an individual shall not, directly or indirectly,

- (a) act as a dealer on behalf of a person or company that is required to be registered under subsection (1),
- (b) act as an adviser on behalf of a person or company that is required to be registered under subsection (1), or
- (c) perform a prescribed function or duty for a person or company that is required to be registered under subsection (1).

(3) A registrant shall comply with any terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements imposed on the registrant's registration.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s75;2003 c32 s6;2007 c10 s6; 2010 c10 s17

Responsible person

75.1 A person or company required to be registered under section 75(1) shall appoint an individual to perform on its behalf a prescribed function or duty.

SECURITIES ACT

2007 c10 s7

Duty of care

75.2(1) Subject to subsections (2) and (3), a registrant shall deal fairly, honestly and in good faith with its clients.

(2) A registrant that manages the investment portfolio of a client through discretionary authority granted by the client shall act fairly, honestly and in good faith toward the client and in the client's best interest.

(3) Every investment fund manager shall

- (a) exercise the powers and discharge the duties of its office honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the investment fund, and
- (b) exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person or company would exercise in the circumstances.

2007 c10 s7

Registration by Executive Director

76(1) Unless it appears to the Executive Director that

- (a) an applicant is not suitable for registration, reinstatement of registration or amendment of registration, or
- (b) the proposed registration, reinstatement of registration or amendment of registration is objectionable,

the Executive Director shall grant to the applicant the registration, reinstatement of registration or amendment of registration applied for.

(2) The Executive Director may, at any time, impose terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements on a registration.

(3) The Executive Director shall not impose terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements on a registration, or refuse to grant, reinstate or amend a registration, without giving the registrant or applicant an opportunity to be heard.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s76;2006 c30 s9;2007 c10 s8

Suspension or termination of registration

76.1(1) The Executive Director may suspend or terminate a registration if the Executive Director considers that it is in the public interest to do so.

(2) The Executive Director shall not suspend or terminate a registration under subsection (1) without giving the registrant an opportunity to be heard.

2007 c10 s8

77 Repealed 2006 c30 s10.

Surrender of registration

78(1) If a registrant applies to surrender its registration, the Executive Director shall accept the surrender unless the Executive Director considers it prejudicial to the public interest to do so.

(2) On receiving an application under subsection (1), the Executive Director may, without providing an opportunity to be heard, suspend the registration or impose terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements on the registration.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s78;2003 c32 s7;2006 c30 s11; 2007 c10 s9

79 Repealed 2006 c30 s12.

80 Repealed 2006 c30 s13.

81 Repealed 2006 c30 s14.

Further information

82 The Executive Director may require one or more of the following:

- (a) that further information or material be submitted by an applicant or a registrant within a specified time;
- (b) that there be verification by affidavit or otherwise of any information or material then or previously submitted;
- (c) that
 - (i) the applicant or the registrant, or

Section 90	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4

 (ii) any partner, officer, director, governor or trustee of, or any person performing a like function for, or any employee of the applicant or registrant,

submit to examination under oath by a person designated by the Executive Director.

1981 cS-6.1 s61;1988 c7 s1(43);1995 c28 s62

83 Repealed 2006 c30 s15.

84 to 89 Repealed 2005 c18 s14.

Part 7 Trading in Securities and Exchange Contracts Generally

Requirements for confirmation of trade

90(1) Subject to the regulations, every registered dealer who has acted as principal or agent in connection with any trade in a security or an exchange contract shall promptly send to the customer a written confirmation of the transaction prepared in accordance with the regulations.

(2) Every dealer who has acted as agent in connection with a trade in a security or an exchange contract shall, at the request of the Executive Director, promptly

- (a) make a reasonable inquiry in order to provide to the Executive Director particulars that are sufficient to identify, and
- (b) provide to the Executive Director the name of and those particulars arising from the inquiry that are sufficient to identify,

the person or company from, to or through whom the security or exchange contract was bought or sold.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s90;2011 c7 s8

Attendance on or calls to residences

91(1) The Executive Director may, by order, suspend, cancel, restrict or impose terms and conditions on the right of any person or company or class of persons or companies named or described in the order to

- (a) attend at a residence, or
- (b) call to a residence by telephone,

for the purpose of trading in any security or exchange contract or any class of securities or exchange contracts.

(2) The Executive Director shall not make an order under subsection (1) without giving the person or company or class of persons or companies affected an opportunity to have a hearing before the Executive Director.

1981 cS-6.1 s69;1988 c7 s1(43);1991 c33 s20;1995 c28 s62

Prohibitions respecting representations

92(1) Unless otherwise permitted by the Executive Director, no person or company shall represent that the person or company or any other person or company will

- (a) resell or repurchase a security,
- (b) refund any purchase price of a security,
- (c) refund all or any margin or premium paid in respect of an exchange contract, or
- (d) assume all or part of an obligation under an exchange contract.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to a security that carries or is accompanied with

- (a) an obligation of the issuer to redeem or repurchase the security, or
- (b) a right of the owner of the security to require the issuer to redeem or repurchase the security.

(3) Subject to the regulations, no person or company, with the intention of effecting a trade in a security or exchange contract, shall

- (a) give any undertaking relating to the future value or price of the security or exchange contract,
- (b) except with the written permission of the Executive Director, make any representation
 - (i) that the security will be listed on any exchange or quoted on any quotation and trade reporting system, unless the exchange or quotation and trade reporting system has granted approval to the listing or quoting

Section 92		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4	
		of the security, conditional of consented to, or indicated the the representation, or		
	(ii)	that application has been ma any exchange or to quote th quotation and trade reportin	e security on any	
			nge or quotation and and securities of the ly listed on that exchange ition and trade reporting	
			or or otherwise, conditional or otherwise, indicated that it does not	
		or		
(iii) that application will be made to list the security on an quotation and trade reporting system,		e security on any		
	or			
	(c) rep	pealed 2005 c18 s15,		
	(d) en	gage in an unfair practice.		
	(4) No person shall represent that the person is offering to trade a security			
	(a) at	the market price, or		
	(b) at	a price related to the market pr	rice,	
	unless the person reasonably believes that a market for the security exists that is not made, created or controlled by the person, the person's employer or an affiliate or by a person or company for whom the person is acting in the transaction.			
	(4.1) No person or company shall make a statement that the person or company knows or reasonably ought to know			
		any material respect and at the e circumstances in which it is r		

RSA 2000

(i) is misleading or untrue, or

 does not state a fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to make the statement not misleading,

and

(b) would reasonably be expected to have a significant effect on the market price or value of a security or an exchange contract.

(5) For the purposes of this section, "unfair practice" means any one or more of the following:

- (a) putting unreasonable pressure on a person to purchase, hold or sell a security or an exchange contract;
- (b) taking advantage of a person's inability or incapacity to reasonably protect his or her own interest because of physical or mental infirmity, ignorance, illiteracy, age or inability to understand the character, nature or language of any matter relating to a decision to purchase, hold or sell a security or an exchange contract;
- (c) imposing terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements in respect of a transaction that are harsh, oppressive or excessively one-sided.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s92;2003 c32 s12;2005 c18 s15; 2008 c26 s6

Prohibited transaction

93 No person or company shall, directly or indirectly, engage or participate in any act, practice or course of conduct relating to a security or exchange contract that the person or company knows or reasonably ought to know will

- (a) result in or contribute to
 - (i) a false or misleading appearance of trading activity in a security or an exchange contract, or
 - (ii) an artificial price for a security or an exchange contract,

or

(b) perpetrate a fraud on any person or company. RSA 2000 cS-4 s93;2005 c18 s16

SECURITIES ACT

Duty to comply with Commission decisions

93.1 A person or company shall comply with decisions of the Commission or the Executive Director made under Alberta securities laws.

2005 c18 s17

Duty to comply with undertaking

93.2 A person or company that gives a written undertaking to the Commission or the Executive Director shall comply with the undertaking.

2005 c18 s17

Front running

93.3(1) In this section, "material order information" means information that relates to

- (a) the intention of a person or company responsible for making decisions about an investment portfolio to trade a security on behalf of the investment portfolio,
- (b) the intention of a registrant trading on behalf of an investment portfolio to trade a security on behalf of the investment portfolio, or
- (c) an unexecuted order, or the intention of any person or company to place an order, to trade a security,

and that, if disclosed, would reasonably be expected to affect the market price of the security.

(2) A person or company that knows of material order information shall not, and shall not recommend or encourage another person to,

- (a) purchase or sell the securities to which the material order information relates,
- (b) acquire, dispose of, or exercise a put or call option or other right or obligation to purchase or sell the securities,
- (c) enter into a related financial instrument or acquire or dispose of rights or obligations under a related financial instrument, or
- (d) change that person's
 - direct or indirect beneficial ownership of, or control or direction over,
 - (A) the securities, or

or

(ii) interest in, or rights or obligations associated with, a related financial instrument.

(3) A person or company that knows of material order information shall not inform another person or company of the material order information unless it is necessary in the course of the person's or company's business.

2005 c18 s17

RSA 2000

Obstruction of justice

93.4(1) A person or company shall not, and shall not attempt to, destroy, conceal or withhold any information, property or thing reasonably required for a hearing, review or investigation under this Act.

(2) A person or company contravenes subsection (1) if the person or company knows or ought reasonably to know that a hearing, review or investigation is to be conducted and takes any action referred to in subsection (1) before the hearing, review or investigation.

2005 c18 s17

Dealer as principal

94(1) If a registered dealer, with the intention of effecting a trade in a security with any person or company other than another registered dealer,

- (a) proposes to act in the trade as a principal, and
- (b) makes any statement in writing to the person or company in respect of the security,

the registered dealer shall disclose in the statement that the registered dealer acts as a principal.

(2) A statement made under subsection (1) shall be made by the registered dealer before the registered dealer

- (a) enters into a contract for the sale or purchase of the security, or
- (b) accepts payment or receives any security or other consideration under or in anticipation of the contract,

whichever occurs first.

(3) A statement made in compliance with this section or the regulations that a registered dealer proposes to act or has acted as principal in connection with a trade in a security does not prevent that dealer from acting as agent in connection with a trade of the security.

(4) This section does not apply to trades in respect of which the regulations provide that registration is not required. RSA 2000 cS-4 s94;2005 c18 s18

95 Repealed 2007 c10 s11.

96 Repealed 2007 c10 s12.

Disclosure by registered dealer

97(1) A registered dealer shall provide to any of its customers, within 30 days after receiving the customer's request,

- (a) the names of the officers and the partners or the directors, as the case may be, of the dealer as of the date of the request or any other date specified in the request,
- (b) the names of any person or company having directly or indirectly an interest of not less than 5% of the registered dealer's capital, and
- (c) the most recently prepared annual financial statement of the dealer's financial position as filed
 - (i) with the self-regulatory organization of which the dealer is a member, or
 - (ii) with the Executive Director,

that is made up and certified as required by the regulations.

(2) A registered dealer shall inform its customers on every statement of account or in another manner as the Executive Director may approve that the information referred to in subsection (1) is available.

(3) If the Executive Director determines that a registered dealer or a class of registered dealers is

- (a) pursuant to the conditions of registration, or
- (b) in regulations imposed by a self-regulating organization,

required to provide to customers information similar to the information required under subsections (1) and (2), the Executive Director may by order exempt the registered dealer or class of registered dealers from the requirements of subsections (1) and (2). RSA 2000 cS-4 s97;2007 c10 s13

Provision of risk disclosure statement

98 Subject to the regulations, a registered dealer or adviser shall provide a risk disclosure statement to a customer prior to opening an account for trading in exchange contracts in respect of that customer.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s98;2007 c10 s14

Use of name

99 No registrant shall use the name of another registrant unless the first-mentioned registrant is a partner, officer or agent of or is authorized to do so in writing by the other registrant.

1981 cS-6.1 s75

Representation or holding out of registration

100(1) A person or company shall not represent that the person or company is registered under this Act unless

- (a) the representation is true, and
- (b) in making the representation, the person or company specifies the person or company's category of registration under this Act and the regulations.

(2) A person or company shall not make a statement about something that a reasonable investor would consider important in deciding whether to enter into or maintain a trading or advising relationship with the person or company if the statement is untrue or omits information necessary to prevent the statement from being false or misleading in the circumstances in which it is made. RSA 2000 cS-4 s100;2006 c30 s16

Representations

101 No person or company shall make any representation that the Commission, a member of the Commission, the Executive Director, the Secretary or any person employed by the Commission has in any manner expressed an opinion or passed judgment on

(c) an issuer's disclosure.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s101;2008 c26 s7

Margin contracts

102(1) If

- (a) a person or a partner or employee of a partnership or a director, officer or employee of a company,
 - (i) after he or she or the partnership or company has contracted as a registered dealer with a customer to buy and carry on margin any securities of an issuer either in Canada or elsewhere, and
 - (ii) while the contract referred to in subclause (i) continues, he or she or the partnership or company sells or causes to be sold securities of the same issuer for any account in which the person, a partner or employee of the partnership or the company or a director of the company, as the case may be, has a direct or indirect interest,
 - and
- (b) the effect of the sale referred to in clause (a)(ii) would, otherwise than unintentionally, be to reduce the amount of the securities in the hands of the dealer or under its control in the ordinary course of business to below the amount of the securities that the dealer should be carrying for all its customers,

the dealer shall disclose that fact to the customer and the contract with the customer is, at the option of the customer, voidable.

(2) If a customer exercises the customer's option under subsection (1) to void a contract, the customer may recover from the dealer

- (a) all the money paid by that customer with interest on it, and
- (b) securities deposited by that customer,

as the case may be, in respect of that contract.

(3) The customer may exercise the option referred to in subsection (1) within 30 days from the day that the disclosure was made under subsection (1) by sending a notice to that effect to the dealer. 1981 cS-6.1 s77

Declaration of short position

103 A person or company,

- (a) that places an order for the sale of a security through a registered dealer that is acting as the person's or company's agent, and
- (b) that,
 - (i) at the time of placing the order, does not own the security, or
 - (ii) if acting as agent, knows the person's or company's principal does not own the security,

shall, at the time of placing the order to sell, declare to the registered dealer that the person or company or the person's or company's principal, as the case may be, does not own the security. 1981 cS-6.1 s78

Rights of beneficial owners

104(1) Subject to subsection (5), voting securities of an issuer registered in the name of

- (a) a registrant or in the name of the registrant's nominee, or
- (b) a custodian or in the name of the custodian's nominee, if the issuer is a mutual fund that is a reporting issuer,

that are not beneficially owned by the registrant or the custodian, as the case may be, shall not be voted by the registrant or custodian at any meeting of security holders of the issuer.

- (2) Where
 - (a) the registrant or custodian referred to in subsection (1) has received a copy of a notice
 - (i) of a meeting of security holders of an issuer,
 - (ii) of a take-over bid circular, issuer bid circular or exempt offer relating to securities of an issuer, or

(iii) of a rights offering,

and

(b) the beneficial owner has agreed to pay the reasonable costs to be incurred by the registrant or custodian,

the registrant or custodian, as the case may be, shall promptly send to the beneficial owner of the securities a copy of that notice and any other notice, financial statement, information circular, take-over bid circular, issuer bid circular, directors' circular, director's circular, officer's circular or other similar material respecting those securities that is received by the registrant or custodian.

(3) Subsection (2) only applies if the registrant or custodian knows the name and address of the beneficial owner of the securities

- (a) at the record date for notice of the meeting of security holders,
- (b) at the date of the take-over bid, issuer bid or exempt offer, or
- (c) at the date of the rights offering,

as the case may be.

(4) At the request of a registrant or custodian, the person or company sending material referred to in subsection (2) shall promptly furnish to the registrant or custodian, at the expense of the sender, the requisite number of copies of the material.

(5) A registrant or custodian shall vote or give a proxy requiring a nominee to vote any voting securities referred to in subsection (1) in accordance with any written voting instructions received from the beneficial owner.

(6) A registrant or custodian shall, if requested in writing by a beneficial owner, give to the beneficial owner or the beneficial owner's nominee a proxy enabling the beneficial owner or the beneficial owner's nominee to vote any voting securities referred to in subsection (1).

(7) For the purposes of this section, "custodian" means a person or company that

- (a) has physical possession of securities, and
- (b) holds the securities for another person or company.

1981 cS-6.1 s79

105 Repealed 2007 c10 s15.

Part 8 Trading in Exchange Contracts

Trading on recognized exchange, etc.

106 No person or company shall trade in an exchange contract on an exchange in Alberta unless

- (a) the exchange is recognized by the Commission under section 62, and
- (b) the form of the exchange contract has been accepted by the Commission.

1991 c33 s25;1995 c28 s62

Form of exchange contract

107(1) For the purposes of section 106(b), the Commission, on application by an exchange, may by order accept the form of an exchange contract.

(2) The Commission shall not refuse to accept the form of an exchange contract without giving the applicant an opportunity to have a hearing before the Commission.

1991 c33 s25;1995 c28 s62

Trading on recognized exchange

108 A registrant shall not trade in an exchange contract on behalf of another person or company on an exchange located outside Alberta unless the exchange is recognized by the Commission. 1991 c33 s25;1995 c28 s62

Recognition of exchange

109(1) For the purposes of section 108, the Commission, on application by an exchange or on the Commission's own motion, may by order recognize an exchange located outside Alberta.

(2) The Commission shall not refuse to recognize an exchange under subsection (1) without giving the applicant an opportunity to have a hearing before the Commission.

1991 c33 s25;1995 c28 s32

Part 9 Distribution by Prospectuses

Filing prospectus

110(1) No person or company shall trade in a security on the person's or company's own account or on behalf of any other person or company if the trade would be a distribution of the security unless

- (a) a preliminary prospectus has been filed and the Executive Director has issued a receipt for it, and
- (b) a prospectus has been filed and the Executive Director has issued a receipt for it.

(2) A preliminary prospectus and a prospectus may be filed in accordance with this Part to enable the issuer to become a reporting issuer, notwithstanding the fact that no distribution is contemplated.

1981 cS-6.1 s81;1995 c28 s62

Preliminary prospectus

111(1) A preliminary prospectus shall, subject to subsection (2), comply with the requirements of Alberta securities laws respecting the form and content of a prospectus.

(2) The report or reports of the auditor or accountant required by the regulations and any information with respect to

- (a) the price to the underwriter,
- (b) the offering price of any securities, and
- (c) matters dependent on or relating to those prices,

may be omitted from a preliminary prospectus. RSA 2000 cS-4 s111;2008 c26 s19

Receipt for preliminary prospectus

112 The Executive Director shall promptly issue a receipt for a preliminary prospectus on the filing of the preliminary prospectus. 1981 cS-6.1 s83;1995 c28 s62

Prospectus and supplemental material

113(1) A prospectus shall

Section 119		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(a)	provide full, true and plain disclo relating to the securities proposed distributed, and	
	(b)	comply with the requirements of	Alberta securities laws.
		prospectus shall contain or be accompanied with finan ents, reports or other documents in accordance with Al	
		RS	A 2000 cS-4 s113;2008 c26 s19
	114 R	epealed 2006 c30 s17.	
	115 R	epealed 2006 c30 s18.	
	116 R	epealed 2006 c30 s19.	
	117 R	epealed 2006 c30 s20.	
	118 R	epealed 2006 c30 s21.	
С		ns of prospectus	requirements of the

119(1) If a person or company meets the requirements of the regulations, that person or company may file in accordance with the regulations

- (a) a preliminary short form prospectus, a short form prospectus, a pro forma short form prospectus or an exchange offering prospectus, or
- (b) any other prospectus not referred to in clause (a) that is permitted by the regulations.

(2) The filing of a prospectus referred to in subsection (1) shall constitute compliance with this Part on the issuance of a receipt for that prospectus.

1984 c64 s21

RSA 2000

Receipt for prospectus

120(1) Subject to subsection (2), the Executive Director shall issue a receipt for a prospectus filed under this Part unless the Executive Director considers that it is not in the public interest to do so.

		cutive Director shall not issue a receipt for a nder this Part if the Executive Director considers that	
(a)	the prospectus or any document required to be filed with it		
	(i)	does not comply in any substantial respect with any of the requirements of this Part or the regulations,	
	(ii)	contains any statement, promise, estimate or forward looking information that is micloading, folse	

SECURITIES ACT

e or forward-looking information that is misleading, false or deceptive, or

RSA 2000

Chapter S-4

- (iii) contains a misrepresentation,
- (b) an unconscionable consideration has been paid or given or is intended to be paid or given for any services or promotional purposes or for the acquisition of property,
- (c) the aggregate of
 - (i) the proceeds from the sale of the securities under the prospectus that are to be paid into the treasury of the issuer, and
 - (ii) the other resources of the issuer

is insufficient to accomplish the purpose of the issue stated in the prospectus,

- (d) the issuer cannot reasonably be expected to be financially responsible in the conduct of its business because of the financial condition of
 - (i) the issuer,
 - (ii) any of the issuer's officers, directors, promoters or control persons, or
 - (iii) the investment fund manager of the issuer or any of the investment fund manager's officers, directors or control persons,
- (e) the business of the issuer may not be conducted with integrity and in the best interests of the security holders of the issuer because of the past conduct of
 - (i) the issuer,
 - (ii) any of the issuer's officers, directors, promoters or control persons, or

Section 122		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
		 (iii) the investment fund manager of the i the investment fund manager's office control persons, 	
	(f)	a person or company that has prepared or part of the prospectus, or that is named as or certified a report or valuation used in ce the prospectus, is not acceptable,	having prepared
	(g)	an escrow or pooling agreement in the for Executive Director considers necessary or respect to the securities has not been enter	advisable with
	(h)	adequate arrangements have not been made holding in trust of the proceeds payable to the sale of securities pending the distribut securities.	the issuer from

(3) No person or company filing a prospectus shall be refused a receipt for that prospectus without being given an opportunity to be heard.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s120;2006 c30 s22

121 Repealed 2006 c30 s23.

Distribution of previously issued securities

122(1) If a person or company proposing to make a distribution of previously issued securities of an issuer is unable to obtain from the issuer of the securities information or material that is necessary for the purpose of the distribution or for enabling that person or company to comply with this Part and the regulations, the Executive Director may order the issuer of the securities to give to the person or company that proposes to make the distribution that information and material that the Executive Director considers necessary for the purposes of the distribution or for enabling that person or company to comply with this Part and the regulations.

(2) If a person or company proposing to make a distribution of previously issued securities of an issuer is unable to obtain the signatures to the certificates required by this Part or the regulations or otherwise to comply with this Part or the regulations, the Executive Director, on being satisfied that

- (a) all reasonable efforts have been made to comply with this Part and the regulations, and
- (b) no person or company is likely to be prejudicially affected by the failure to comply with this Part or the regulations,

may make an order waiving any of the provisions of this Part or the regulations as the Executive Director considers advisable to facilitate the distribution.

1981 cS-6.1 s98;1988 c7 s1(43);1995 c28 s62

Part 10 Distribution Generally

Distribution of material

123 During the period of time between the issuance of a receipt for a preliminary prospectus and the issuance of a receipt for a prospectus it is permitted to do the following:

- (a) communicate with any person or company
 - (i) identifying the security proposed to be issued,
 - (ii) stating the price of the security if it is then determined,
 - (iii) stating the name and address of a person or company from whom purchases of the security may be made, and
 - (iv) any further information as may be permitted or required by the regulations,

if every communication states the name and address of a person or company from whom a preliminary prospectus may be obtained;

- (b) distribute a preliminary prospectus;
- (c) solicit expressions of interest from a prospective purchaser if, prior to the solicitation or promptly after the prospective purchaser indicates an interest in purchasing the security, a copy of the preliminary prospectus is forwarded to the prospective purchaser.

1981 cS-6.1 s99

- **124** Repealed 2006 c30 s24.
- **125** Repealed 2006 c30 s25.

Defective preliminary prospectus

126(1) If it appears to the Executive Director that a preliminary prospectus is defective in that it does not substantially comply with

the requirements of Alberta securities laws as to form and content, the Executive Director may, without giving notice, order that the trading permitted under section 123 in the security to which the preliminary prospectus relates cease.

(2) An order made under subsection (1) remains in force until a revised preliminary prospectus satisfactory to the Executive Director is filed and forwarded to each recipient of the defective preliminary prospectus who was shown on the record maintained in accordance with the regulations to have received the defective preliminary prospectus.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s126;2006 c30 s26;2008 c26 s19

Material given on distribution

127 From the date that the Executive Director issues a receipt for a prospectus, a person or company trading in the security in a distribution pursuant to the prospectus, shall not distribute any material respecting the security that is prohibited by the regulations or by an order made by the Executive Director under section 76 or 105.

1981 cS-6.1 s103;1988 c7 s1(43);1995 c28 s62

Order to cease trading

128(1) If it appears to the Commission, after a receipt is issued for a prospectus, that any of the circumstances set out in section 120(2) exist, the Commission may order that the distribution of the securities under the prospectus cease.

(2) An order made under this section shall be served by the Commission on

- (a) the issuer of the securities to which the prospectus relates, and
- (b) any person or company that the Commission so directs.
- (3) On receipt of the order,
 - (a) distribution of the securities pursuant to the prospectus by the person or company named in the order shall cease, and
 - (b) any receipt issued by the Executive Director for the prospectus is revoked.

(4) An order shall not be made under subsection (1) without the issuer being given an opportunity to have a hearing before the Commission.

1981 cS-6.1 s104;1988 c7 s1(41);1995 c28 s62

Obligation to deliver prospectus

129 A dealer, not acting as an agent of the purchaser, who receives an order or subscription for a security offered in a distribution to which section 110(1) or 121 applies, unless the dealer has previously done so, shall send to a purchaser of the security the latest prospectus and any amendment to the prospectus filed either

- (a) before entering into an agreement of purchase resulting from the order or subscription, or
- (b) not later than midnight on the 2nd day, exclusive of Saturdays and holidays, after entering into the agreement. 1981 cS-6.1 s105;1984 c64 s25

Revocation of purchase

130(1) An agreement to purchase securities offered in a subscription to which section 110(1) or 121 applies is not binding on the purchaser if the dealer receives, not later than midnight on the 2nd day exclusive of Saturdays and holidays, after receipt by the purchaser of the latest prospectus or any amendment to the prospectus, notice in writing that the purchaser does not intend to be bound by the agreement of purchase.

(2) A beneficial owner who is not the purchaser under this section may exercise the same rights under subsection (1) as may be exercised by a purchaser.

(3) A purchaser referred to in subsection (1) who is not the beneficial owner of the securities shall advise the person or company that is the beneficial owner of the securities of the provisions of subsections (1) and (2).

(4) Subsection (3) only applies if the purchaser knows the name and address of the beneficial owner of the securities.

(5) Subsections (1) to (3) do not apply if the beneficial owner of the securities is a registrant.

(6) The receipt of the notice referred to in subsection (1) by a dealer is deemed to be receipt of the notice by the vendor of the security.

(7) The onus of proving that the time for giving notice under subsection (1) has expired is on the dealer from whom the purchaser has agreed to purchase the security.

1981 cS-6.1 s106

Part 11 Exemptions from Prospectus Requirements

131 to **132** Repealed 2005 c18 s19.

133 to **140** Repealed 2003 c32 s16.

Reporting issuer — default

141 The Commission may publish a list of defaulting reporting issuers.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s141;2003 c32 s17;2006 c30 s29

142 and **143** Repealed 2005 c18 s20.

Discretionary exemptions

144(1) The Commission may, if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so, make an order granting an exemption from section 75 or 110.

(2) The Commission may, if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so, make an order that a trade, an intended trade or a class of trades or intended trades is deemed to be a distribution.

(3) The Commission may, if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so, make an order declaring whether a distribution has been concluded or is still in progress.

(4) An order under this section may be made by the Commission on its own motion or on an application of a person or company directly affected by the trade in respect of which the application is being made.

(5) An order made under subsection (1) may, at the direction of the Commission, come into force on a date prior to the date on which the order is made.

(6) A decision of the Commission under this section is final and there is no appeal from it.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s144;2007 c10 s16

Reporting issuer by declaration 145(1) On

- (a) the application of an issuer, or
- (b) the motion of the Executive Director,

the Commission may, if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so, make an order declaring that a person or company is a reporting issuer for the purposes of this Act and the regulations.

(2) An order under subsection (1) shall not be made without giving the person or company in respect of which the order is made an opportunity to have a hearing before the Commission. 1981 cS-6.1 s117;1984 c64 s37;1988 c7 s1(20); 1995 c28 s41;1999 c15 s28

Part 12 Continuous Disclosure

Disclosure generally

146 A reporting issuer shall, in accordance with the regulations,

- (a) provide prescribed periodic disclosure about its business and affairs,
- (b) provide disclosure of a material change, and
- (c) provide other prescribed disclosure. RSA 2000 cS-4 s146;2003 c32 s18;2006 c30 s30

Disclosure of material fact or change

147(1) For the purposes of subsection (2), a security of a reporting issuer includes

- (a) a put, call, option or other right or obligation to purchase or sell securities of the reporting issuer, or
- (b) a security the market price of which varies materially with the market price of the securities of the reporting issuer.

(2) No person or company in a special relationship with a reporting issuer shall purchase or sell securities of the reporting issuer with the knowledge of a material fact or material change with respect to the reporting issuer that has not been generally disclosed.

(3) No reporting issuer or person or company in a special relationship with a reporting issuer shall, other than when it is necessary in the course of business, inform another person or company of a material fact or material change with respect to the

reporting issuer before the material fact or material change has been generally disclosed.

(3.1) No reporting issuer or person or company in a special relationship with a reporting issuer with knowledge of a material fact or material change with respect to the reporting issuer that has not been generally disclosed shall recommend or encourage another person or company to

- (a) purchase or sell a security of the reporting issuer, or
- (b) enter into a transaction involving a security the value of which is derived from or varies materially with the market price or value of a security of the reporting issuer.
- (4) No person or company that proposes
 - (a) to make a take-over bid, as defined in Part 14, for the securities of a reporting issuer,
 - (b) to become a party to a reorganization, amalgamation, merger, arrangement or similar business combination with a reporting issuer, or
 - (c) to acquire a substantial portion of the property of a reporting issuer,

shall, other than when it is necessary in the course of business for the carrying out of the take-over bid, business combination or acquisition, inform another person or company of a material fact or material change with respect to the reporting issuer before the material fact or material change has been generally disclosed.

(5) No person or company shall be found to have contravened subsection (2) if that person or company does one or more of the following:

- (a) proves that
 - (i) the person or company had knowledge of the material fact or material change by reason only that the material fact or material change was known to one or more of that person's or company's directors, officers, partners, employees or agents,
 - (ii) in the case where that person is an individual, that person did not have any actual knowledge of the material fact or material change,
 - (iii) the decision to purchase or sell the securities was made by that person's or company's director, officer, partner, employee or agent who did not have any

Section 147		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
		actual knowledge of the material fa change, and	ct or material
	(iv)	the person's or company's director, employee or agent who had actual I material fact or material change did to the purchase or sale of the securi specific advice based on that know person's or company's director, off employee or agent who made the de purchase or sell the securities;	knowledge of the l not, with respect ities, give any ledge to that icer, partner,
(b)	pro	ves that the person or company	
	(i)	purchased or sold the securities, as another person or company pursuar	
		(A) an unsolicited order, or	
		 (B) a solicited order given prior to company that acted as agent h of the material fact or material 	aving knowledge
and			
	(ii)	did not, with respect to the purchas securities, give any specific advice person or company based on the kn material fact or change;	to that other
(c)	pur auto secu that pers	ves that the purchase or sale of the se suant to the person's or company's p omatic dividend reinvestment plan, a arity purchase plan or another similar the person or company had entered son or company acquiring knowledge or material change;	articipation in an n automatic r automatic plan into prior to the
(d)	pur had	ves that the purchase or sale of the se suant to a legal obligation that the pe entered into prior to the person or co wledge of the material fact or materi	rson or company ompany acquiring
(e)	pers	ves that the person or company, as ar son or company, purchased or sold th ilt of that other person's or company	ne securities as a
	(i)	participation in an automatic divide plan, an automatic security purchas similar automatic plan, or	

(ii) legal obligation.

(6) No person or company shall be found to have contravened subsection (2), (3), (3.1) or (4) if that person or company does one or more of the following:

- (a) proves that the person or company reasonably believed that the material fact or material change had been generally disclosed;
- (b) proves that the person or company reasonably believed that
 - (i) the other party to the purchase or sale of the securities, or
 - (ii) the other person or company informed of the material fact or material change,

had prior knowledge of or ought reasonably to have known of the material fact or material change.

(7) Where a person or company with knowledge of a material fact or material change with respect to a reporting issuer purchases or sells securities of that reporting issuer for the account of another person or company while acting as agent with discretionary authority for that other person or company, the person or company for whose account the securities were purchased or sold is not to be found to have contravened subsection (2) if

- (a) the transaction was entered into without the knowledge of the person or company for whose account the securities were purchased or sold,
- (b) the material fact or material change was not communicated to the person or company for whose account the securities were purchased or sold, or
- (c) the person or company for whose account the securities were purchased or sold had actual knowledge of the material fact or material change but did not exercise influence over or make recommendations to the person or company acting as the agent with the discretionary authority.

(8) It is not a contravention of this section to provide information to the Commission.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s147;2005 c18 s21

148 Repealed 2003 c32 s19.

149 to **152** Repealed 2006 c30 s31.

Deemed not to be a reporting issuer

153 On the application of a reporting issuer, the Commission may, if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so, make an order that the reporting issuer is deemed to have ceased to be a reporting issuer. 1981 cS-6.1 s125;1984 c64 s42;1988 c7 s1(41);1995 c28 s43;

1999 c15 s30

Part 13 Proxies and Proxy Solicitations

154 Repealed 2006 c30 s32.

155 and **156** Repealed 2003 c32 s24.

Voting — proxies

157(1) Notwithstanding that the form of proxy of those proxies present at a meeting specifies how a person or company whose proxy is solicited may vote the securities registered in the name of that person or company, the chair of the meeting may, subject to subsection (2), refuse to conduct a vote by way of ballot on a matter or group of matters.

- (2) At a meeting the vote shall be conducted by ballot if
 - (a) a poll is demanded by any security holder present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting, or
 - (b) the proxies
 - (i) require that the securities represented by them be voted against what would otherwise be the decision of the meeting in relation to those matters or group of matters being decided, and
 - (ii) represent more than 5% of all the voting rights attached to all the securities entitled to be voted and represented at the meeting.

1981 cS-6.1 s129

Proxies and information circular

157.1(1) Where the regulations provide for the form, content, filing and sending of information circulars or form of proxy, any person or company that sends or is required to send an information circular or a form of proxy to security holders of a reporting issuer must do so in accordance with those regulations.

(2) A proxy that is executed by a security holder may confer authority, and is subject to any restrictions, as prescribed or otherwise provided for under the regulations.

2003 c32 s25

Part 14 Take-over Bids and Issuer Bids

Interpretation

158 For the purposes of this Part,

- (a) "interested person" means
 - (i) an issuer whose securities are the subject of a takeover bid, issuer bid or other offer to acquire,
 - (ii) a security holder, director or officer of an issuer described in subclause (i),
 - (iii) an offeror,
 - (iv) the Executive Director, and
 - (v) any person or company not referred to in subclauses
 (i) to (iv) who, in the opinion of the Commission or the Court of Queen's Bench, as the case may be, is a proper person to make an application under section 179 or 180;
- (b) "issuer bid" means a direct or indirect offer to acquire or redeem a security or a direct or indirect acquisition or redemption of a security that is
 - (i) made by the issuer of the security, and
 - (ii) within a prescribed class of offers, acquisitions or redemptions;
- (c) "take-over bid" means a direct or indirect offer to acquire a security that is
 - (i) made directly or indirectly by a person or company other than the issuer of the security, and
 - (ii) within a prescribed class of offers to acquire. RSA 2000 cS-4 s158;2006 c30 s33

Making a bid

159 A person or company shall not make a take-over bid or issuer bid, whether alone or acting jointly or in concert with one or more persons, except in accordance with the regulations. RSA 2000 cS-4 s159;2006 c30 s33

Directors' or director's or officer's recommendation

160(1) When a take-over bid has been made, the directors of the issuer whose securities are the subject of the bid shall

- (a) determine whether to recommend acceptance or rejection of the bid or determine not to make a recommendation, and
- (b) make the recommendation, or a statement that they are not making a recommendation, in accordance with the regulations.

(2) An individual director or officer of the issuer described in subsection (1) may recommend acceptance or rejection of the take-over bid if the recommendation is made in accordance with the regulations.

2000 c30 s33

161 to **175** Repealed 2006 c30 s33.

176 to **178** Repealed 2006 c30 s34.

Applications to the Commission

179(1) On application by an interested person, if the Commission considers that a person has not complied or is not complying with this Part or the regulations, the Commission may make an order

- (a) restraining the distribution of any document, record or materials used or issued in connection with a take-over bid or issuer bid,
- (b) requiring an amendment to or variation of any document, record or materials used or issued in connection with a take-over bid or issuer bid and requiring the distribution of amended, varied or corrected information,
- (c) directing any person or company to comply with this Part or the regulations,

- (d) restraining any person or company from contravening this Part or the regulations, or
- (e) directing the directors and officers of any person or company to cause the person or company to comply with or to cease contravening this Part or the regulations.

(2) On application by an interested person, the Commission may order that a person or company is exempt from any requirement under this Part or the regulations if the Commission considers it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so. RSA 2000 cs-4 s179;2006 c30 s35

Applications to the court

Section 180

180(1) On application by an interested person, if the Court of Queen's Bench is satisfied that a person or company has not complied with this Part or the regulations, the Court of Queen's Bench may make an interim or final order as the court sees fit, including, without limitation, an order

- (a) compensating any interested person who is a party to the application for damages suffered as a result of a contravention of this Part or the regulations,
- (b) rescinding a transaction with any interested person, including the issue of a security or a purchase and sale of a security,
- (c) requiring any person or company to dispose of any securities acquired pursuant to or in connection with a take-over bid or issuer bid,
- (d) prohibiting any person or company from exercising any or all of the voting rights attached to any securities, or
- (e) requiring the trial of an issue.
- (2) If the Executive Director is not the applicant under subsection (1), the Executive Director
 - (a) must be given notice of the application, and
 - (b) is entitled to appear at the hearing and make representations to the Court of Queen's Bench. RSA 2000 cS-4 s180:2006 c30 s36

Part 15 Insider Trading and Self-dealing

Interpretation

181(1) In this Part,

- (a) "mutual fund" means, except in section 185, a mutual fund that is a reporting issuer;
- (b) "related mutual funds" includes more than one mutual fund under common management;
- (c) "related person or company" means, in relation to a mutual fund, a person in whom or a company in which, the mutual fund, its management company and its distribution company are prohibited by this Part from making any investment.
- (2) For the purposes of this Part,
 - (a) any issuer in which
 - (i) a mutual fund holds in excess of 10% of the voting securities, or
 - (ii) a mutual fund and related mutual funds hold in excess of 20% of the voting securities,

is deemed to be a related person or company of that mutual fund or of each of those mutual funds, as the case may be;

- (b) the acquisition or disposition of a put, call or other option with respect to a security is deemed to be a change in the beneficial ownership of the security to which the put, call or other option relates;
- (c) with respect to reporting under section 182, ownership is deemed to pass at the time
 - (i) an offer to sell is accepted by the purchaser or the purchaser's agent, or
 - (ii) an offer to buy is accepted by the vendor or the vendor's agent.

1981 cS-6.1 s146

Reports of insider

182 An insider of a reporting issuer shall file reports and make disclosure in accordance with the regulations.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s182;2006 c30 s38;2007 c10 s17

Early warning

182.1 If a person or company acquires beneficial ownership, directly or indirectly of, or direct or indirect control or direction over, securities of a prescribed type or class of a reporting issuer representing a prescribed percentage of the outstanding securities of that type or class, the person or company and any person or company acting jointly or in concert with the person or company shall make and file disclosure in accordance with the regulations and comply with any prohibitions in the regulations on transactions in securities of the reporting issuer.

2006 c30 s39

Report of a legal owner

183 If voting securities are registered in the name of a person or company other than the beneficial owner and the person or company knows that

- (a) the securities are beneficially owned by an insider, and
- (b) the insider has failed to file a report of ownership as required by this Part,

the person or company shall file with the Executive Director a report in accordance with the regulations unless the transfer to the person or company was for the purpose of giving collateral for a bona fide debt.

1981 cS-6.1 s150;1988 c7 s1(27);1995 c28 s62

Interpretation

184(1) For the purposes of sections 185 to 189,

- (a) "investment" means a purchase of any security or any class of securities of an issuer including loans to persons or companies, but does not include advances or loans, whether secured or unsecured, that
 - (i) are made by a mutual fund or its management company or distribution company, and
 - (ii) are ancillary to the main business of the mutual fund or its management company or distribution company;

Section 185	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
(b)	a person or company or a combination of persons or companies has a significant interest in an issuer, if,	
	(i) in the case of a person or company, the company, as the case may be, owns be either directly or indirectly, more than	eneficially,
	 (ii) in the case of a combination of person companies, they own beneficially, eit or together and either directly or indir than 50%, 	her individually
	of the outstanding shares or units of the iss	suer;
(c)	a person or company or a combination of p companies is a substantial security holder that person or company or combination of companies owns beneficially, either indivi- together or directly or indirectly, voting se which are attached more than 20% of the v attached to all the voting securities of the in- time being outstanding;	of an issuer if persons or idually or ecurities to voting rights
(d)	if a person or company or a combination of companies owns beneficially, directly or in securities of an issuer, that person or comp combination of persons or companies is de beneficially a proportion of voting securiti issuer that are owned beneficially, directly by the first mentioned issuer, in a proporti- to the proportion of the voting securities of mentioned issuer that are owned beneficial indirectly by that person or company or co- persons or companies.	ndirectly, voting bany or eemed to own des of any other or indirectly, on that is equal f the first lly, directly or
(2) For the purposes of subsection (1)(c), when computing the percentage of voting rights attached to voting securities owned b an underwriter there shall be excluded any voting securities acquired by the person as underwriter in a distribution of the securities up until the time of completion or cessation of the distribution by the underwriter.		ities owned by ecurities ion of the

Loans and investments of mutual funds

185(1) No mutual fund shall knowingly make an investment by way of loan to

(a) an officer or director of the mutual fund or its management company or its distribution company or an associate of any of them, or

Section 186			SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(b)	indi func	ndividual, if the individual or an associ vidual is a substantial security holder o l or its management company or its dis pany.	of the mutual
	(2) No 1	mutu	al fund shall knowingly make an inves	tment
	(a)	hold	person or company that is a substantia ler of the mutual fund or its manageme listribution company,	
	(b)	toge	person or company in which the mutua other with one or more related mutual f stantial security holder, or	
	(c)	in a	n issuer in which	
		(i)	an officer or director of the mutual fur management company or its distributi an associate of any of them has a sign or	ion company or
		(ii)	a person or company that is a substant holder of the mutual fund or its manage company or in which the mutual fund company has a significant interest.	gement
	compan	y sha	al fund or its management company or Il knowingly hold an investment that is this section at any time after July 31, 19	s an investment

Indirect investment

186(1) No mutual fund or its management company or its distribution company shall knowingly enter into any contract or other arrangement that results in its being directly or indirectly liable or contingently liable in respect of any investment by way of loan to or other investment in a person or company

- (a) to whom it is by section 185 prohibited from making a loan, or
- (b) in which it is prohibited from making an investment.

(2) For the purpose of section 185, a contract or other arrangement referred to in subsection (1) is deemed to be a loan or an investment, as the case may be.

1981 cS-6.1 s153

187 Repealed 2006 c30 s41.

Permitted investment — mutual fund

188 A mutual fund is not prohibited from making an investment in an issuer by reason only that a person or company or a combination of persons or companies that owns beneficially, directly or indirectly, voting securities of the mutual fund or its management company or its distribution company is by reason of the investment deemed under section 184(d) to own beneficially voting securities of the issuer.

1981 cS-6.1 s155

Fees on investment

189(1) No mutual fund shall make an investment in consequence of which a related person or company of the mutual fund will receive a fee or other compensation except fees paid pursuant to a contract that is disclosed in a preliminary prospectus or prospectus that is filed by the mutual fund and is accepted by the Executive Director.

(2) The Commission may

- (a) on the application of a mutual fund, and
- (b) if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so,

order that subsection (1) does not apply to the mutual fund. 1981 cS-6.1 s156;1988 c7 s1(41)(43);1995 c28 s48

190 Repealed 2007 c10 s18.

Filing by management companies

191(1) Every management company shall, in respect of each mutual fund to which it provides service or advice, file a report prepared in accordance with the regulations of the following matters within 30 days from the end of the month in which the matter occurred:

- (a) every transaction of purchase or sale of securities between the mutual fund and any related person or company;
- (b) every loan

Section 193		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(i)	received by the mutual fund fr	om, or
	(ii)	made by the mutual fund to,	
	any	of its related persons or compar	nies;
(c	thro whi from	ry purchase or sale effected by to bugh any related person or compar- tich the related person or compar- m the mutual fund or from the or issoction or from both;	any with respect to ny received a fee either
(d	insi fun	ry transaction, other than an arraider trading in portfolio securitie d is a joint participant with one sons or companies.	es, in which the mutual
		nmission may order that subsect action or class of transactions. 1981 cS-6.1 s158;	ion (1) does not apply 1988 c7 s1(41);1995 c28 s62
192	Repea	led 2008 c26 s8.	
Trades b	y mut	ual fund insiders	
193	No pei	rson or company that has access	to
(a		ormation concerning the investm tual fund, or	nent program of a
(b		investment portfolio managed f	or a client by an
		se or sell securities of an issuer f	for the person's or
(c) the	portfolio securities of	
	(i)	the mutual fund, or	
	(ii)	the investment portfolio managadviser	ged for a client by an

include securities of that issuer, and

 (d) the information is used by the person or company for the person's or company's direct benefit or advantage. RSA 2000 cS-4 s193;2008 c26 s9

Authorized exceptions to prohibitions

193.1 If the regulations so provide, a body established under section 193.2(1) by an investment fund may approve a transaction that is prohibited under this Part, in which case the prohibition does not apply to the transaction.

2006 c30 s43

Oversight, etc., of investment funds

193.2(1) If required to do so by the regulations, an investment fund shall establish and maintain a body for the purposes of overseeing activities of the investment fund and the investment fund manager, reviewing or approving prescribed matters affecting the investment fund, including transactions referred to in section 193.1, and disclosing information to security holders of the fund, to the investment fund manager and to the Commission.

(2) The body has such powers and duties as may be prescribed by the regulations.

2006 c30 s43

Part 16 Enforcement

General offences and penalties

194(1) A person or company that contravenes Alberta securities laws is guilty of an offence and is liable to a fine of not more than \$5 000 000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than 5 years less a day, or to both.

(2) No person or company is guilty of an offence under section 92(4.1) or 221.1 if the person or company, as the case may be, did not know, and in the exercise of reasonable diligence would not have known, that the statement referred to in that subsection was misleading or untrue or that it omitted to state a fact that was required to be stated or that was necessary to make the statement not misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.

(3) Every director or officer of a person or company or a person other than an individual who authorizes, permits or acquiesces in the commission of an offence under subsection (1) by the person or company, whether or not a charge has been laid or a finding of guilt has been made against the person or company in respect of the offence under subsection (1), is also guilty of an offence and is liable to a fine of not more than \$5 000 000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than 5 years less one day or to both.

(4) Despite the fine under subsection (1), a person or company that contravenes section 147 is guilty of an offence and is liable to a fine of

- (a) an amount not less than the profit made or the loss avoided by the person or company because of the contravention, and
- (b) an amount not more than the greater of
 - (i) \$5 000 000, and
 - (ii) an amount equal to triple the amount of the profit made or the loss avoided by the person or company because of the contravention.

(5) If it is not possible to determine the profit made or the loss avoided by a person or company by reason of the contravention, subsection (4) does not apply and subsection (1) applies.

(6) If a person or company is guilty of an offence under this section, the court

- (a) may make an order requiring the person or company to compensate or make restitution to an aggrieved person or company, and
- (b) may make any other order that the court considers appropriate in the circumstances. RSA 2000 cS-4 s194;2003 c32 s26;2005 c18 s22; 2008 c26 s10:2011 c7 s9

Interpretation

195(1) In this section,

- (a) "highest price received" means the highest price at which the seller sold any one security of the securities sold after the seller had knowledge of the material fact or material change;
- (b) "lowest price paid" means the lowest price paid by the purchaser for any one security of the securities that the purchaser purchased after the purchaser had knowledge of the material fact or material change;
- (c) "market price" means the weighted average market price of the securities as determined with respect to the first 20 trading days for that security following the general disclosure of the material fact or material change;
- (d) "purchaser" means a person or company that purchased securities in contravention of section 147(2);
- (e) "securities" means securities purchased or sold in contravention of section 147(2);

Section 196			SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(f)		er" means a person or company that ravention of section 147(2).	at sold securities in
(2)	For	the p	urposes of section 194(4) and (5),	
	(a)	rece 147(the 2	s avoided" means the amount by white ived for the security sold in contrav 2) exceeds the average trading pric 20 trading days following the gener erial fact or the material change;	vention of section be of the security in
	(b)	"pro	fit made" means	
		(i)	the amount by which the average t security in the 20 days following g of the material fact or the material the amount paid for the security pu contravention of section 147(2),	change exceeds
		(ii)	in respect of a short sale, the amou amount received for the security so contravention of section 147(2) ex trading price of the security in the following general disclosure of the the material change, or	old in ceeds the average 20 trading days
		(iii)	the value of any consideration rece another person or company of a m material change with respect to the in contravention of section 147(3) RSA 2000	aterial fact or e reporting issuer

Extra-provincial warrant

196(1) If a provincial judge, magistrate or justice of another province or territory issues a warrant for the arrest of a person on a charge of contravening any provision of a statute or regulation of that province that is similar to this Act or the regulations, a judge of the Provincial Court or justice of Alberta within whose jurisdiction that person is or is suspected to be, may, on satisfactory proof of the handwriting of the provincial judge, magistrate or justice who issued the warrant, make an endorsement on the warrant in the form prescribed by the regulations.

(2) A warrant endorsed under subsection (1) is sufficient authority to

- (a) the person bringing the warrant,
- (b) all persons to whom the warrant was originally directed, and

(c) all peace officers within the territorial jurisdiction of the judge of the Provincial Court or justice so endorsing the warrant,

to execute it within Alberta and to take the person arrested under it either out of or anywhere in Alberta and to re-arrest the person anywhere in Alberta.

(3) A peace officer of Alberta or of any other province or territory who is passing through Alberta having in the peace officer's custody a person arrested in another province or territory under a warrant endorsed under subsection (1) is entitled to hold, take and re-arrest the accused anywhere in Alberta under the warrant without proof of the warrant or the endorsement of it. RSA 2000 cS-4 s196;2008 c32 s29

Declaration of non-compliance

197(1) The Executive Director, in addition to any other rights that the Executive Director or the Commission may have, may, where the Executive Director considers it to be in the public interest to do so, apply to the Court of Queen's Bench for a declaration that a person or company has not complied with or is not complying with any provision of Alberta securities laws.

(2) Neither the Executive Director nor the Commission is required, before making an application under subsection (1), to hold a hearing to determine whether the person or company has not complied with or is not complying with any provision of Alberta securities laws.

(3) If the Court makes a declaration under subsection (1), the Court may, notwithstanding

- (a) the imposition of any penalty under section 194, or
- (b) any order made under section 198 or 199,

make any order under this section that the Court considers appropriate with respect to the person or company.

(4) Without limiting the generality of subsection (3), an order made under subsection (3) may include one or more of the following:

- (a) an order that the person or company comply with the provision or the decision;
- (b) an order that the person or company purchase securities of a security holder;

Section 198	SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
(c)	an order rescinding any transaction relati securities or exchange contracts;	ng to trading in
(d)	an order requiring the issuance, cancellat exchange or disposition of a security or e contract;	
(e)	an order prohibiting the voting or exercis right attaching to a security or exchange	
(f)	an order appointing officers and directors addition to all or any of the officers of th subject of the application;	
(g)	an order directing a person or company treview by the Commission of the person practices and procedures and to institute directed by the Commission;	's or company's
(h)	an order directing that the person or com security holder any part of the money par holder for a security or exchange contract	id by the security
(i)	an order requiring the person or company or make restitution to an aggrieved perso	
(j)	an order requiring the person or company or punitive damages to any other person	
(k)	an order requiring the person or company Minister any amounts obtained as a resul non-compliance with any provision of A laws.	lt of the
	application under this section may be mad irt of Queen's Bench otherwise directs. RSA 2000 cS-4 s197;2005	-
	ding order, etc.	- in the methic
	Where the Commission considers that it is to do so, the Commission may order one on ng:	

- (a) that trading in or purchasing cease in respect of any security or exchange contract as specified in the order;
- (b) that a person or company cease trading in or purchasing securities, exchange contracts, specified securities or a class of securities or exchange contracts as specified in the order;

Section 198	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	that the registration or recognition of a pounder Alberta securities laws be suspend for such period as is specified in the order terminated, or that terms, conditions, rest requirements be imposed on the registrat recognition;	erson or company led or restricted er or be trictions or
(b.2)	that a person or company be reprimanded	d;
(c)	that any or all of the exemptions contained securities laws do not apply to the person named in the order;	
(d)	that a person resign one or more position holds as a director or officer of an issuer, investment fund manager;	
(e)	that a person is prohibited from becomin director or officer or as both a director ar any issuer, registrant or investment fund	nd an officer of
(e.1)	that a person or company is prohibited fr securities or exchange contracts;	om advising in
(e.2)	that a person or company is prohibited fr acting as a registrant, investment fund ma promoter;	
(e.3)	that a person or company is prohibited fr management or consultative capacity in o activities in the securities market;	
(e.4)	that a person or company referred to in submit to a review of its practices and pr	
(e.5)	that a person or company referred to in sumake changes to its practices and proced	
(f)	that a person or company is prohibited fr to the public, or authorizing the dissemin public of, any information, document, re- material of any kind that is described in t	nation to the cord or other
(g)	that a person or company disseminate to method, if any, described in the order, th document, record or other material relatin of the registrant or issuer that the Commi- must be disseminated;	e information, ng to the affairs

Section 198		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(h)	that a person or company amend, in the in the order, any information or record or disseminated to the public as described	of any kind
	(i)	if a person or company has not complied securities laws, that the person or compa Commission any amounts obtained or pa avoided as a result of the non-compliant	any pay to the ayments or losses
	01) A ainst	An order under subsection (1)(e.4) or (e.5) may be made
	(a)	an exchange or a quotation and trade rep	porting system,
	(b)	a self-regulatory organization,	
	(c)	a clearing agency,	
	(d)	a registrant,	
	(e)	a partner, director, officer, insider or con registrant,	ntrol person of a
	(f)	a person providing record-keeping servi	ces to a registrant
	(g)	a person that manages a compensation, a similar fund formed to compensate clier advisers,	
	(h)	an issuer,	
	(i)	an investment fund manager or custodia securities of an investment fund,	n of assets or
	(j)	a transfer agent or registrar for securities	s of an issuer,
	(k)	a director, officer, insider or control per-	son of an issuer,
	(1)	a general partner of a person or company this subsection, or	y referred to in
	(m)	a person or company that the Commission exempt from a provision of Alberta secu	
hea	ard, m	ne Commission may, after providing an o nake an order under subsection (1)(a) to (or company if the person or company	
	(a)	has been convicted in Canada or elsewh	ere of an offence

Section 199			SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
		(i)	arising from a transaction, business o conduct related to securities or excha or	
		(ii)	under laws respecting trading in secu exchange contracts,	rities or
	(b)	con	been found by a court in Canada or els travened laws respecting trading in sec hange contracts,	
	(c)	auth	abject to an order made by a securities nority imposing sanctions, conditions, s irrements on the person or company, o	restrictions or
	(d)	subj	agreed with a securities regulatory aut ject to sanctions, conditions, restriction uirements.	
	a securit exchang trading i	ies c e or a n sec the s	osection (1.1), "securities regulatory au ommission, a self-regulatory organizat another person or body, empowered by curities or exchange contracts in, or to ecurities laws of, any province or territ	tion, an a law to regulate administer or
	heard, m director individu	ake or of al wl ntioi	commission may, after providing an opp an order under subsection $(1)(a)$ to (h) fficer of a company or of a person othe no authorizes, permits or acquiesces in n of Alberta securities laws or conduct st.	against a r than an the
			under subsection (1) , (1.1) or (1.2) is nditions that the Commission may imp	
			nmission shall not make an order under ucting a hearing. RSA 2000 cS-4 s198;2005 c 2007 c10 s19;2008 c26 s 2010	18 s25;2006 c30 s44;
ŀ	Administra 199(1)		penalty e Commission, after a hearing,	
	(a)		ermines that	
		(i)	a person or company has contravened comply with any provision of Alberta	

or

 (ii) a director or officer of a person or company or a person other than an individual authorized, permitted or acquiesced in a contravention or failure to comply with any provision of Alberta securities laws by the person or company,

and

(b) considers it to be in the public interest to make the order,

the Commission may order the person or company to pay an administrative penalty of not more than \$1 000 000 for each contravention or failure to comply.

(2) The Commission may make an order pursuant to this section notwithstanding the imposition of any other penalty or sanction on the person or company or the making of any other order by the Commission related to the same matter.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s199;2005 c18 s26;2006 c30 s45

Filing decision with Court

200(1) Where the Commission has made a decision after conducting a hearing, the Commission may at any time file a certified copy of that decision with the clerk of the Court of Queen's Bench, and on being filed with the clerk of the Court of Queen's Bench that decision has the same force and effect as if it were a judgment of the Court of Queen's Bench.

(2) Where a decision filed under subsection (1) includes an administrative penalty levied pursuant to section 199, the administrative penalty in the amount specified in the decision may be collected as a judgment of the Court of Queen's Bench for the recovery of debt.

1991 c33 s33;1995 c28 s62;1999 c15 s36

Limitation period

201 No proceedings under this Part shall be commenced in a court or before the Commission more than 6 years from the day of the occurrence of the event that gave rise to the proceedings. 1981 cS-6.1 s167;1988 c7 s1(32);1991 c33 s34;1995 c28 s62

Payment of costs

202(1) If, after conducting a hearing in respect of the affairs of a person or company, the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, is satisfied that the person or company has contravened Alberta securities laws or acted contrary to the public interest, the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, may order the person or company to pay, subject to the

regulations, costs of or related to the hearing or the investigation that led to the hearing, or both.

(2) Repealed 2010 c10 s19.

(3) Where a person or company is guilty of an offence under Alberta securities laws, the Executive Director may order the person or company to pay, subject to the regulations, the costs of any investigation carried out in respect of that offence, including any costs incurred in respect of services provided by persons appointed or engaged under section 28, 41 or 43 and the appearance of any witnesses under this Act.

(4) The Executive Director may prepare and file with the clerk of the Court of Queen's Bench a certificate certifying the amount of the costs that the person or company is required to pay under subsection (1) or (3).

(5) A certificate filed under subsection (4) with the clerk of the Court of Queen's Bench has the same force and effect as if it were a judgment of the Court of Queen's Bench for the recovery of debt in the amount specified in the certificate together with costs of filing.

(6) The *Alberta Rules of Court* with respect to costs and the review and assessment of costs do not apply to costs referred to in this section.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s202;2008 c26 s19; 2009 c53 s169;2010 c10 s19

Part 17 Civil Liability

Civil liability - prospectus

203(1) If a prospectus contains a misrepresentation, a purchaser who purchases a security offered by it during the period of distribution has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action for damages against

- (a) the issuer or a selling security holder on whose behalf the distribution is made,
- (b) each underwriter of the securities that is in a contractual relationship with the issuer or selling security holder on whose behalf the distribution is made,
- (c) every director of the issuer at the time the prospectus was filed,

Section 203		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4		
	(d)	every person or company whose consent to d information in the prospectus has been filed respect to reports, opinions or statements tha made by them, and	but only with		
	(e)	every person or company, other than the one in clauses (a) to (d), who signed the prospect			
	(2) If a prospectus contains a misrepresentation, a purchaser wh purchases a security offered by it during the period of distribution has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action for rescission against				
	(a)	the issuer or a selling security holder on who distribution is made,	se behalf the		
	(b)	each underwriter of the securities that is in a relationship with the issuer or selling security whose behalf the distribution is made, and			
	(c)	any other underwriter of the securities.			
	(3) If the purchaser elects to exercise a right of action for rescission against a person or company, the purchaser shall hav right of action for damages against that person or company.				
	the perso	berson or company is liable under subsection on or company proves that the purchaser purch s with knowledge of the misrepresentation.			
		berson or company, other than the issuer or se s liable under subsection (1) or (2) if the perso y proves			
	(a)	that the prospectus was filed without the person company's knowledge or consent and that, o aware of its filing, the person or company pr reasonable general notice that it was so filed	n becoming omptly gave		
	(b)	that, after the issue of a receipt for the prospectuation before the purchase of the securities by the purchase of any misrepresentation in prospectus the person or company withdrew or company's consent to it and gave reasonal notice of the withdrawal and the reason for it	urchaser, on the the person's ble general		
	(c)	that, with respect to any part of the prospectu to be made on the authority of an expert or p be a copy of or an extract from a report, opin statement of an expert, the person or compan reasonable grounds to believe and did not be	urporting to tion or ty had no		
		118			

Section 203		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(i)	there had been a misrepresentation,	
	(ii)	the part of the prospectus did not fairly report, opinion or statement of the expe	
	(iii)	the part of the prospectus was not a fair extract from the report, opinion or state expert;	
(d)	to b an e the stat fair	, with respect to any part of the prospective e made on the person's or company's own expert or purporting to be a copy of or an person's or company's own report, opini- ement as an expert, but that contains a representation attributable to a failure to ly the person's or company's report, opin- ement as an expert,	on authority as extract from on or represent
	(i)	the person or company had, after reason investigation, reasonable grounds to be believe that the part of the prospectus fa represented the person's or company's opinion or statement, or	lieve and did airly
	(ii)	on becoming aware that the part of the p not fairly represent the person's or com opinion or statement as an expert, the p company promptly advised the Executi and gave reasonable general notice that been made of it and that the person or c would not be responsible for that part o prospectus;	pany's report, erson or ve Director misuse had ompany
(e)	stat purj	, with respect to a false statement purpor ement made by an official person or cont ports to be a copy of or extract from a pu- ument,	ained in what
	(i)	it was a correct and fair representation of statement or copy of or extract from the and	
	(ii)	the person or company had reasonable a believe and did believe that the stateme	
holder, of the j compa or an e	is lial prospe ny's o xtract	on or company, other than the issuer or se- ble under subsection (1) or (2) with respe- ctus purporting to be made on the person wn authority as an expert or purporting to from the person's or company's own rep as an expert unless the person or compan	ect to any part i's or o be a copy of ort, opinion

- (a) did not conduct an investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no misrepresentation, or
- (b) believed there had been a misrepresentation.

(7) No person or company, other than the issuer or selling security holder, is liable under subsection (1) or (2) with respect to any part of the prospectus not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and not purporting to be a copy of or an extract from a report, opinion or statement of an expert unless the person or company

- (a) did not conduct an investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no misrepresentation, or
- (b) believed there had been a misrepresentation.

(8) No underwriter is liable for more than the total public offering price represented by the portion of the distribution underwritten by the underwriter.

(9) In an action for damages pursuant to subsection (1), the defendant is not liable for all or any portion of the damages that the defendant proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the security as a result of the misrepresentation relied on.

(10) All or any one or more of the persons or companies specified in subsection (1) that are found to be liable or accept liability under this section are jointly and severally liable.

- (11) If in a distribution of securities
 - (a) no receipt for a prospectus was issued,
 - (b) no exemption exists or was given exempting the filing of a prospectus, and
 - (c) a misrepresentation existed in respect of the distribution,

each purchaser of the securities has a right of rescission and a right of action for damages as if a prospectus containing a misrepresentation had been filed in respect of the distribution.

(12) Repealed 2005 c18 s27.

(13) The amount recoverable under this section shall not exceed the price at which the securities were offered to the public.

(13.1) A defendant who is found liable to pay a sum in damages may recover a contribution, in whole or in part, from a person who

is jointly and severally liable under this section to make the same payment in the same cause of action unless, in all circumstances of the case, the court is satisfied that it would not be just and equitable.

(14) The right of action for rescission or damages conferred by this section is in addition to and does not derogate from any other right that the purchaser may have at law.

(15) If a misrepresentation is contained in a record incorporated by reference in, or deemed incorporated into, a prospectus, the misrepresentation is deemed to be contained in the prospectus. RSA 2000 cS-4 s203;2003 c32 s27;2005 c18 s27; 2006 c30 s46;2007 c10 s20

Civil liability — offering memorandum

204(1) If an offering memorandum contains a misrepresentation when a person or company purchases a security offered by the offering memorandum, the purchaser has, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action

- (a) for damages against
 - (i) the issuer,
 - (ii) every director of the issuer at the date of the offering memorandum, and
 - (iii) every person or company who signed the offering memorandum,
 - and
- (b) for rescission against the issuer.

(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1)(b), if the purchaser elects to exercise a right of rescission against the issuer, the purchaser has no right of action for damages against a person or company referred to in subsection (1)(a).

(3) Where a misrepresentation is contained in an offering memorandum, no person or company is liable under subsection (1)

- (a) if the person or company proves that the purchaser had knowledge of the misrepresentation;
- (b) if the person or company proves that the offering memorandum was sent to the purchaser without the person's or company's knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of its being sent, the person or company

Section 204	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	promptly gave reasonable notice sent without the knowledge and company;	
(c)	if the person or company proves company, on becoming aware of the offering memorandum, with company's consent to the offerin reasonable notice to the issuer of reason for it;	The misrepresentation in drew the person's or ng memorandum and gave
(d)	if, with respect to any part of the purporting to be made on the aut purporting to be a copy of, or an opinion or statement of an exper proves that the person or compar reasonable grounds to believe an	hority of an expert or extract from, a report, t, the person or company ny did not have any
	(i) there had been a misreprese	entation, or
	(ii) the relevant part of the offer	ring memorandum
	(A) did not fairly represent statement of the expert	
	(B) was not a fair copy of, report, opinion or state	
(e)	with respect to any part of the of purporting to be made on the aut not purporting to be a copy of, or opinion or statement of an exper- company	hority of an expert and r an extract from, a report,
	 (i) did not conduct an investiga reasonable grounds for a be misrepresentation, or 	
	(ii) believed there had been a m	nisrepresentation.
	e amount recoverable under this se which the securities were offered andum.	
(5) Sub	esection (3)(b) to (e) do not apply t	to the issuer.
	n action for damages pursuant to s nt is not liable for all or any part of	

defendant is not liable for all or any part of the damages that the defendant proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the security as a result of the misrepresentation.

(7) All or any one or more of the persons or companies specified in subsection (1) that are found to be liable or accept liability under this section are jointly and severally liable.

(8) A defendant who is found liable to pay a sum in damages may recover a contribution, in whole or in part, from a person who is jointly and severally liable under this section to make the same payment in the same cause of action unless, in all circumstances of the case, the court is satisfied that it would not be just and equitable.

(9) The right of action for rescission or damages conferred by this section is in addition to and does not derogate from any other right that the purchaser may have at law.

(10) If a misrepresentation is contained in a record incorporated by reference in, or deemed incorporated into, an offering memorandum, the misrepresentation is deemed to be contained in the offering memorandum.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s204;2003 c32 s28;2007 c10 s21

Civil liability — circular

205(1) If a take-over bid circular or a notice of change or variation is sent to the holders of securities of an offeree issuer or to the holders of securities convertible into securities of an offeree issuer as required under the regulations and that document contains a misrepresentation, each of those holders may, without regard to whether the holders relied on the misrepresentation, elect to exercise a right of action

- (a) for rescission or damages against the offeror, or
- (b) for damages against
 - (i) every person who, at the time the circular or notice was signed, was a director of the offeror,
 - every person or company whose consent has been filed pursuant to a requirement of the regulations, but only with respect to reports, opinions or statements that have been made by them, and
 - (iii) each person, other than the ones referred to in subclause (i), who signed a certificate in the circular or notice.

(2) If a directors' circular or an individual director's or officer's circular or any notice of change or variation to one of those circulars is sent to security holders of an offeree issuer as required under the regulations and that document contains a

misrepresentation, each of the persons or companies to whom the circular or notice was sent is deemed to have relied on the misrepresentation, and

- (a) in respect of a misrepresentation in a directors' circular or a notice of change or variation to it, has a right of action for damages against
 - (i) every director or officer who signed the circular or notice of change or variation, and
 - every person or company whose consent has been filed pursuant to a requirement of the regulations, but only with respect to reports, opinions or statements that have been made by them,

and

- (b) in respect of a misrepresentation in an individual director's or officer's circular or a notice of change or variation to it, has a right of action for damages against
 - (i) every director or officer who signed the circular or notice of change or variation, and
 - every person or company whose consent has been filed pursuant to the regulations, but only with respect to reports, opinions or statements that have been made by them.

(3) The provisions of subsection (1) apply to an issuer bid circular or a notice of change or variation that contains a misrepresentation.

(4) No person or company is liable under subsection (1), (2) or (3) if the person or company proves that the security holder had knowledge of the misrepresentation.

(5) No person or company, other than the offeror, is liable under subsection (1), (2) or (3) if the person or company proves that

- (a) the circular or the notice of change or variation in respect of it, as the case may be, was sent without the person's or company's knowledge or consent and that, on becoming aware of it, the person or company promptly gave reasonable general notice that it was so sent;
- (b) after the sending of the circular or the notice of change or variation in respect of it, as the case may be, on becoming aware of any misrepresentation in the circular or the notice of change or variation in respect of it, the person or company withdrew the person's or company's consent to

Section 205		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
		it and gave reasonable general notice and the reason for it;	of the withdrawal
	(c)	with respect to any part of the circula change or variation in respect of it pu on the authority of an expert or purpo or an extract from a report, opinion o expert, the person or company had no to believe and did not believe	arporting to be made orting to be a copy of or statement of an
		(i) that there had been a misreprese	ntation,
		(ii) that the part of the circular or the did not fairly represent the report statement of the expert, or	
		(iii) that the part of the circular or the was not a fair copy of or extract opinion or statement of the expe	from the report,
	(d)	with respect to any part of the circula change or variation in respect of it pu on the person's or company's own au or purporting to be a copy of or an ex person's or company's own report, o as an expert, but that contains a misrr attributable to a failure to represent fa company's report, opinion or stateme	arporting to be made athority as an expert stract from the pinion or statement epresentation airly the person's or
		 (i) the person or company had, after investigation, reasonable ground believe that the part of the circu the person's or company's report statement as an expert, or 	ls to believe and did lar fairly represented
		(ii) on becoming aware that the part not fairly represent the person's opinion or statement as an exper company promptly advised the l and gave reasonable general not been made of it and that the pers would not be responsible for that	or company's report, rt, the person or Executive Director tice that misuse had son or company
	(e)	with respect to a false statement purp statement made by an official person purports to be a copy of or extract fro document,	or contained in what
		(i) it was a correct and fair represent statement or copy of or extract f and	

(ii) the person or company had reasonable grounds to believe and did believe that the statement was true.

(6) No person or company, other than the offeror, is liable under subsection (1), (2) or (3) with respect to any part of the circular or the notice of change or variation in respect of it purporting to be made on the person's or company's own authority as an expert or purporting to be a copy of or an extract from the person's or company's own report, opinion or statement as an expert unless the person or company

- (a) did not conduct an investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no misrepresentation, or
- (b) believed there had been a misrepresentation.

(7) No person or company, other than the offeror, is liable under subsection (1), (2) or (3) with respect to any part of the circular or the notice of change or variation in respect of it not purporting to be made on the authority of an expert and not purporting to be a copy of or an extract from a report, opinion or statement of an expert unless the person or company

- (a) did not conduct an investigation sufficient to provide reasonable grounds for a belief that there had been no misrepresentation, or
- (b) believed there had been a misrepresentation.

(8) All or any one or more of the persons or companies specified in subsection (1), (2) or (3) that are found to be liable or accept liability under this section are jointly and severally liable.

(9) In an action for damages pursuant to subsection (1), (2) or (3) based on a misrepresentation affecting a security offered by the offeror in exchange for securities of the offeree issuer, the defendant is not liable for all or any portion of the damages that the defendant proves do not represent the depreciation in value of the security as a result of the misrepresentation.

(10) Repealed 2006 c30 s47.

(10.1) A defendant who is found liable to pay a sum in damages may recover a contribution, in whole or in part, from a person who is jointly and severally liable under this section to make the same payment in the same cause of action unless, in all circumstances of the case, the court is satisfied that it would not be just and equitable. (11) The right of action for rescission or damages conferred by this section is in addition to and without derogation from any other right that the security holders may have at law.

(12) If a misrepresentation is contained in a record incorporated by reference in, or deemed incorporated into, a circular or a notice of change or variation, the misrepresentation is deemed to be contained in the circular or the notice of change or variation. RSA 2000 cs-4 s205;2003 c32 s29; 2006 c30 s47;2007 c10 s22

Defence to liability for misrepresentation

205.1(1) A person or company is not liable in an action under section 203, 204 or 205 for a misrepresentation in forward-looking information if the person or company proves all of the following:

- (a) the document containing the forward-looking information contained, proximate to that information,
 - (i) reasonable cautionary language identifying the forward-looking information as such, and identifying material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from a conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and
 - a statement of the material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection set out in the forward-looking information;
- (b) the person or company had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts and projections set out in the forward-looking information.

(2) Subsection (1) does not relieve a person or company of liability respecting forward-looking information in a financial statement or forward-looking information in a document released in connection with an initial public offering.

2006 c30 s48;2008 c26 s12

Liability of dealer, offeror or issuer

206 A person who is

(a) a purchaser of a security to whom a prospectus was required to be sent in compliance with section 129, but was not so sent,

Section 207		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
		security holder of an offeree issuer or company that is not a security holder of o which	
		(i) a take-over bid and take-over bid c	ircular,
	(ii) an issuer bid and issuer bid circula	r, or
	(i	ii) a notice of change or variation to t referred to in subclause (i) or (ii)	hat bid or circular
		vas required to be sent under the regula o sent, or	tions, but was not
	1	purchaser of a security to whom an of nemorandum was required to be sent in Alberta securities laws but was not sent prescribed for sending the offering men	n compliance with within the time
	offeror or	t of action for rescission or damages ag issuer, as the case may be, who did no equirement. RSA 2000 cS-4 s206;200	t comply with the
L	207(1) E	naterial fact or change very person or company in a special re- issuer that	lationship with a
	(a) p	ourchases or sells securities of the report	rting issuer, and
	<i>(</i>) 1		· ı ı ·

(b) has knowledge of a material fact or material change in respect of the reporting issuer that has not been generally disclosed,

is liable to compensate the seller or purchaser of the securities, as the case may be, for damages as a result of the trade.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to the person or company if the person or company

- (a) proves that the person or company reasonably believed that the material fact or material change had been generally disclosed;
- (b) proves that the material fact or material change was known or ought reasonably to have been known to the seller or purchaser, as the case may be;
- (c) proves that

Section 207			SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(i	ma the one	person or company had knowled terial fact or material change by material fact or material change or more of that person's or com- icers, partners, employees or age	reason only that was known to pany's directors,
	(ii	per	he case where that person is an i son did not have any actual know terial fact or material change,	
	(iii	ma par act	decision to purchase or sell the de by that person's or company' tner, employee or agent who did ual knowledge of the material fa- nge, and	s director, officer, not have any
	(iv	em ma to t spe per em	person's or company's director, ployee or agent who had actual le terial fact or material change did he purchase or sale of the securi cific advice based on that knowl son's or company's director, off ployee or agent who made the de chase or sell the securities;	cnowledge of the not, with respect ties, give any edge to that icer, partner,
(6	(d) pr	oves t	hat the person or company	
	(i		chased or sold the securities as a other person or company pursuant	-
		(A)	an unsolicited order, or	
		(B)	a solicited order given prior to company that acted as agent ha of the material fact or material	aving knowledge
		and		
	(ii	sec per	not, with respect to the purchase urities, give any specific advice son or company based on the kn terial fact or change;	to that other
	pi au se th	irsuan itomat curity at the erson c	hat the purchase or sale of the se t to the person's or company's pa ic dividend reinvestment plan, an purchase plan or another similar person or company had entered is or company acquiring knowledge naterial change;	articipation in an n automatic r automatic plan into prior to the

Section 207			SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4		
	(f)	purs had	ves that the purchase or sale of the secur suant to a legal obligation that the persor entered into prior to the person or comp wledge of the material fact or material c	n or company any acquiring		
	(g)	pers	ves that the person or company, as an ag son or company, purchased or sold the se ilt of that other person's or company's			
		(i)	participation in an automatic dividend i plan, an automatic security purchase pl similar automatic plan, or			
		(ii)	legal obligation.			
	(3) Every					
	(a)	repo	orting issuer,			
	(b)	pers repo	with a			
	(c)	pers	son or company that proposes			
		(i)	to make a take-over bid, as defined in I securities of a reporting issuer,	Part 14, for the		
		(ii)	to become a party to a reorganization, a merger, arrangement or similar busines with a reporting issuer, or			
		(iii)	to acquire a substantial portion of the p reporting issuer,	roperty of a		
	material been ger person c issuer to	char neral or cor or p	another person or company of a materia age with respect to that reporting issuer t by disclosed is liable to compensate for of mpany that afterwards sells securities of urchases securities of the reporting issue mpany that received the information.	hat has not lamages any the reporting		
	(4) Subsection (3) does not apply if					
	(a)	com reas	person or company that informed the oth pany proves that the informing person of onably believed that the material fact or nge had been generally disclosed,	or company		
	(b)	reas	material fact or material change was kno onably to have been known to the seller ne case may be,			

- (c) in the case of an action against a reporting issuer or a person or company in a special relationship with the reporting issuer, the information was given when it was necessary in the course of business, or
- (d) in the case of an action against a person or company described in subsection (3)(c)(i), (ii) or (iii), the information was given when it was necessary in the course of business for the carrying out of the take-over bid, business combination or acquisition.

(5) Every person or company in a special relationship with a reporting issuer

- (a) who is an insider or an associate or an affiliate of the reporting issuer, and
- (b) who
 - purchases or sells the securities of the reporting issuer with knowledge of a material fact or material change in respect of the reporting issuer that has not been generally disclosed, or
 - directly or indirectly communicates, other than when it is necessary in the course of business, knowledge of a material fact or material change in respect of the reporting issuer that has not been generally disclosed,

is accountable to the reporting issuer for any benefit or advantage received or receivable by the person or company as a result of the purchase, sale or communication, as the case may be.

(6) Subsection (5) does not apply if the person or company in the special relationship reasonably believed that the material fact or material change had been generally disclosed.

(7) Any person or company that has access to information concerning

- (a) the investment program of a mutual fund, or
- (b) the investment portfolio managed for a client by an adviser

and uses the information for the person's or company's direct benefit or advantage to purchase or sell securities of an issuer for the person's or company's accounts is accountable to the mutual fund or the client of the adviser for any benefit or advantage received or receivable as a result of the purchase or sale, if the securities of that issuer are included in the portfolio securities of the mutual fund or the investment portfolio managed for the client by the adviser, as the case may be.

- (8) All or any one or more of the persons or companies
 - (a) in a special relationship with a reporting issuer, and
 - (b) liable under subsection (1) or (3),

as to the same transaction or series of transactions, are jointly and severally liable.

(9) In assessing damages under subsection (1) or (3) the court shall consider,

- (a) if the plaintiff is a purchaser, the price that the plaintiff paid for the security less the weighted average market price of the security as determined with respect to the first 20 trading days for that security following the general disclosure of the material fact or material change, or
- (b) if the plaintiff is a vendor, the weighted average market price of the security as determined with respect to the first 20 trading days for that security following the general disclosure of the material fact or material change less the price that the plaintiff received for the security.

(10) Notwithstanding subsection (9), the court may consider any other measure of damages as may be relevant in the circumstances.

(11) For the purpose of subsections (1), (3) and (5), a security of the reporting issuer includes

- (a) a put, call, option or other right or obligation to purchase or sell securities of the reporting issuer, or
- (b) a security, the market price of which varies materially with the market price of the securities of the reporting issuer.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s207;2008 c26 s13

Action by the Executive Director

208(1) On application by the Executive Director or by any person or company that was at the time of a transaction referred to in section 207(1) or (3), or is at the time of the application, a security holder of the reporting issuer, the Court of Queen's Bench may make an order

(a) requiring the Executive Director, or

(b) authorizing the person or company or the Executive Director,

to commence or continue an action in the name of and on behalf of the reporting issuer to enforce the liability created by section 207(5).

(2) The Court shall not make an order under subsection (1) unless it is satisfied that

- (a) the Executive Director or the person or company has reasonable grounds for believing that the reporting issuer has a cause of action under section 207(5), and
- (b) either
 - (i) the reporting issuer has refused or failed to commence an action under section 207 within 60 days from the day that it received a written request from the Executive Director or the person or company to do so, or
 - (ii) the reporting issuer has failed to prosecute diligently an action commenced by it under section 207.

(3) On application by the Executive Director or by any person or company that was at the time of a transaction referred to in section 207(7), or is at the time of the application, a security holder of the investment fund, the Court of Queen's Bench may make an order,

- (a) requiring the Executive Director, or
- (b) authorizing the person or company or the Executive Director,

to commence and prosecute or to continue an action in the name of and on behalf of the investment fund to enforce the liability created by section 207(7).

(4) The Court shall not make an order under subsection (3) unless it is satisfied that

- (a) the Executive Director or the person or company has reasonable grounds for believing that the investment fund has a cause of action under section 207(7), and
- (b) the investment fund has either
 - (i) refused or failed to commence an action under section 207(7) within 60 days from the day that it received a written request from the Executive Director or the person or company to do so, or

(ii) failed to prosecute diligently an action commenced by it under section 207(7).

(5) If an action under section 207(5) or (7) is commenced, commenced and prosecuted or continued, by the directors of a reporting issuer, the Court of Queen's Bench may order that the costs properly incurred by the directors in commencing, commencing and prosecuting or continuing the action, as the case may be, shall be paid by the reporting issuer, if the Court is satisfied that the action was, on its face, in the best interests of the reporting issuer and its security holders.

(6) If an action under section 207(5) or (7) is commenced, commenced and prosecuted or continued, by a person or company that is a security holder of the reporting issuer, the Court of Queen's Bench may order that the costs properly incurred by that person or company in commencing, commencing and prosecuting or continuing the action, as the case may be, must be paid by the reporting issuer, if the Court is satisfied that

- (a) the reporting issuer failed to commence the action or had commenced it but had failed to prosecute it diligently, and
- (b) the continuance of the action is, on its face, in the best interests of the reporting issuer and the security holders of the reporting issuer.

(7) When an action under section 207(5) or (7) is commenced, commenced and prosecuted or continued, by the Executive Director, the Court of Queen's Bench shall order the reporting issuer to pay all costs properly incurred by the Executive Director in commencing, commencing and prosecuting or continuing the action, as the case may be.

(8) In determining whether an action or its continuance is, on its face, in the best interests of a reporting issuer and its security holders, the Court shall consider the relationship between

- (a) the potential benefit to be derived from the action by the reporting issuer and its security holders, and
- (b) the cost involved in respect of the action.

(9) Notice of every application under subsection (1) or (3) must be given to the Executive Director, the reporting issuer, or the investment fund, as the case may be, and each of them may appear and be heard.

(10) In every action commenced, commenced and prosecuted or continued by the Executive Director under this section, the reporting issuer or investment fund, as the case may be, shall

provide to the Executive Director all books, records, documents and other material or information

- (a) that are
 - (i) known to the reporting issuer or investment fund, or
 - (ii) reasonably ascertainable by the reporting issuer or investment fund, and
- (b) that are relevant to the action.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s208;2006 c30 s50

Rescission of contract

209(1) If section 94(1) applies to a contract and the section is not complied with, a person or company that has entered into the contract may rescind the contract only if the person or company is the owner of the securities at the time notice for rescission is given.

(2) A person or company may rescind a contract under subsection (1) by sending written notice of rescission to the registered dealer within 60 days from the day of the delivery of the security to or by the person, as the case may be.

(3) If section 90(1) applies to a contract and a registered dealer has failed to comply with the regulations by not disclosing that the registered dealer acted as principal, a person or company that has entered into the contract may rescind the contract.

(4) A person or company may rescind a contract under subsection (3) by sending written notice of rescission to the registered dealer within 7 days from the day of the delivery of the written confirmation of the contract.

(5) In an action respecting a rescission to which this section applies, the onus of proving compliance with section 90 or 94 is on the registered dealer.

(6) No action respecting a rescission under this section shall be commenced after the expiration of a period of 90 days from the day of the sending of the notice under subsection (2) or (4). 1981 cS-6.1 s173;1994 c23 s43

Rescission re offering memorandum

209.1 A purchaser of a security to whom an offering memorandum is required to be sent may rescind the contract to purchase the security by sending written notice to the issuer not later than midnight on the 2nd day, exclusive of Saturdays and

holidays, after the purchaser signs the agreement to purchase the securities.

2003 c32 s31

Rescission by purchaser — mutual fund

210(1) Every purchaser of a security of a mutual fund may, if the amount of the purchase does not exceed the sum of \$50 000, rescind the purchase.

(2) A purchaser may rescind a purchase under subsection (1) by sending written notice of the rescission to the registered dealer from whom the purchase was made within

- (a) 48 hours from the time the purchaser received the confirmation for a lump sum purchase, or
- (b) 60 days from the day the purchaser received the confirmation for the initial payment under a contractual plan.

(3) Subject to subsection (5), the amount the purchaser is entitled to recover on exercise of the right to rescind under this section shall not exceed the net asset value of the securities purchased at the time the right to rescind is exercised.

(4) The right to rescind a purchase made under a contractual plan may be exercised only with respect to payments scheduled to be made within the time specified in subsection (2) for rescinding a purchase made under a contractual plan.

(5) Every registered dealer from whom the purchase was made shall reimburse the purchaser who has exercised the purchaser's right of rescission in accordance with this section for the amount of sales charges and fees relevant to the investment of the purchaser in the mutual fund in respect of the shares or units of which the notice of rescission was given.

2009 c14 s3

Limitation period

211 Unless otherwise provided in this Act, no action may be commenced to enforce a right created by this Part more than,

- (a) in the case of an action for rescission, 180 days from the day of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action, or
- (b) in the case of any action, other than an action for rescission, the earlier of

- (i) 180 days from the day that the plaintiff first had knowledge of the facts giving rise to the cause of action, or
- (ii) 3 years from the day of the transaction that gave rise to the cause of action.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s211;2003 c32 s32

Part 17.01 Civil Liability for Secondary Market Disclosure

Definitions

211.01 In this Part,

- (a) "compensation" means compensation received during the 12-month period immediately preceding the day on which the misrepresentation was made or on which the failure to make timely disclosure first occurred, together with the fair market value of all deferred compensation including, without limitation, options, pension benefits and stock appreciation rights, granted during the same period, valued as of the date that such compensation is awarded;
- (b) "core document" means,
 - (i) where used in relation to
 - (A) a director of a responsible issuer who is not also an officer of the responsible issuer,
 - (B) an influential person, other than an officer of the responsible issuer or an investment fund manager where the responsible issuer is an investment fund, or
 - (C) a director or officer of an influential person who is not also an officer of the responsible issuer, other than an officer of an investment fund manager,

a prospectus, a take-over bid circular, an issuer bid circular, a directors' circular, a rights offering circular, management's discussion and analysis, an annual information form, an information circular, annual financial statements and an interim financial report of the responsible issuer;

(ii) where used in relation to

 (A) a responsible issuer or an officer of the responsible issuer, (B) an investment fund manager where the responsible issuer is an investment fund, or (C) an officer of an investment fund manager where the responsible issuer is an investment fund, a prospectus, a take-over bid circular, an issuer bid circular, a directors' circular, an information form, an information circular, annual financial statements, an interim financial report and a material change report required under section 146 of the responsible issuer, and (ii) such other documents as may be prescribed by regulation for the purposes of this definition; (c) "document" means any written communication, including a communication prepared and transmitted only in electronic form, (i) that is required to be filed with the Commission, or (ii) that is not required to be filed with the Commission and (A) that is filed or required to be filed with a government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional cipacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, apariaser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not including an entity that is an approved rating organization; 	Section 211.01	SECURITIES ACT Chapter S-4
 responsible issuer is an investment fund, or (C) an officer of an investment fund manager where the responsible issuer is an investment fund, a prospectus, a take-over bid circular, an issuer bid circular, a directors' circular, a rights offering circular, management's discussion and analysis, an annual information form, an information circular, annual financial statements, an interim financial report and a material change report required under section 146 of the responsible issuer, and (iii) such other documents as may be prescribed by regulation for the purposes of this definition; (c) "document" means any written communication, including a communication prepared and transmitted only in electronic form, (i) that is required to be filed with the Commission, or (ii) that is not required to be filed with the Commission and (A) that is filed or required to be filed with a government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		
 the responsible issuer is an investment fund, a prospectus, a take-over bid circular, an issuer bid circular, a directors' circular, a rights offering circular, management's discussion and analysis, an annual information form, an information circular, annual financial statements, an interim financial report and a material change report required under section 146 of the responsible issuer, and (iii) such other documents as may be prescribed by regulation for the purposes of this definition; (c) "document" means any written communication, including a communication prepared and transmitted only in electronic form, (i) that is required to be filed with the Commission, or (ii) that is not required to be filed with the Commission and (A) that is filed or required to be filed with a government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		
 circular, a directors' circular, a rights offering circular, management's discussion and analysis, an annual information form, an information circular, annual financial statements, an interim financial report and a material change report required under section 146 of the responsible issuer, and (iii) such other documents as may be prescribed by regulation for the purposes of this definition; (c) "document" means any written communication, including a communication prepared and transmitted only in electronic form, (i) that is required to be filed with the Commission, or (ii) that is not required to be filed with the Commission and (A) that is filed or required to be filed with a government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		
 regulation for the purposes of this definition; (c) "document" means any written communication, including a communication prepared and transmitted only in electronic form, (i) that is required to be filed with the Commission, or (ii) that is not required to be filed with the Commission and (A) that is filed with the Commission, (B) that is filed or required to be filed with a government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		circular, a directors' circular, a rights offering circular, management's discussion and analysis, an annual information form, an information circular, annual financial statements, an interim financial report and a material change report required under
 a communication prepared and transmitted only in electronic form, (i) that is required to be filed with the Commission, or (ii) that is not required to be filed with the Commission and (A) that is filed with the Commission, (B) that is filed or required to be filed with a government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		
 (ii) that is not required to be filed with the Commission and (A) that is filed with the Commission, (B) that is filed or required to be filed with a government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		a communication prepared and transmitted only in
 and (A) that is filed with the Commission, (B) that is filed or required to be filed with a government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		(i) that is required to be filed with the Commission, or
 (B) that is filed or required to be filed with a government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		· · ·
 government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting system under its bylaws, rules or regulations, or (C) that is any other communication the content of which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		(A) that is filed with the Commission,
 which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the responsible issuer; (d) "expert" means a person or company whose profession gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not 		government or an agency of a government under applicable securities or corporate law or with any exchange or quotation and trade reporting
gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not		which would reasonably be expected to affect the market price or value of a security of the
		gives authority to a statement made in a professional capacity by the person or company, including, without limitation, an accountant, actuary, appraiser, auditor, engineer, financial analyst, geologist or lawyer but not

Section 211.01			SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4	
(e)	disc		failure to I at the time		
(f)		"influential person" means, in respect of a responsil issuer,			
	(i)	a co	ontrol person,		
	(ii)	a pi	romoter,		
	(iii)		nsider who is not a director or office consible issuer, or	er of the	
	(iv)		nvestment fund manager, if the resp n investment fund;	onsible issuer	
(g)			security" means a security of a respudes a security	oonsible issuer	
	(i)	obli	market price or value of which, or p igations under which, are derived fro a security of the responsible issuer, a	om or based	
	(ii)	the	is created by a person or company responsible issuer or is guaranteed b ponsible issuer;		
(h)	"lia	bility limit" means,			
	(i)	in t	he case of a responsible issuer, the g	reater of	
		(A)	5% of its market capitalization as ergulations, and	defined in the	
		(B)	\$1 000 000,		
	(ii)	in the case of a director or officer of a resp issuer, the greater of		esponsible	
		(A)	\$25 000, and		
		(B)	50% of the aggregate of the direct officer's compensation from the re- issuer and its affiliates,		
	(iii)		he case of an influential person who ividual, the greater of	is not an	
		(A)	5% of its market capitalization as regulations, and	defined in the	

(B) \$1 000 000,(iv) in the case of an influential person who is an

- individual, the greater of
- (A) \$25 000, and
- (B) 50% of the aggregate of the influential person's compensation from the responsible issuer and its affiliates,
- (v) in the case of a director or officer of an influential person, the greater of
 - (A) \$25 000, and
 - (B) 50% of the aggregate of the director's or officer's compensation from the influential person and its affiliates,
- (vi) in the case of an expert, the greater of
 - (A) \$1 000 000, and
 - (B) the revenue that the expert and the affiliates of the expert have earned from the responsible issuer and its affiliates during the 12 months preceding the misrepresentation,

and

- (vii) in the case of each person who made a public oral statement, other than an individual referred to in subclause (iv), (v) or (vi), the greater of
 - (A) \$25 000, and
 - (B) 50% of the aggregate of the person's compensation from the responsible issuer and its affiliates;
- (i) "management's discussion and analysis" means the section of an annual information form, annual report or other document that contains management's discussion and analysis of the financial condition and financial performance of a responsible issuer as required under Alberta securities laws;
- (j) "public oral statement" means an oral statement made in circumstances in which a reasonable person would believe that information contained in the statement will become generally disclosed;

- (k) "release" means, with respect to information or a document, to file with the Commission or any other securities regulatory authority in Canada or an exchange or to otherwise make available to the public;
- (l) "responsible issuer" means
 - (i) a reporting issuer, or
 - (ii) any other issuer with a real and substantial connection to Alberta, any of whose securities are publicly traded;
- (m) "trading day" means a day during which the principal market as defined in the regulations for the security is open for trading.

2006 c30 s52;2010 c10 s20

Application

211.02 This Part does not apply to

- (a) the purchase of a security offered by a prospectus during the period of distribution,
- (b) the acquisition of an issuer's security pursuant to a distribution that is exempt from section 110, except as may be prescribed by regulation,
- (c) the acquisition or disposition of an issuer's security in connection with or pursuant to a take-over bid or issuer bid, except as may be prescribed by regulation, or
- (d) such other transactions or class of transactions as may be prescribed by regulation.

2006 c30 s52

Liability for secondary market disclosure

211.03(1) Where a responsible issuer or a person or company with actual, implied or apparent authority to act on behalf of a responsible issuer releases a document that contains a misrepresentation, a person or company who acquires or disposes of the issuer's security during the period between the time when the document was released and the time when the misrepresentation contained in the document was publicly corrected has, without regard to whether the person or company relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action for damages against

(a) the responsible issuer,

(b)	each director of the responsible issuer at the time the document was released,
(c)	each officer of the responsible issuer who authorized, permitted or acquiesced in the release of the document,
(d)	each influential person, and each director and officer of an influential person, who knowingly influenced

Section 211.03

- (i) the responsible issuer or any person or company acting on behalf of the responsible issuer to release the document, or
- a director or officer of the responsible issuer to authorize, permit or acquiesce in the release of the document,
- and
- (e) each expert where
 - (i) the misrepresentation is also contained in a report, statement or opinion made by the expert,
 - (ii) the document includes, summarizes or quotes from the report, statement or opinion of the expert, and
 - (iii) if the document was released by a person or company other than the expert, the expert consented in writing to the use of the report, statement or opinion in the document.

(2) Where a person with actual, implied or apparent authority to speak on behalf of a responsible issuer makes a public oral statement that relates to the business or affairs of the responsible issuer and that contains a misrepresentation, a person or company who acquires or disposes of the issuer's security during the period between the time when the public oral statement was made and the time when the misrepresentation contained in the public oral statement was publicly corrected has, without regard to whether the person or company relied on the misrepresentation, a right of action for damages against

- (a) the responsible issuer,
- (b) the person who made the public oral statement,
- (c) each director and officer of the responsible issuer who authorized, permitted or acquiesced in the making of the public oral statement,

Section 211.03		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
(d)		n influential person, and each director a influential person, who knowingly influ	
	(i)	the person who made the public oral s make the public oral statement, or	tatement to
	(ii)	a director or officer of the responsible authorize, permit or acquiesce in the n public oral statement,	
a	nd		
(e)	eacl	n expert where	
	(i)	the misrepresentation is also contained statement or opinion made by the expo	
	(ii)	the person making the public oral state summarizes or quotes from the report, opinion of the expert, and	
	(iii)	if the public oral statement was made other than the expert, the expert conse to the use of the report, statement or o public oral statement.	nted in writing
actual, i the influ stateme misrepr of the is docume the time public o whether	mplie nentia nt tha esenta suer' nt wa whe whe oral st	n influential person or a person or comp ed or apparent authority to act or speak l person releases a document or makes t relates to a responsible issuer and that ation, a person or company who acquire s security during the period between the s released or the public oral statement n the misrepresentation contained in the atement was publicly corrected has, with person or company relied on the misrep n for damages against	on behalf of a public oral t contains a es or disposes e time when the was made and e document or thout regard to
(a)	resp inve auth	responsible issuer, if a director or office consible issuer, or where the responsible estment fund, the investment fund mana corized, permitted or acquiesced in the n ument or the making of the public oral	e issuer is an ager, release of the
(b)	the	person who made the public oral statem	ient,
(c)	auth	n director and officer of the responsible norized, permitted or acquiesced in the ument or the making of the public oral	release of the

(d) the influential person,

- (e) each director and officer of the influential person who authorized, permitted or acquiesced in the release of the document or the making of the public oral statement, and
- (f) each expert where
 - (i) the misrepresentation is also contained in a report, statement or opinion made by the expert,
 - the document or public oral statement includes, summarizes or quotes from the report, statement or opinion of the expert, and
 - (iii) if the document was released or the public oral statement was made by a person other than the expert, the expert consented in writing to the use of the report, statement or opinion in the document or public oral statement.

(4) Where a responsible issuer fails to make a timely disclosure, a person or company who acquires or disposes of the issuer's security between the time when the material change was required to be disclosed in the manner required under this Act and the subsequent disclosure of the material change has, without regard to whether the person or company relied on the responsible issuer having complied with its disclosure requirements, a right of action for damages against

- (a) the responsible issuer,
- (b) each director and officer of the responsible issuer who authorized, permitted or acquiesced in the failure to make timely disclosure, and
- (c) each influential person, and each director and officer of an influential person, who knowingly influenced
 - (i) the responsible issuer or any person or company acting on behalf of the responsible issuer in the failure to make timely disclosure, or
 - a director or officer of the responsible issuer to authorize, permit or acquiesce in the failure to make timely disclosure.

(5) In an action under this section, a person who is a director or officer of an influential person is not liable in that capacity if the person is liable as a director or officer of the responsible issuer.

(6) In an action under this section,

- (a) multiple misrepresentations having common subject-matter or content may, in the discretion of the court, be treated as a single misrepresentation, and
- (b) multiple instances of failure to make timely disclosure of a material change or material changes concerning common subject-matter may, in the discretion of the court, be treated as a single failure to make timely disclosure.

(7) In an action under subsection (2) or (3), if the person who made the public oral statement had apparent authority, but not implied or actual authority, to speak on behalf of the issuer, no other person is liable with respect to any of the responsible issuer's securities that were acquired or disposed of before that other person became, or should reasonably have become, aware of the misrepresentation.

2006 c30 s52

Burden of Proof and Defences

Non-core documents and public oral statements

211.04(1) In an action under section 211.03 in relation to a misrepresentation in a document that is not a core document or a misrepresentation in a public oral statement, a person or company is not liable, subject to subsection (2), unless the plaintiff proves that the person or company

- (a) knew, at the time that the document was released or the public oral statement was made, that the document or public oral statement contained the misrepresentation,
- (b) at or before the time that the document was released or the public oral statement was made, deliberately avoided acquiring knowledge that the document or public oral statement contained the misrepresentation, or
- (c) was, through action or failure to act, guilty of gross misconduct in connection with the release of the document or the making of the public oral statement that contained the misrepresentation.

(2) A plaintiff is not required to prove any of the matters set out in subsection (1) in an action under section 211.03 in relation to an expert.

(3) In an action under section 211.03 in relation to a failure to make timely disclosure, a person or company is not liable, subject to subsection (4), unless the plaintiff proves that the person or company

- (a) knew, at the time that the failure to make timely disclosure first occurred, of the change and that the change was a material change,
- (b) at the time or before the failure to make timely disclosure first occurred, deliberately avoided acquiring knowledge of the change or that the change was a material change, or
- (c) was, through action or failure to act, guilty of gross misconduct in connection with the failure to make timely disclosure.

(4) A plaintiff is not required to prove any of the matters set out in subsection (3) in an action under section 211.03 in relation to

- (a) a responsible issuer,
- (b) an officer of a responsible issuer,
- (c) an investment fund manager, or
- (d) an officer of an investment fund manager.

(5) A person or company is not liable in an action under section 211.03 in relation to a misrepresentation or a failure to make timely disclosure if that person or company proves that the plaintiff acquired or disposed of the issuer's security

- (a) with knowledge that the document or public oral statement contained a misrepresentation, or
- (b) with knowledge of the material change.

(6) A person or company is not liable in an action under section 211.03 in relation to

- (a) a misrepresentation if that person or company proves that,
 - (i) before the release of the document or the making of the public oral statement containing the misrepresentation, the person or company conducted or caused to be conducted a reasonable investigation, and
 - (ii) at the time of the release of the document or the making of the public oral statement, the person or company had no reasonable grounds to believe that the document or public oral statement contained the misrepresentation,

- (b) a failure to make timely disclosure if that person or company proves that
 - (i) before the failure to make timely disclosure first occurred, the person or company conducted or caused to be conducted a reasonable investigation, and
 - (ii) the person or company had no reasonable grounds to believe that the failure to make timely disclosure would occur.

(7) In determining whether an investigation was reasonable under subsection (6), or whether any person or company is guilty of gross misconduct under subsection (1) or (3), the court shall consider all relevant circumstances, including

- (a) the nature of the responsible issuer,
- (b) the knowledge, experience and function of the person or company,
- (c) the office held, if the person was an officer,
- (d) the presence or absence of another relationship with the responsible issuer, if the person was a director,
- (e) the existence, if any, and the nature of any system designed to ensure that the responsible issuer meets its continuous disclosure obligations,
- (f) the reasonableness of reliance by the person or company on the responsible issuer's disclosure compliance system and on the responsible issuer's officers, employees and others whose duties would in the ordinary course have given them knowledge of the relevant facts,
- (g) the period within which disclosure was required to be made under the applicable law,
- (h) in respect of a report, statement or opinion of an expert, any professional standards applicable to the expert,
- (i) the extent to which the person or company knew, or should reasonably have known, the content and medium of dissemination of the document or public oral statement,
- (j) in the case of a misrepresentation, the role and responsibility of the person or company in the preparation and release of the document or the making of the public oral statement containing the misrepresentation or the

Section 211.04	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	ascertaining of the facts contained in th public oral statement, and	at document or
(k)	in the case of a failure to make timely d and responsibility of the person or comp decision not to disclose the material cha	pany involved in a
	erson or company is not liable in an action n respect of a failure to make timely disc	
(a)	the person or company proves that the r was disclosed by the responsible issuer a confidential basis with the Commissio 146,	in a report filed on
(b)	the responsible issuer had a reasonable the disclosure on a confidential basis,	basis for making
(c)	where the information contained in the confidential basis remains material, disc material change was made public prom- for confidentiality ceased to exist,	closure of the
(d)	the person or company or responsible is release a document or make a public or due to the undisclosed material change, misrepresentation, and	al statement that,
(e)	where the material change became public manner other than the manner required responsible issuer promptly disclosed the in the manner required under this Act.	under this Act, the
211.03 1	erson or company is not liable in an action for a misrepresentation in forward-lookin on or company proves all of the followin	ng information if
(a)	the document or public oral statement c forward-looking information contained information,	
	 (i) reasonable cautionary language ide forward-looking information as su material factors that could cause as differ materially from a conclusion projection in the forward-looking in 	ch, and identifying ctual results to h, forecast or

(ii) a statement of the material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection set out in the forward-looking information; (b) the person or company had a reasonable basis for drawing the conclusions or making the forecasts and projections set out in the forward-looking information.

(10) A person or company is deemed to have satisfied the requirements of subsection (9)(a) with respect to a public oral statement containing forward-looking information if the person who made the public oral statement

- (a) made a cautionary statement that the oral statement contains forward-looking information,
- (b) stated that
 - (i) the actual results could differ materially from a conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and
 - (ii) certain material factors or assumptions were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection as reflected in the forward-looking information,
 - and
- (c) stated that additional information about
 - (i) the material factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the conclusion, forecast or projection in the forward-looking information, and
 - (ii) the material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making a forecast or projection as reflected in the forward-looking information,

is contained in a readily available document or in a portion of such a document and has identified that document or that portion of the document.

(11) For the purposes of subsection (10)(c), a document filed with the Commission or otherwise generally disclosed is deemed to be readily available.

(12) Subsection (9) does not relieve a person or company of liability respecting forward-looking information in a financial statement required to be filed under this Act or forward-looking information in a document released in connection with an initial public offering.

(13) A person or company, other than an expert, is not liable in an action under section 211.03 with respect to any part of a document

or public oral statement that includes, summarizes or quotes from a report, statement or opinion made by the expert in respect of which the responsible issuer obtained the written consent of the expert to the use of the report, statement or opinion if the consent had not been withdrawn in writing before the document was released or the public oral statement was made, if the person or company proves that

- (a) the person or company did not know and had no reasonable grounds to believe that there had been a misrepresentation in the part of the document or public oral statement made on the authority of the expert, and
- (b) the part of the document or oral public statement fairly represented the report, statement or opinion made by the expert.

(14) An expert is not liable in an action under section 211.03 with respect to any part of a document or public oral statement that includes, summarizes or quotes from a report, statement or opinion made by the expert if the expert proves that the written consent previously provided was withdrawn in writing before the document was released or the public oral statement was made.

(15) A person or company is not liable in an action under section 211.03 in respect of a misrepresentation in a document, other than a document required to be filed with the Commission, if the person or company proves that, at the time of release of the document, the person or company did not know and had no reasonable grounds to believe that the document would be released.

(16) A person or company is not liable in an action under section 211.03 for a misrepresentation in a document or a public oral statement if the person or company proves that

- (a) the misrepresentation was also contained in a document filed by or on behalf of another person or company, other than the responsible issuer, with the Commission or any other securities regulatory authority in Canada or an exchange and was not corrected in another document filed by or on behalf of that other person or company with the Commission or that other securities regulatory authority in Canada or exchange before the release of the document or the public oral statement made by or on behalf of the responsible issuer,
- (b) the document or public oral statement contained a reference identifying the document that was the source of the misrepresentation, and

(c) when the document was released or the public oral statement was made, the person or company did not know and had no reasonable grounds to believe that the document or public oral statement contained a misrepresentation.

(17) A person or company, other than the responsible issuer, is not liable in an action under section 211.03 if the misrepresentation or failure to make timely disclosure was made without the knowledge or consent of the person or company and if, after the person or company became aware of the misrepresentation before it was corrected, or the failure to make timely disclosure before it was disclosed in the manner required under this Act,

- (a) the person or company promptly notified the directors of the responsible issuer or other persons acting in a similar capacity of the misrepresentation or the failure to make timely disclosure, and
- (b) if no correction of the misrepresentation or no subsequent disclosure of the material change in the manner required under this Act was made by the responsible issuer within 2 business days after the notification under clause (a), the person or company, unless prohibited by law or by professional confidentiality rules, promptly and in writing notified the Commission of the misrepresentation or failure to make timely disclosure.

2006 c30 s52

Damages

Assessment of damages

211.05(1) Damages shall be assessed in favour of a person or company that acquired an issuer's securities after the release of a document or the making of a public oral statement containing a misrepresentation or after a failure to make timely disclosure as follows:

(a) in respect of any of the securities of the responsible issuer that the person or company subsequently disposed of on or before the 10th trading day after the public correction of the misrepresentation or the disclosure of the material change in the manner required under this Act, assessed damages shall equal the difference between the average price paid for those securities, including any commissions paid in respect of them, and the price received on the disposition of those securities, without deducting any commissions paid in respect of the disposition, calculated taking into account the result of hedging or other risk limitation transactions; that the person or company subsequently disposed of after the 10th trading day after the public correction of the misrepresentation or the disclosure of the material change in the manner required under this Act, assessed damages shall equal the lesser of
(i) an amount equal to the difference between the average price paid for those securities, including any commissions paid in respect of them, and the price received on the disposition of those securities, without deducting any commissions paid in respect of the disposition, calculated taking into account the result of hedging or other risk limitation transactions, and
(ii) an amount equal to the number of securities that the

(b) in respect of any of the securities of the responsible issuer

- (ii) an amount equal to the number of securities that the person disposed of, multiplied by the difference between the average price per security paid for those securities, including any commissions paid in respect of that disposition determined on a per security basis, and
 - (A) if the issuer's securities trade on a published market, the trading price of the issuer's securities on the principal market (as those terms are defined in the regulations) for the 10 trading days following the public correction of the misrepresentation or the disclosure of the material change in the manner required under this Act, or
 - (B) if there is no published market, the amount that the court considers just;
- (c) in respect of any of the securities of the responsible issuer that the person or company has not disposed of, assessed damages shall equal the number of securities acquired, multiplied by the difference between the average price per security paid for those securities, including any commissions paid in respect thereof determined on a per security basis, and
 - (i) if the issuer's securities trade on a published market, the trading price of the issuer's securities on the principal market as defined in the regulations for the 10 trading days following the public correction of the misrepresentation or the disclosure of the material change in the manner required under this Act, or

(ii) if there is no published market, the amount that the court considers just.

(2) Damages shall be assessed in favour of a person or company that disposed of securities after a document was released or a public oral statement made containing a misrepresentation or after a failure to make timely disclosure as follows:

- (a) in respect of any of the securities of the responsible issuer that the person or company subsequently acquired on or before the 10th trading day after the public correction of the misrepresentation or the disclosure of the material change in the manner required under this Act, assessed damages shall equal the difference between the average price received on the disposition of those securities, deducting any commissions paid in respect of the disposition and the price paid for those securities, without including any commissions paid in respect of them, calculated taking into account the result of hedging or other risk limitation transactions;
- (b) in respect of any of the securities of the responsible issuer that the person or company subsequently acquired after the 10th trading day after the public correction of the misrepresentation or the disclosure of the material change in the manner required under this Act, assessed damages shall equal the lesser of
 - (i) an amount equal to the difference between the average price received on the disposition of those securities, deducting any commissions paid in respect of the disposition and the price paid for those securities, without including any commissions paid in respect of them, calculated taking into account the result of hedging or other risk limitation transactions, and
 - (ii) an amount equal to the number of securities that the person disposed of, multiplied by the difference between the average price per security received on the disposition of those securities, deducting any commissions paid in respect of the disposition determined on a per security basis, and
 - (A) if the issuer's securities trade on a published market, the trading price of the issuer's securities on the principal market as defined in the regulations for the 10 trading days following the public correction of the misrepresentation or the disclosure of the material change in the manner required under this Act, or

- (B) if there is no published market, the amount that the court considers just;
- (c) in respect of any of the securities of the responsible issuer that the person or company has not acquired, assessed damages shall equal the number of securities that the person or company disposed of, multiplied by the difference between the average price per security received on the disposition of those securities, deducting any commissions paid in respect of the disposition determined on a per security basis, and
 - (i) if the issuer's securities trade on a published market, the trading price of the issuer's securities on the principal market as defined in the regulations for the 10 trading days following the public correction of the misrepresentation or the disclosure of the material change in the manner required under this Act, or
 - (ii) if there is no published market, the amount that the court considers just.

(3) Notwithstanding subsections (1) and (2), assessed damages shall not include any amount that the defendant proves is attributable to a change in the market price of securities that is unrelated to the misrepresentation or the failure to make timely disclosure.

2006 c30 s52

Proportionate liability

211.06(1) In an action under section 211.03, the court shall determine, in respect of each defendant found liable in the action, the defendant's responsibility for the damages assessed in favour of all plaintiffs in the action, and each such defendant is liable, subject to the limits set out in section 211.07(1), to the plaintiffs for only that portion of the aggregate amount of damages assessed in favour of the plaintiffs that corresponds to that defendant's responsibility for the damages.

(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), where, in an action under section 211.03 in respect of a misrepresentation or a failure to make timely disclosure, a court determines that a particular defendant, other than the responsible issuer, authorized, permitted or acquiesced in the making of the misrepresentation or the failure to make timely disclosure while knowing it to be a misrepresentation or a failure to make timely disclosure, the whole amount of the damages assessed in the action may be recovered from that defendant.

(3) Each defendant in respect of whom the court has made a determination under subsection (2) is jointly and severally liable with each other defendant in respect of whom the court has made a determination under subsection (2).

(4) Any defendant against whom recovery is obtained under subsection (2) is entitled to claim contribution from any other defendant who is found liable in the action.

2006 c30 s52

Limits on damages

211.07(1) Notwithstanding section 211.05, the damages payable by a person or company in an action under section 211.03 is the lesser of

- (a) the aggregate damages assessed against the person or company in the action, and
- (b) the liability limit for the person or company less the aggregate of all damages assessed after appeals, if any, against the person or company in all other actions brought under section 211.03, and under comparable legislation in other provinces or territories in Canada in respect of that misrepresentation or failure to make timely disclosure, and less any amount paid in settlement of any such actions.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to a person or company, other than the responsible issuer, if the plaintiff proves that the person or company authorized, permitted or acquiesced in the making of the misrepresentation or the failure to make timely disclosure while knowing that it was a misrepresentation or a failure to make timely disclosure, or influenced the making of the misrepresentation or the failure to make timely disclosure while knowing that it was a misrepresentation or a failure to make timely disclosure.

2006 c30 s52

Procedural Matters

Leave to proceed

211.08(1) No action may be commenced under section 211.03 without leave of the court granted on application with notice to each defendant.

- (2) The court shall grant leave only where it is satisfied that
 - (a) the action is being brought in good faith, and
 - (b) there is a reasonable possibility that the action will be resolved at trial in favour of the plaintiff.

(3) On an application under this section, the plaintiff and each defendant shall serve and file one or more affidavits setting forth the material facts on which each intends to rely.

(4) The maker of such an affidavit may be questioned on it in accordance with the *Alberta Rules of Court*.

(5) A copy of the application for leave to proceed and any affidavits filed with the court shall be sent to the Commission when filed.

2006 c30 s52;2009 c53 s169

Notice

211.09 A person or company that has been granted leave to commence an action under section 211.03 shall

- (a) promptly issue a news release disclosing that leave has been granted to commence an action under section 211.03,
- (b) send a written notice to the Commission within 7 days of leave being granted, together with a copy of the news release, and
- (c) send a copy of the statement of claim or other originating document to the Commission when filed.

2006 c30 s52

Restriction on discontinuation, etc. of action

211.091 An action under section 211.03 shall not be discontinued, abandoned or settled without the approval of the court given on such terms as the court thinks fit including, without limitation, terms as to costs, and in determining whether to approve the settlement of the action, the court shall consider, among other things, whether there are any other actions outstanding under section 211.03 or under comparable legislation in other provinces or territories in Canada in respect of the same misrepresentation or failure to make timely disclosure.

2006 c30 s52

Costs

211.092 Notwithstanding the *Court of Queen's Bench Act* and the *Class Proceedings Act*, the prevailing party in an action under section 211.03 is entitled to costs determined by a court in accordance with the Alberta Rules of Court.

2006 c30 s52

Power of the Commission

211.093 The Commission may intervene in an action under section 211.03 and in an application for leave under section 211.08. 2006 c30 s52

No derogation from other rights

211.094 The right of action for damages and the defences to an action under section 211.03 are in addition to and without derogation from any other rights or defences the plaintiff or defendant may have in an action brought otherwise than under this Part.

2006 c30 s52

Limitation period

211.095 No action shall be commenced under section 211.03,

- (a) in the case of misrepresentation in a document, later than the earlier of
 - (i) 3 years after the date on which the document containing the misrepresentation was first released, and
 - (ii) 6 months after the issuance of a news release disclosing that leave has been granted to commence an action under section 211.03 or under comparable legislation in the other provinces or territories in Canada in respect of the same misrepresentation;
- (b) in the case of a misrepresentation in a public oral statement, later than the earlier of
 - (i) 3 years after the date on which the public oral statement containing the misrepresentation was made, and
 - (ii) 6 months after the issuance of a news release disclosing that leave has been granted to commence an action under section 211.03 or under comparable legislation in another province or territory of Canada in respect of the same misrepresentation,

and

- (c) in the case of a failure to make timely disclosure, later than the earlier of
 - (i) 3 years after the date on which the requisite disclosure was required to be made, and

(ii) 6 months after the issuance of a news release disclosing that leave has been granted to commence an action under section 211.03 or under comparable legislation in another province or territory of Canada in respect of the same failure to make timely disclosure.

2006 c30 s52

Part 17.1 Interjurisdictional Co-operation

Definitions

211.1(1) In this Part,

- (a) "Alberta authority" means any power, function or duty of the Commission or of the Executive Director that is, or is intended to be, performed or exercised by the Commission or the Executive Director under Alberta securities laws;
- (b) "extra-provincial authority" means any power, function or duty of an extra-provincial securities commission that is, or is intended to be, performed or exercised by that commission under the extra-provincial securities laws under which that commission operates;
- (c) "extra-provincial securities commission" means a body empowered by the laws of a province or territory other than Alberta to regulate trading in securities or exchange contracts or to administer or enforce laws respecting trading in securities or exchange contracts;
- (d) "extra-provincial securities laws" means the laws of another province or territory of Canada that, with respect to that province or territory, deals with the regulation of securities markets and the trading in securities and exchange contracts in that province or territory.
- (e) repealed 2006 c30 s54.

(2) A reference to an extra-provincial securities commission includes, unless otherwise provided,

- (a) its delegate, and
- (b) any person or company who in respect of that extraprovincial securities commission exercises a power or performs a duty or function that is substantially similar to a power, duty or function exercised or performed by the Executive Director under this Act.

2005 c18 s28;2006 c30 s54;2008 c26 s19

Delegation and acceptance of authority

211.2(1) Subject to any regulations made under section 211.6, the Commission may by order, for the purposes of this Part,

- (a) delegate any Alberta authority to an extra-provincial securities commission, and
- (b) accept a delegation or other transfer of any extraprovincial authority from an extra-provincial securities commission.

(2) The Commission shall not delegate any power, function or duty of the Commission or of the Executive Director that is, or is intended to be, performed or exercised by the Commission or the Executive Director under Part 1, this Part or section 224 or 224.1. 2005 c18 s28;2006 c30 s55

Subdelegation

211.3(1) Subject to any restrictions or conditions imposed by an extra-provincial securities commission with respect to a delegation of extra-provincial authority to the Commission, the Commission may subdelegate that extra-provincial authority in the manner and to the extent that the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, may give an authorization under section 17, 22 or 66 or otherwise delegate any Alberta authority under Alberta securities laws.

(2) Subject to any restrictions or conditions imposed by the Commission with respect to a delegation of Alberta authority to an extra-provincial securities commission, nothing in this Part is to be construed as prohibiting the extra-provincial securities commission from subdelegating that Alberta authority in the manner and to the extent that the extra-provincial securities commission may delegate its authority under the extra-provincial securities laws under which it operates.

2005 c18 s28;2008 c26 s19

Adoption or incorporation of extra-provincial securities laws

211.4(1) Subject to any regulations made under section 211.6, the Commission may by order adopt or incorporate by reference as Alberta securities laws all or any provisions of any extra-provincial securities laws of a jurisdiction to be applied to

 (a) a person or company or class of persons or companies whose primary jurisdiction is that extra-provincial jurisdiction, or (b) trades or other activities involving a person or company or a class of persons or companies referred to in clause (a).

(2) If the Commission adopts or incorporates by reference an extra-provincial securities law under subsection (1), it may adopt or incorporate it by reference as amended from time to time, whether before or after the adoption or incorporation by reference, and with the necessary changes.

2005 c18 s28;2006 c30 s56

Exemptions

211.41 Subject to any regulations made under section 211.6, the Commission may by order exempt a person, company, security, exchange contract or trade or a class of persons, companies, securities, exchange contracts or trades from all or any requirements of Alberta securities laws if the person, company, security, exchange contract or trade or class of persons, companies, securities, exchange contracts or trades, as the case may be, satisfies the conditions set out in the order.

2005 c18 s28;2006 c30 s57

211.42 Repealed 2006 c30 s57.

Exercise of discretion, interprovincial reliance

211.5(1) Subject to any regulations made under section 211.6, if the Commission or Executive Director is empowered to make a decision regarding a person, company, trade, security or exchange contract, the Commission or the Executive Director may make a decision on the basis that the Commission or the Executive Director, as the case may be, considers that an extra-provincial securities commission has made a substantially similar decision regarding the person, company, trade, security or exchange contract.

(2) Subject to any regulations made under section 211.6, notwithstanding any provision of this Act, the Commission or Executive Director may make a decision referred to in subsection (1) without giving the person affected by the decision an opportunity to be heard.

2005 c18 s28;2006 c30 s58

Regulations

211.6(1) The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations respecting

(a) the delegation of any Alberta authority to an extra-provincial securities commission;

Section 211.7		SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(b)	the acceptance by the Commission of any o other authority of an extra-provincial author extra-provincial securities commission;	
	(c)	any amendments to, or the revocation of, a or acceptance of a delegation referred to in (b);	
	(d)	the adoption or incorporation by reference provincial securities laws under section 21 the administration of those laws once adop incorporated by reference;	1.4, including
	(e)	the administration of exemptions from Alb laws under section 211.41;	erta securities
	(f)	the adoption of decisions of extra-provincia commissions under section 211.5, includin administration of those decisions once adop	g the
	(g)	the administration of extra-provincial securarising from or as a result of any matters do clauses (a) to (f).	rities laws escribed in
	regulation any of the	Commission may, subject to this section an ons referred to in section 223(ii), make rules ne matters in respect of which the Lieutenan may make regulations under subsection (1).	s in respect of t Governor in
		es made by the Commission under subsection dy the Minister.	on (2) must be
	(4) Not	withstanding that the Commission may mak	e rules,
	(a)	where the provisions of a regulation made subsection (1) and a rule made under subse conflict, the regulation prevails, and	
	(b)	the Lieutenant Governor in Council may an any rules made by the Commission under s	
	same for	Ile made by the Commission under subsection ree and effect as a regulation made by the Lip or in Council under subsection (1).	
		Regulations Act does not apply to a rule massion under subsection (2). 2005 c18 s28;2006 c	-
Immunity re Alberta authority 211.7(1) In this section,			

RSA 2000

161

Section 211.7		SECURITIES	ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(a)		es the Executive Director oyee, appointee or ager	or and any
	(b)	securities regulatory	authority" means	
		referred to in	vincial securities comm n subsection (2) and inc icer, employee, appoint nission;	ludes any
		(ii) any person r	eferred to in subsection	u (2)(b);
			e, quotation and trade r lf-regulatory organizati ion (2)(c).	
(2)	This	section applies only w	ith respect to an Albert	a authority
	(a)	that has been delegated extra-provincial securi	d by the Commission to ties commission,) an
	(b)	where that Alberta aut person by an extra-pro including a subdelegat exchange, a quotation self-regulatory organiz	nded to be, exercised by hority has been subdeled wincial securities common the of that person but not and trade reporting syster vation recognized or aut ecurities commission, o	egated to that nission, t including an tem or a thorized by
	(c)	exchange, a quotation self-regulatory organiz an extra-provincial sec business where that A	nded to be, exercised by and trade reporting sys zation recognized or aut curities commission to o lberta authority has bee he extra-provincial secu	tem or a thorized by carry on n
			ing for damages may be curities regulatory authors	
	(a)	for any act done in goo exercise, or the intende	od faith in the performa ed performance or exer	nce or cise,
		(i) of any Alberta au	thority, or	
		(ii) of a delegation, o any Alberta autho	r the acceptance of a de ority,	elegation, of

or

Section 211.8	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
(b)	for any neglect or default in the perform in good faith	mance or exercise
	(i) of any Alberta authority, or	
	(ii) of a delegation, or the acceptance any Alberta authority.	of a delegation, of 2005 c18 s28
-	re extra-provincial authority) In this section,	
(a)	"Commission" includes the Executive member, officer, employee, appointee Commission;	
(b)	"securities regulatory authority" means	5
	(i) any person referred to in subsection	on (2)(b);
	 (ii) any exchange, quotation and trade or self-regulatory organization ref subsection (2)(c). 	e reporting system Ferred to in
(2) Thi authorit	s section applies only with respect to an y	extra-provincial
(a)	that has been delegated by an extra-procommission to the Commission,	ovincial securities
(b)	that is being, or is intended to be, exerc where that extra-provincial authority h subdelegated to that person by the Con a subdelegate of that person but not inc recognized exchange, a recognized quo reporting system or a recognized self-r organization, or	as been nmission, including cluding a otation and trade
(c)	that is being, or is intended to be, exercised exchange, a recognized que reporting system or a recognized self-r organization where that extra-provincia been subdelegated to it by the Commissional self.	otation and trade egulatory al authority has
	action or other proceeding for damages the Commission or a securities regulator	
(a)	for any act done in good faith in the pe exercise, or the intended performance of	
	(i) of any extra-provincial authority,	ог
	163	

(ii) of a delegation, or the acceptance of a delegation, of any extra-provincial authority,

or

- (b) for any neglect or default in the performance or exercise in good faith
 - (i) of any extra-provincial authority, or
 - (ii) of a delegation, or acceptance of a delegation, of any extra-provincial authority.

2005 c18 s28

Appeal re extra-provincial decision

211.9(1) In this section, "extra-provincial decision" means a decision of an extra-provincial securities commission made under an Alberta authority delegated to that extra-provincial securities commission by the Commission.

(2) A person or company that is directly affected by an extra-provincial decision may appeal that extra-provincial decision to the Court of Appeal.

(3) An appeal under this section shall be commenced by a notice of appeal filed with the Court of Appeal within 30 days from the day that the extra-provincial securities commission serves the notice of its decision on the person or company appealing the decision.

(4) The practice and procedure in the Court of Appeal in respect of an appeal under this section shall, with any necessary modification that the Court of Appeal considers appropriate, be the same as on an appeal from a judgment of the Court of Queen's Bench in an action.

(5) The Court of Appeal may, with respect to an appeal under this section,

- (a) make any order or direction that it considers appropriate with respect to the commencement or conduct of or any matter relating to the appeal;
- (b) confirm, vary or reject the extra-provincial decision;
- (c) make any decision that the extra-provincial securities commission could have made and substitute the Court's decision for that of the extra-provincial securities commission.

(6) The extra-provincial securities commission is the respondent to an appeal under this section.

(7) A copy of the notice of appeal and supporting documents shall within the 30-day period referred to in subsection (3) be served on

- (a) the respondent, and
- (b) the Secretary to the Commission.

(8) Notwithstanding that the Commission is not a respondent to an appeal under this section, the Commission is entitled to be represented at the appeal and to make representations in respect of any matter before the Court that is related to the appeal.

(9) Notwithstanding that an appeal is commenced under this section, the extra-provincial decision being appealed takes effect immediately unless the extra-provincial securities commission, the Commission or the Court of Appeal grants a stay pending disposition of the appeal.

(10) In this section, a reference to an extra-provincial securities commission is a reference to the extra-provincial securities commission that made the extra-provincial decision that is being appealed under this section.

2005 c18 s28

Appeal re decision of the Commission

211.91(1) In this section, "delegated authority" means any extra-provincial authority that is delegated to and accepted by the Commission under section 211.2.

- (2) A person or company that is directly affected by
 - (a) a decision of the Commission made pursuant to a delegated authority, or
 - (b) a decision of an extra-provincial securities commission that is adopted by the Commission under section 211.5,

may appeal that decision to the Court of Appeal.

(3) Section 38(2) to (7) apply to an appeal made under this section.

(4) A person or company that has a right to appeal a decision under this section may, subject to any direction of the Court of Appeal, exercise that right of appeal whether or not that person or company may have a right to appeal that decision to a court in another jurisdiction. (5) Notwithstanding subsection (4), if a decision referred to in subsection (2) is being appealed to a court in another jurisdiction, the Court of Appeal may stay an appeal under this section pending the determination of the appeal in the other jurisdiction.

2005 c18 s28

Part 18 General Provisions

212 Repealed 2003 c32 s33.

General exemption

213 The Commission may by order exempt

- (a) any person, company, trade or distribution, or
- (b) any class or classes of persons, companies, trades or distributions

from all or any provision of Alberta securities laws. RSA 2000 cS-4 s213;2008 c26 s19

Revoke or vary decisions

214(1) The Commission may, if the Commission considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so, make an order revoking or varying any decisions made by the Commission under this Act or the regulations or any former *Securities Act* or regulations.

(1.1) The Executive Director may, if the Executive Director considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so, make an order revoking or varying any decisions made by the Executive Director under this Act or the regulations or any former *Securities Act* or regulations.

(2) With respect to a decision made by the Chair under this Act or the regulations or any former *Securities Act* or regulations, the Chair may,

- (a) if the Chair has acted alone in making the decision, and
- (b) if the Chair considers that it would not be prejudicial to the public interest to do so,

make an order revoking or varying that decision. RSA 2000 cS-4 s214;2009 c14 s4

Self-incrimination

215(1) A person questioned under this Act under oath, affirmation or by solemn declaration may be questioned on all matters relevant to the matter for which the person is being questioned and shall not be excused from answering any question on the ground that the answer might

- (a) tend to incriminate that person,
- (b) subject that person to punishment under this Act, or
- (c) tend to establish that person's liability
 - (i) to a civil proceeding at the instance of the Crown or of any other person, or
 - (ii) to prosecution under any Act or regulations under any Act.

(2) Where a person gives testimony pursuant to questioning referred to in subsection (1), that testimony shall not be admitted in evidence against that person in a prosecution of an offence under section 194 or any other prosecution of an offence under an enactment of Alberta.

(3) With respect to testimony given pursuant to questioning referred to in subsection (1), subsection (2) is not to be construed so as to prohibit or restrict the use of that testimony against any person in a prosecution for perjury or the giving of contradictory evidence.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s215;2003 c32 s34;2009 c53 s169

Requirement to disclose personal information

216 The Commission or the Executive Director may by order require that the directors, officers and control persons of an issuer or a class of issuers or any one or more of those persons, within the time the Commission or the Executive Director specifies, file a personal information form prepared and executed in accordance with the regulations.

2000 c17 s31

Sending of documents

217(1) Unless otherwise provided by Alberta securities laws, any document required to be sent, communicated, delivered or served under Alberta securities laws may be

(a) personally delivered to the person or company that is to receive it,

SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
sent by prepaid post to the person or compar receive it, or	y that is to
sent by electronic means to the person or con to receive it.	npany that is
ocument sent to a person or company referred ion (1)(b) or (c) shall be sent to that person or	
at the latest address known for that person of the sender of the document, or	company by
at the address for service in Alberta filed by company with the Executive Director.	that person or
ocument referred to in subsection (1) that is session or the Executive Director by prepaid pose he contrary is proved, to be served on the person ompany to which it is sent on the 7th day from ument is sent to that person or company.	st is deemed, son to whom
document referred to in subsection (1) is sent y by prepaid post and is returned on 2 success the person or company cannot be found, then requirement to send any further documents to y until the person or company provides to the tion in writing of the person's or company's n RSA 2000 cS-4 s217;2006 c30 s60.	there is no that person or sender ew address.
	sent by prepaid post to the person or compar- receive it, or sent by electronic means to the person or con- to receive it. ocument sent to a person or company referred on (1)(b) or (c) shall be sent to that person or at the latest address known for that person or the sender of the document, or at the address for service in Alberta filed by company with the Executive Director. ocument referred to in subsection (1) that is se ssion or the Executive Director by prepaid pos- he contrary is proved, to be served on the person ompany to which it is sent on the 7th day from ument is sent to that person or company. document referred to in subsection (1) is sent y by prepaid post and is returned on 2 success the person or company cannot be found, then requirement to send any further documents to y until the person or company provides to the

RSA 2000

Admissibility of certified statements

218 A statement

Section 218

- (a) as to the registration or non-registration of any person or company,
- (b) as to the filing or non-filing of any document or material required or permitted to be filed, or
- (c) setting out
 - (i) the substance of any decision of the Commission or of the Executive Director, or
 - (ii) information from any books, records, documents or files of the Commission in the form of an extract or description,

purporting to be certified by the Commission, a member of the Commission, the Executive Director or the Secretary is, without proof of the office or signature of the person certifying the statement, admissible in evidence in any action, proceeding or prosecution.

SECURITIES ACT

1981 cS-6.1 s189;1988 c7 s1(35);1995 c28 s57

Applications to a court

219(1) Unless otherwise provided for under this Act, an application made under this Act to a court may be heard not less than 3 days from the day that a copy of the application and its supporting documents are served by the person bringing the application on the other parties to the application.

(2) A copy of an application referred to in subsection (1) and its supporting documents shall be served in a manner prescribed by the *Alberta Rules of Court*.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s219;2009 c53 s169

Service on Commission

220 Service of any document on the Commission may be effected by serving the document on the Secretary.

1981 cS-6.1 s191;1988 c7 s1(36);1995 c28 s58

Filing and confidentiality

221(1) Where Alberta securities laws require that material be filed

- (a) with the Commission, the filing shall be effected by depositing the material or causing it to be deposited with the Secretary, or
- (b) with the Executive Director, the filing shall be effected by depositing the material or causing it to be deposited with the Executive Director.
- (2) Where Alberta securities laws
 - (a) require that material be filed, and
 - (b) do not specify as to where or with whom the material is to be filed,

the filing shall be effected by depositing the material or causing it to be deposited with the Executive Director unless the Commission by order directs otherwise.

(3) Subject to subsections (4) and (5), all material filed under subsection (1) or (2) shall be made available for public inspection at the Commission offices during the normal business hours of the Commission.

(4) With respect to material deposited

Section 221.1		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(a)	with the Secretary, the Commission may in confidence if the Commission conside not be prejudicial to the public interest to	rs that it would
	(b)	with the Executive Director, the Executive hold the material in confidence if the Exe considers that it would not be prejudicial interest to do so.	ecutive Director
	(5) The	Commission may,	
	(a)	on the application of an interested person the Executive Director, and	or company or
	(b)	on giving the interested person or compa Executive Director the opportunity to have	
	deposite confider	order directing that any material or class d with the Secretary or the Executive Direction in the Commission considers that it wo ial to the public interest to grant the order	ector be held in ould not be
	confider	ere the Executive Director decides to hold ace or not to hold material in confidence, a r company may appeal the decision to the	an interested
		order of the Commission made pursuant to s final and there is no appeal from that or RSA 2000 cs	
М	221.1(1 Director	I information) In this section, "Commission" includes and any member, officer, employee, appo mission.	
	written, provided time and misleadi	berson or company shall make a statement in any document, material, information or I to the Commission, that, in a material res I in light of the circumstances under which ng or untrue or does not state a fact that is that is necessary to make the statement n	evidence spect and at the n it is made, is s required to be
In	nmunities		
	222(1) instituted the Exec	No action or other proceeding for damage d against the Commission, a member of the putive Director, the Secretary, a person em- sion or a person appointed under this Act	ne Commission, aployed by the

to perform a function or duty of or for the Commission, the Executive Director or the Secretary

- (a) for any act done in good faith
 - (i) in the performance or intended performance of any function or duty, or
 - (ii) in the exercise or intended exercise of any power,
 - or
- (b) for any neglect, omission or default in the performance or exercise in good faith of any function, duty or power.

(2) No person or company has any rights or remedies and no proceedings lie or shall be brought against any person or company for any act or omission of the last-mentioned person or company done or omitted in compliance with Alberta securities laws.

(3) Subsection (1) of this section does not, by reason of section 5(2) and (3) of the *Proceedings Against the Crown Act*, relieve the Crown of liability in respect of a tort committed by the Commission or any person referred to in subsection (1) of this section to which the Crown would otherwise be subject and the Crown is liable under that Act for the tort in a like manner as if subsection (1) of this section had not been enacted. RSA 2000 cS-4 s222;2008 c26 s19

Lieutenant Governor in Council regulations

223 The Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations

- (a) governing trades and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
 - (i) respecting the listing and trading of securities;
 - (ii) respecting the trading in exchange contracts;
 - (iii) respecting advertising relating to trading in securities and exchange contracts;
 - (iv) establishing the principles for determining the market value, the market price or the closing price of a security and authorizing the Commission to make that determination;
 - (v) prescribing which distributions and trading in relation to the distributions are distributions and trading outside Alberta;

Section 223	SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4	
(b)	requiring any information, d materials to be filed, furnish		
(c)	requiring the inclusion or pe information, documents, rec may be required to be filed,		
(d)	prescribing terms and conditions of an escrow or poolin agreement;		
(e)	prescribing categories of iss prospectus requirements and categories;		
(e.1)	designating issuers or a classissuer;	s of issuers as a reporting	
(f)	repealed 2006 c30 s61;		
(g)	governing derivatives and, w of the foregoing, providing or requirements in respect of d		
(h)		sary or advisable to facilitate e with Alberta securities laws	
(i)	prescribing requirements in and investment contracts;	respect of reverse take-overs	
(j)	governing registration and, v of the foregoing,	without limiting the generalit	
	(i) prescribing requirement for registration and the expiration or surrender		
	(ii) prescribing the duration	n of registration;	
	iii) respecting the suspensi reinstatement of registr		
(i	i.1) respecting the voluntar	y surrender of registration;	
	(iv) prescribing categories or registrants;	or sub-categories of	
	(v) classifying registrants i sub-categories;	nto categories or	

RSA 2000

Section 223	SECURITIES ACT Chapter S-4				
(vi)	prescribing the conditions of regis requirements for registrants or any sub-category of registrants, includ	category or			
	(A) standards of practice and bus registrants in dealing with the clients and prospective custor	eir customers and			
	(B) requirements governing owned the registrants;	ership or control of			
	(C) requirements in respect of me self-regulatory organization;	embership in a			
(vii)	governing the circumstances in wh company is required to disclose or information to the public or the Co	furnish			
(viii)	providing for exemptions from or requirements under this Act in resp disclosure or furnishing of informa- to the public or the Commission;	pect of the			
(ix)	prescribing requirements in respective records and other documents requiregistrants;				
(x)	respecting conflicts of interest;				
(xi)	respecting bonds and bonding;				
(xii)	respecting compensation funds or funds;	contingency trust			
(xiii)	prescribing securities or exchange classes of securities or exchange c category or sub-category of registr	contracts in which a			
(xiv)	prescribing securities or exchange classes of securities or exchange c category or sub-category of registr	contracts in which a			
(xv)	circumstances in which				
	 (A) a person or company or a class companies is not required to section 75, or 				
	 (B) a person or company or a class companies is deemed to be re- purposes of this Act or the re- 	egistered for the			
	purposes of this Act or the re-	guiations,			

RSA 2000

Section 223		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
		including the circumstance in we company or a class of persons or registered under the laws of ano respecting trading in securities of contracts;	r companies is ther jurisdiction
	(xvi) prescribing functions or duties for sections 75(2)(c) and 75.1;	or the purposes of
	(j.1)	prescribing the conditions and circum a company may undertake the duties, activities that a person who is a regis shareholder of the company is author virtue of being a registrant, including a scheme for the registration of the co- category of that registration;	, responsibilities and trant and a rized to undertake by the establishment of
	(j.2)	imposing liability on a registrant who adviser for the acts or omissions pres (j.6) of a company that is a registrant established pursuant to the authority the dealer or adviser has a prescribed relationship with the company;	pursuant to a scheme in clause (j.1) where
	(j.3)	imposing liability on a person who is shareholder of a company for acts or company where the company that per fails to perform the acts is a registran scheme established pursuant to the au (j.1);	omissions of the rforms the acts or at pursuant to a
	(j.4)	prescribing the terms and conditions who is in a contractual relationship w deemed to be an employee of the dea Alberta securities laws and deemed to registration as a representative of the	with a dealer is ler for the purpose of o be qualified for
	(j.5)	imposing liability on a registrant who acts and omissions prescribed under of person deemed to be an employee of regulation made pursuant to clause (j	clause (j.7) of a the dealer under a
	(j.6)	prescribing the acts or omissions of a a registrant who is a dealer or advise	
	(j.7)	prescribing the acts or omissions of a an employee of a dealer for which a dealer is liable;	

prospectuses, short form prospectuses, pro forma short form prospectuses, exchange offering prospectuses, simplified prospectuses, risk disclosure statements, offering memoranda or any other disclosure documents and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, governing procedures and requirements with respect to and providing for exemptions from

- (i) the use, form and content of those documents;
- (ii) the preparation, filing, delivery or dissemination of those documents;
- (iii) the issuance of receipts for preliminary prospectuses and prospectuses, including the issuance of receipts after an expedited or selective review, and respecting when receipts are not required or will not be issued, and the circumstances under which a receipt may be refused;
- (iv) the incorporation of other documents by reference;
- (v) the distribution of securities by means of a prospectus incorporating other documents by reference;
- (vi) the distribution of securities by means of a simplified or summary prospectus or other means of disclosure document;
- (vii) the distribution of securities on a continuous or delayed basis;
- (viii) the pricing of a distribution of securities after the issuance of a receipt for the prospectus filed in relation to the distribution;
- (ix) the issuance of receipts for prospectuses after selective review;
- (x) the incorporation by reference of certain documents in a prospectus and the effect, including from a liability and evidentiary perspective, of modifying or superseding statements;
- (xi) the form of certificates relating to a preliminary prospectus, prospectus and amendments to a prospectus and the persons required to sign the certificates;

Section 223		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
(2	recei	bility, and the loss of eligi pt for, or to distribute, sec cular form of prospectus;	
(x		ariance of rights to withdud by an agreement to pure	
(x	of tir conti and t	apse date for a prospectus, ne to the lapse date, the te inuing to distribute securit he circumstances under w cancel a trade that occurs	rms and conditions for ies after the lapse date, hich the purchaser
(2	xv) circu	imstances in which	
		section 110 does not apply company or a class of per	
		a receipt is deemed to hav purposes of this Act,	e been issued for the
	been prosj	ding the circumstance in v issued for a preliminary p pectus under the laws of a pecting trading in securities racts;	prospectus or nother jurisdiction
(x	preli	irements in respect of ame minary prospectus or pros mstances under which an minary prospectus or pros	pectus and prescribing amendment to a
(xv	prosp prelin for a	irements for dealers for de pectus between the issuand minary prospectus and the prospectus, including any irements;	ce of a receipt for a e issuance of a receipt
(xv	modi	equirements of Parts 7, 8 a ification or variation of rea	
(x		ssuance of receipts for any ments;	v other disclosure
	that purch	g circumstances in which ases a security under a dis ase, including	
		cribing the period in which el the purchase;	ı a purchaser may

Section 223		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(ii)	prescribing the principles for dete of the refund if the purchaser can	
	(iii)	specifying the person responsible administering the payment of the respecting the period in which the paid;	refund and
	(iv)	prescribing different circumstanc principles or persons or companie classes of securities, issuers or pu	es for different
(ignating an offering memorandum, ering memoranda, not to be an offe	
(n	des	ignating a document or any class o cribes the business and affairs of a ering memorandum;	
(1	wow	scribing, with respect to a trade or a uld not otherwise be a distribution, ler which that trade or type of trade ribution;	the conditions
(0	reg	viding for and governing exemptio istration or prospectus requirement iting the generality of the foregoing	s and, without
	(i)	prescribing trades, distributions, s exchange contracts in respect of not required;	
	(ii)	prescribing trades, distributions a respect of which the filing of a pr required;	
	(iii)	respecting the modification or va exemptions;	riation of those
	(iv)	respecting the restriction or remo exemptions;	val of those
	(v)	designating a person or company of persons or companies as an ac	
()	fun dist	rerning mutual funds, non-redeema ds and private investment funds an tribution and trading of the securitie hout limiting the generality of the f	d the advertising, es of the funds and,
	(i)	designating issuers or a class or c mutual funds;	lasses of issuers as

Section 223	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
(i.1	designating issuers or a class o non-redeemable investment fur	
(i.2	designating funds or a class or private investment funds;	classes of funds as
(ii	respecting sales charges impos company or contractual plan se a contractual plan on purchases a fund;	ervice company under
(iii	prescribing a penalty for the ea shares or units of a fund;	rly redemption of
(iv	prescribing the form and conte filed by the management comp a fund;	
(v	respecting	
	(A) the custodianship of asset	s of any fund;
	(B) the minimum initial capita fund making a distribution restricting the reimbursen with the organization of a	n and prohibiting or nent of costs associated
	 (C) any matters affecting any approval of security holde Commission or the Execu 	ers of the fund, the
	(D) the contents and use of sa communications and adve fund or securities of any f	ertising relating to any
(vi	permitting or restricting investi practices in connection with an	
(vii	prescribing requirements in rest to, promoters, advisers or perso administer or participate in the affairs of mutual funds or non- investment funds;	ons and companies that administration of the
(viii	requiring investment funds to e a body for the purposes describ prescribing its powers and duti requirements relating to	bed in section 193.1,
	(A) the mandate and function	ng of the body,

Section 223				SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
		(.	B)	the composition of the body for membership on the body respecting the independence process for selecting the men	, including matters of members and the
		(C)	the standard of care that app the body when exercising the performing their duties and or responsibilities,	eir powers,
		(]	D)	the disclosure of information of the investment fund, to th manager and to the Commiss	e investment fund
		(E)	matters affecting the investme require review by the body of body;	
	(q)			ng scholarship plans and the di of the securities of scholarship	
(q.1)	gover trades		ng the preparation and the filin	g of reports of
	(r)	and th	ne i	ng disclosure obligations unde regulations and, without limiti going,	
		(or c	uiring any person or company companies to comply with Par ulations;	
		f	òri er	scribing disclosure requirement m, content, preparation, review tification, filing, delivery and to cuments;	v, audit, approval,
((r.1)			ng any matter necessary or adv of reporting issuers;	visable to regulate
	(s)			pect to disclosures to be made, se provided for, under Parts 10	
		i i	liso ncl Alt	scribing procedures for the int closures required in relation to luding modifying or varying th perta securities laws as may be pose of permitting integrated of	those Parts, ne application of necessary for the
				scribing disclosure requirement m, content, preparation, review	

Section 223		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
		certification, filing, delivery and use documents;	e of disclosure
(s.1	app info	becting the preparation, form and con licable to the public dissemination of rmation by reporting issuers where the ot part of a required filing;	f forward-looking
(1		erning insider trading, early warning , without limiting the generality of th	
	(i)	requiring any issuer, class of issuer company to comply with any of the Part 15 or the regulations;	
	(ii)	prescribing how a security or class related financial instrument or class financial instruments must be repor report filed under section 182;	s of related
	(iii)	prescribing disclosure, delivery, dis filing requirements, including the u forms or particular types of docume	se of particular
	(iv)	respecting self-dealing and conflicts	s of interest;
	(v)	prescribing exemptions from the real 15 or the regulations;	quirements of Part
	(vi)	designating a person or company as	an insider;
(ι		alating take-over bids, take-overs and nout limiting the generality of the for	
	(i)	prescribing requirements for differe or take-overs;	ent classes of bids
	(ii)	prescribing requirements relating to management of the affairs of the iss subject of a take-over bid, and its di officers, during or in anticipation of bid;	suer that is the irectors and
	(iii)	prohibiting a person from purchasir security before, during or after the e a take-over bid;	
	(iv)	prescribing the disclosure, certificat	tion, delivery or

 prescribing the disclosure, certification, delivery or dissemination of any circular, notice, report or other document required to be filed or delivered to a person or company;

Section 223		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	(v)	prescribing percentages and requi early warning;	rements respecting
	(vi)	prescribing exemptions from the r 14 or the regulations;	requirements of Part
	exec filin docu gove	erning the format, preparation, forr cution, certification, dissemination g, review and public inspection of uments, records or other materials erned by this Act and the regulation ting the generality of the foregoing	and other use, all information, required under or ns and, without
	(i)	respecting applications for registr purposes;	ation and other
	(ii)	respecting preliminary prospectus prospectuses;	ses and
	(iii)	respecting interim financial report statements;	ts and financial
	(iv)	respecting proxies and informatio	n circulars;
	(v)	respecting take-over bid circulars, circulars, directors' circulars and memorandums;	
	(vi)	establishing procedures and requi of the use of any electronic or cor system for the filing, delivery or con information, documents, records of	nputer-based feposit of
	(vii)	varying or modifying the applicat facilitate the use of an electronic of system for the filing, delivery or of information, documents, records of	or computer-based leposit of
	(viii)	prescribing the circumstances in v companies will be deemed to have information, documents, records of electronic or computer-based syste purposes of this Act;	e signed or certified or materials on an
		erning the solicitation of proxies ar generality of the foregoing,	nd, without limiting
	(i)	prescribing requirements for the s voting of proxies;	olicitation and
	(ii)	prescribing requirements relating	to communication

Section 223	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
	and relating to other persons or c depositories and registrants, that behalf of beneficial owners;	
(w)	governing exchanges, self-regulatory clearing agencies and quotation and tr systems and, without limiting the gene foregoing,	ade reporting
	 (i) respecting the recognition of excl self-regulatory organizations, cla quotation and trade reporting sys 	earing agencies and
	 (ii) prescribing requirements in respe- approval by the Commission of a regulation, policy, procedure, interpractice of recognized exchanges self-regulatory organizations, rec- agencies and recognized quotation reporting systems; 	any bylaw, rule, erpretation or s, recognized cognized clearing
	 providing for the collection and r recognized exchanges, recognize organizations, recognized clearin recognized quotation and trade re fees payable to the Commission; 	d self-regulatory ag agencies and eporting systems of
	 (iv) prescribing requirements in respective records to be maintained by reconsistent of recognized self-regulatory organic clearing agencies and recognized reporting systems; 	gnized exchanges, izations, recognized
(x)	governing the requirements, practice a investigations, hearings, reviews and a limiting the generality of the foregoin	appeals and, without
	(i) costs in respect of matters heard Commission or the Executive Dir	
	(ii) costs in respect of investigations;	
	costs in respect of services provide appointed or engaged and the app witnesses;	
(y)	governing undertakings and agreemen Commission or the Executive Directo company;	

Section 223	SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
000001220	SECONTIES ACT	Chapter 3-4
()	 providing for and governing the payment person or company pursuant to an underta agreement with the Commission or the Ex Director; 	aking or
(a	a) governing the administration and disposit received pursuant to an undertaking or an	
(bl	 determining what constitutes a false or mappearance of trading activity in a securit contract or an artificial price for a security contract; 	y or an exchange
(c	c) respecting any matter necessary or advisa effectively the intent and purpose of secti and, without limiting the generality of the	ons 147 and 207
	(i) providing for exemptions;	
	 (ii) prescribing standards or criteria for or when a material fact or material chan generally disclosed; 	
(de	 prescribing the form of endorsement for t extra-provincial warrants; 	he purposes of
(dd.	Prescribing circumstances in which a person or a class of persons or companies is prohotrading or purchasing securities or exchange a particular security or exchange contract circumstances in which a body empowere another jurisdiction to regulate trading in exchange contracts or to administer or enor exchange contract laws in that jurisdict that	ibited from age contracts, or , including the ed by the laws of securities or force securities
	 (i) a person is prohibited from trading o securities or exchange contracts, or a security or exchange contract, or 	
	 (ii) trades or purchases of a particular se exchange contract cease; 	curity or
(e	e) providing for and governing fees payable Commission and the provision of any ser- performed in respect of those fees;	to the vice or function
(f	f) defining for the purposes of this Act term that are not defined in this Act;	s used in this Act

Section 223		SECURITIES ACT	RSA 2000 Chapter S-4
(gg)	pres regi	re this Act provides for a period o cribed, established or otherwise p lation, prescribing, establishing o viding for that period of time;	rovided for by
(hh)	repe	ealed 2006 c30 s61;	
(hh.1)	gov	erning minimum requirements res ernance including, without limitin foregoing,	
	(i)	requiring directors and officers, of companies performing similar fur reporting issuers, to act honestly with a view to the best interests of issuer;	nctions in relation to and in good faith
	(ii)	requiring directors and officers, of companies performing similar fur reporting issuers, to exercise the that a reasonably prudent person comparable circumstances;	nctions in relation to skill and judgment
	(iii)	respecting the composition of the reporting issuer and any committed the qualifications and requirement directors, officers and committee persons or companies performing including any matters respecting required courses and expertise;	tees of the board and the concerning members, and g similar functions,
	(iv)	requiring reporting issuers to app committees and other committees prescribing minimum standards f committees;	s of the board and
	(v)	requiring reporting issuers and of companies performing similar fur reporting issuers, to devise and n internal controls and disclosure of respecting minimum standards for of those internal controls and disc	nctions in relation to naintain a system of ontrols and or and certification
	(vi)	requiring reporting issuers to add conduct and ethics and corporate guidelines for directors, officers, persons or companies performing or that are in a special relationshi issuer;	governance employees and g similar functions

Section 223			SECURITIES ACT	Chapter S-4
	(vii)		respecting procedures to regulate confli- between the interests of a reporting issu of a director or officer or a person or co- performing similar functions on behalf issuer;	er and those
	(*	viii)	respecting the independence of auditors management and controlling security he	
	(hh.2)	ove obta	airing evaluations of reporting issuers' in r financial reporting and requiring report ain audits of their internal control over fin orting, including their management's eva	ing issuers to nancial
	(hh.3)	secu	mpting a class of persons, companies, tra irities from one or more of the provision irities laws;	
	(hh.4)		cribing circumstances and conditions for n exemption under clause (hh.3), includi	
		(i)	conditions relating to the laws of anothe of Canada or relating to an exemption f laws granted by a body empowered by that jurisdiction to regulate trading in se exchange contracts or to administer or or respecting trading in securities or excha- in that jurisdiction, or	rom those the laws of ecurities or enforce laws
		(ii)	conditions that refer to a person or com class of persons or companies designate Commission;	
	(hh.5)		cribing documents for the purpose of the document" in section 211.01(b);	e definition of
	(hh.6)	acqu dist acqu	viding for the application of Part 17.01 to uisition of an issuer's security pursuant to ribution that is exempt from section 110 uisition of an issuer's security in connect suant to a take-over bid or issuer bid;	o a and to the
	(hh.7)		ceribing transactions or classes of transactions of section 211.02(d);	tions for the
	(ii)	Čor	erning the procedure to be followed by the number of the procedure to making or repeater section 211.6(2) or 224;	

RSA 2000

(jj) governing any other matter related to the carrying out of this Act or the conduct of the business and affairs of the Commission.

> RSA 2000 cS-4 s223;2003 c32 s35;2004 cI-1.5 s5; 2005 c18 s29;2006 c30 s61;2007 c10 s23; 2008 c26 ss17,19;2009 c14 s5;2010 c10 s21

Commission rules

224(1) The Commission may, subject to this section and the regulations referred to in section 223(ii), make rules in respect of any of the matters in respect of which the Lieutenant Governor in Council may make regulations under section 223.

(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), the Commission shall not do the following:

- (a) make rules in respect of matters referred to in section 223(ee);
- (b) make rules in respect of matters referred to in section 223(hh.1)
 - (i) except with the approval of the Minister, or
 - (ii) unless no change is being made to the minimum requirements under existing rules made in respect of section 223(hh.1);
- (c) make rules in respect of matters referred to in section 223(ii).
- (3) Notwithstanding that the Commission may make rules,
 - (a) where the provisions of a regulation made under section 223 and a rule made under this section conflict, the regulation prevails, and
 - (b) the Lieutenant Governor in Council may amend or repeal any rule made by the Commission under this section.

(4) A rule made by the Commission under this section has the same force and effect as a regulation made by the Lieutenant Governor in Council under section 223.

(5) The *Regulations Act* does not apply to a rule made by the Commission under subsection (1). RSA 2000 cS-4 s224;2003 c32 s36;2011 c7 s14

Changes to unpublished rules

224.1(1) In this section, "unpublished rule" means a rule made by the Commission under section 211.6(2) or 224 but not yet published in The Alberta Gazette under section 211.6(2) or 225.

(2) The Commission may make rules setting out criteria or guidelines as to what constitutes non-substantive or non-controversial changes to unpublished rules.

(3) The Chair may designate 2 or more members of the Commission to sit as a panel of the Commission for the purposes of considering and, subject to subsection (5), making changes to unpublished rules.

(4) Subject to this section, section 23(2) to (7) apply to a panel established under subsection (3).

(5) A panel established under this section may make non-substantive and non-controversial changes to unpublished rules.

(6) Where a change is made to an unpublished rule under this section, that rule as changed is deemed to have been made by the Commission under section 211.6(2) or 224.

2003 c32 s37;2005 c18 s30

Publication of rules

225(1) Where a rule is made under section 211.6(2) or 224, the Commission shall publish the rule in The Alberta Gazette.

(2) A rule that is not published in accordance with subsection (1) is not valid against a person or company that has not had actual notice of the rule.

- (3) On publication of a rule in The Alberta Gazette,
 - (a) every person or company is deemed to have notice of the rule, and
 - (b) the rule is deemed to be valid notwithstanding any irregularity or any defect in the rule-making process. RSA 2000 cS-4 s225;2005 c18 s31

Evidence re rule

226 For the purposes of the *Alberta Evidence Act*, a rule made under section 211.6(2) or 224 shall be treated in the same manner as if it were a regulation.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s226;2005 c18 s32

Application of regulations and rules

227 A regulation or a rule may be of general or specific application.

1995 c28 s61

Incorporation by reference

228(1) A regulation or rule may adopt or incorporate by reference, in whole or in part, any regulatory instrument, code, bylaw, standard, procedure or guideline.

(2) If a regulation or rule adopts or incorporates by reference, in whole or in part, a regulatory instrument, code, bylaw, standard, procedure or guideline, it may adopt it or incorporate it by reference as amended from time to time, whether before or after the adoption or incorporation by reference, and with the necessary changes.

RSA 2000 cS-4 s228;2007 c10 s24

Exemption from a regulation or rule

229 A regulation or rule may authorize the Commission or the Executive Director to grant an exemption to the regulation or rule

- (a) in whole or in part, and
- (b) subject to terms, conditions, restrictions or requirements. RSA 2000 cS-4 s229;2008 c26 s18
- **230** Repealed 2007 c10 s25.

Transitional provision

- **231** A trade or distribution made
 - (a) before February 1, 1982, and
 - (b) pursuant to an exemption under the former *Securities Act*, RSA 1980 cS-6,

shall remain exempted from the provisions of this Act in the same manner as if the exemption were contained in this Act.

1981 cS-6.1 s197